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Securities and Exchange Commission  *~'9* " b CITIC PACIFIC

Division of Corporate Finance
Office of International Corporate Finance
Room 3045 (stop 3-4)

Judiciary Plaza _ .
450 Fifth Street, N.W. SU P PL,

e

08005072

Dear Sirs,
Re: CITIC Pacific Limited (“the Company”)

For the purpose of continuing to claim exemption pursuant to Rule 12g 3-2(b) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, we hereby furnish to the Commission the information
required by Rule 12g 3-2(b).

Set out in the annexure is a list of information, copies of which are enclosed herewith, that
the Company since August 22, 2008 (i) made or was required to make public pursuant to
the laws of Hong Kong; (ii) filed or was required to file with the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “HKSE”) on which the securities of the Company are traded and which
was made public by the HKSE; and (iii) distributed or was required to distribute to the
holders of the securities of the Company.

Also set forth therein in connection with each item is (i) the date on which the particular
item was or is required to be made public, filed with the HKSE, or distributed and (11} the
entity requiring that item be made public, filed with the HKSE or distributed.

Please feel free to contact the undersigned should you have any question concerning the
above.

Thank you for your attention.

Yours faithfully,
For and on behalf of

CITIC PACIFIC LIMITED PROCESSED
SEP 2 62008

L
: THOMSON REUTERS

Alice Tso
Assistant Director -

Company Secretariat /
Encl. ( 5
AT/ww/LTR-2983 q

CITIC Pacific Ltd 32/F CITIC Tower, 1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong
Tel: 2820 2111  Fax: 2877 2771  www.citicpacific.com




Annexure

CITIC Pacific Limited

List of Information that the Company since August 22, 2008 (i) made or was required to

make public pursuant to the laws of Hong Kong: (ii) filed or was required to file with the

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKSE”) on which the securities of the

Company are traded and which was made public by the HKSE: and (iii) distributed or was

required to distribute to the holders of the securities of the Company

1. Document : Announcement of unaudited financial results of Daye Special Steel Co.,
Ltd. (“Daye™) (a subsidiary of CITIC Pacific Limited incorporated in the People’s
Republic of China) for the six months ended 30 June 2008
Date : August 25, 2008
Entity Requiring Item : HKSE (pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the HKSE (“HKSE Listing Rules™))

2. Document : 2008 Interim Report of Daye (only available in Chinese)
Date : August 25, 2008
Entity Requiring Item : HKSE (pursuant to HKSE Listing Rules)

3. Document : 2008 Summary Interim Report of Daye (only available in Chinese)
Date : August 25, 2008
Entity Requiring Item : HKSE (pursuant to HKSE Listing Rules)

4, Document : Unaudited Financial Statements of Daye for the Six Months Ended 2008
(only available in Chinese)
Date : August 25, 2008
Entity Requiring Item : HKSE (pursuant to HKSE Listing Rules)

5. Document : Announcement of resolutions passed at the fourth meeting of the Fifth
Session of the Board of Directors of Daye (only available in Chinese)
Date : August 25, 2008
Entity Requiring Item : HKSE (pursuant to HKSE Listing Rules)




10.

11.

12.

13.

Session of Supervisory Committee of Daye (only available in Chinese)
Date : August 25, 2008
Entity Requiring Item : HKSE (pursuant to HKSE Listing Rules)

Document : Announcement regarding the revised forecast of daily related party
transactions of Daye for the year 2008 (only available in Chinese)

Date : August 25, 2008

Entity Requiring Item : HKSE (pursuant to HKSE Listing Rules})

Document : Announcement on Post-Completion Continuing Connected Transaction —
Agency Agreement

Date : August 26, 2008

Entity Requiring Item : HKSE (pursuant to HKSE Listing Rules)

Document : Joint Announcement with Dah Chong Hong Holdings Limited on
Discloseable and Connected Transaction — Acquisition of a 49% interest in FAW
Toyota 4S Company and a 50% interest in Lexus 4S Company and the related
Shareholders’ Loans

Date : August 26, 2008

Entity Requiring Item : HKSE (pursuant to HKSE Listing Rules)

Document : Announcement on Connected Transaction — Capital Increase in Tongling
Xin Yazing

Date : August 27, 2008

Entity Requiring Item : HKSE (pursuant to HKSE Listing Rules)

Document : Announcement of Interim Results for the Six Months Ended 30 June 2008
Date : August 28, 2008
Entity Requiring Item : HKSE (pursuant to HKSE Listing Rules)

Document : Announcement on Closure of Register of Members
Date : August 28, 2008
Entity Requiring Item : HKSE (pursuant to HKSE Listing Rules)

Document : Monthly Return on Movement of Listed Equity Securities
Date : September 2, 2008
Entity Requiring Item : HKSE (pursuant to HKSE Listing Rules)

-9.




15.

16.

17.

18.

I9.

S o S I 4

Date : September 5, 2008
Entity Requiring Item : HKSE (pursuant to HKSE Listing Rules)

Document : Interim Report 2008
Date : September 12, 2008 (distribution date)
Entity Requiring Item : HKSE (pursuant to HKSE Listing Rules)

Document : Letter to Shareholders on Change of Election of Language and Means of
Receipt of Corporate Communication and the request slip

Date : September 12, 2008

Entity Requiring Item : HKSE (pursuant to HKSE Listing Rules)

Document : Circular in connection with Discloseable and Connected Transaction —
Acquisition of a 49% interest in FAW Toyota 4S Company and a 50% interest in
Lexus 48 Company and the related Shareholders’ Loans

Date : September 16, 2008

Entity Requiring Item : HKSE (pursuant to HKSE Listing Ruies)

Document : Return by a Company Purchasing its Own Shares
Date : September 17, 2008
Entity Requiring Item : Hong Kong Companies Registry

Document : Joint Announcement with Dah Chong Hong Holdings Limited on
Continuing Connected Transactions — (1) Long-term Maintenance Services on ULD
by DAS Nordisk to CX; and (2) Outsourcing of ULD Maintenance Services by DAS
Nordisk to DAS

Date : September 17, 2008

Entity Requiring Item : HKSE (pursuant to HKSE Listing Rules)




The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited takes no responsibility for the contents of this
announcement, makes no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaims
any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any
part of the contents of this announcement.
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(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 267)

DAYE SPECIAL STEEL CO., LTD.
A SUBSIDIARY OF CITIC PACIFIC LIMITED
ANNOUNCEMENT OF UNAUDITED FINANCIAL RESULTS
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

This Announcement is made by CITIC Pacific Limited (“CITIC Pacific” or “the Company”)
pursuant to the requirements of Rule 13.09 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited to provide shareholders of CITIC Pacific and the public
with the unaudited financial results of Daye Special Steel Co., Ltd. (“Daye”), for the six months
ended 30 June 2008.

SUMMARY

Daye, a subsidiary of CITIC Pacific, is a company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”) whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. CITIC Pacific has a 58.13%
attributable interest in Daye. On 22 August 2008, the board of directors of Daye has approved the
unaudited financial statements for the six months ended 30 June 2008. Daye’s unaudited
financial results will be posted on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange’s website on 26 August 2008.

Daye, a subsidiary of CITIC Pacific, is a company incorporated in the PRC whose shares are listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. CITIC Pacific has a 58.13% attributable interest in Daye. On 22
August 2008, the board of directors of Daye has approved the unaudited financial statements for the
six months ended 30 June 2008. Daye’s unaudited financial results will be posted on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange’s website on 26 August 2008. The Profit and Loss Account for the six months
ended 30 June 2008 and the Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2008 of Daye are provided below : -




DAL INECIAL D ITLLL UV, LA
PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

— UNAUDITED

1. Operating Income

Less :

Add :

Operating costs

Operating taxes and surcharges
Selling expenses

General and administrative expenses
Financial expenses

Impairment loss of assets

Gain on change in fair value

(“-” indicate loss)

Investment income (“-” indicate loss})
(including: investment income on
associated companies and joint ventures)

2. Operating Profit

Add :
Less .

Non-operating income
Non-operating expenses
(including: loss on disposal of
non-current assets)

3. Profit before Tax

Less :

Income tax

4. Net Profit

5. Earnings per share

Earnings per share - basic
Earnings per share - diluted

2008
RMB

4,272,889,075
3,978,157,571
1,404,483
33,757,902
28,995,716
14,982,518
8,127,315

207,463,570
2,091,262
97,782

39,105

209,457,050

2007
RMB

2,808,562,506
2,542,513,274
3,096,992
29,522,423
40,487,066
16,160,035
3,057,462

173,725,254
7,923,061
10,579,030

10,541,014

171,069,285

209,457,050

0.466
0.466

171,069,285

0.381
0.381




DALAINULE N1 AN AL JVJUINL JUUO

ASSETS
Current Assets

Non-current Assets

Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities

Non-current Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Shareholders’ Equity
Share Capital
Capital Reserve
Less : Treasury Shares
Surplus Reserve

Retained Profit

Total Shareholders’ Equity

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

GENERAL

Shareholders should note that the above unaudited financial results pertain only to Daye and not to

CITIC Pacific itself.

Daye’s 2008 Interim Report, 2008 Summary Interim Report and other relevant information can be

Unaudited
30 June

2008

RMB
1,862,755,907
1,751,371,470

3,614,127,377

1,435,266,159
413,627,048
1,848,893,207

449,408,480
485,653,274

116,558,920
713,613,496

1.763.234,170

3,614,127,377

found on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange’s website (hitp://www.szse.cn).

Hong Kong, 25 August 2008

Audited

31 December
2007

RMB
1,690,747,371
1,749,574,851

3,440,322,222

1,415,115,274
379,548,132
1,794,663,406

449,408,480
485,653,274

116,558,920
594.038.142

3,440,322,222

By order of the Board
CITIC Pacific Limited
Stella Chan Chui Sheung
Company Secretary




ALy L ehe Ll e U MY GRNTOURCCIRENRE, (HC CACCUHIIVE LUFCCitrny O WAL UG GFe JYicsalo LUrT ) Tilie
Chi Kin (Chairman), Henry Fan Hung Ling, Peter Lee Chung Hing, Carl Yung Ming Jie, Leslie
Chang Li Hsien, Vernon Francis Moore, Li Shilin, Liu Jifu, Chau Chi Yin, Milton Law Ming To,
Wang Ande and Kwok Man Leung, the non-executive directors of CITIC Pacific are Messrs Willie
Chang, André Desmarais, Chang Zhenming and Peter Kruyt (alternate director to Mr André
Desmarais); and the independent non-executive directors of CITIC Pacific are Messrs Hamilton Ho
Hau Hay, Alexander Reid Hamilton, Hansen Loh Chung Hon and Norman Ho Hau Chong.
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TL(ERL), 1% 2007 ER MR A 449,408,480 RiTH, IRABERAII Tt 89,881,696 76, 3
dr AT AL E R B A R A BB & R A 456,000 JuliE B4,

HABREATER
2008 %£ 06 B 30 A 2007 4F 12 A 31 H
FAT & 4 IR 24,651,184 24,651,184
I A HES AL TR 2R 23,586,575 23,586,575
REA I 3,771,858 3,579,708
REAHR AT AR IS B 7,116,133 6,031,932
VAT B PR E < 12,221,754 12,221,754
R AT A RS 3R 3,264,408 5,111,088
HAt 201,001,020 76,924,407
275,612,932 152,106,648

T 2008 £F 06 A 30 H, FLANATEKFRATHRE AR AT 5%(E 5%) L LR BB 6 1R 2R
)33 52,247,696 JG(2007 &£ 12 B 31 H: X)), HPNAHILFENER LT
26,924,000 7G, MATPERE (FEH) HBEHFRAF 25,323,696 Jt.

T 2008 £ 06 A 30 H, K#Ed—FHHMNATRA 54,671,259 5T(2007 4 12 A 31
H: 48,234,388 ju), T EEFHENATHANBUNEXRIBIIZHGARR, XA CEXRTY
BRZAT R, (R RHE M EHE— R,

HKIBERK
i1 2008 4E 06 A 30 H 2007 % 12 A 31 H
(ELEEEF AR 382,905,000 347,905,000
W —E AR KA
—{EH AM (2,905,000) (2,905,000)
380,000,000 345,000,000

T 2008 £ 06 A 30 B, @MAEHERAERANT:

BT FEFNE SRS
T [ T RAT 7.56% 2,905,000

g B R B AR SRR R FERE R Z
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(b)

(c)

(d)
(19)

(a)

(b)

(20)

(a)

KIS R PR RAT SR W F
2008 £ 06 A 30 H

20074 12 A 31 H

o B A EARIT A T AMT 150,000,000 150,000,000
o B AR AT SR TR T 50,000,000 50,000,000
HHRITIAT 2T 50,000,000 50,000,000
o ] [ &Kt S O4RAT 130,000,000 95,000,000

380,000,000 345,000,000
KIER B E T

2008 £ 06 A 30 H

2007 %12 H 31 H

— B 330,000,000 295,000,000
R hE 50,000,000 50,000,000
380,000,000 345,000,000

2008 4 BE & BRSBTS EFRI R A 6.40% (2007 F: 6.23%).
P R

2007 £ ASER DER D 2008

12831 H 06 H 30 H

B AET R B @) 12,895,690 69,653 (51,072) 12,914,271
il Sy a0 & 118,248,196 18,248,196
J R iU (b) 3,404,246 322,092 (1,261,757) 2,464,581
34,548,132 391,745 (1,312,829) 33,627,048

HFAA TGS KRR, RERIRH VAL ROAELR (2FEE) 14
R, MR AAGL G EIERT I B SRR A A A T Tl

BT AA RN E KR ERFN, REEEERMG, X REE RS ER R

{Ed T itk
R Z
A k7T
2007 12 A 31 H PRAE 4 (b) 2008 £ 06 A 30 H

1 IR & SRy —

AR T4 g e 268,560,532 (5,040,000) 263,520,532
TR 5 S ATty —

AR ¥R 180,847,948 5,040,000 185,887,948
B4 A Hi(a) 449,408,480 449,408,480

AT LI E N R A G EER 209228 AR, HBREEART 15T, i ART
20,9228 Jijt. AATT 1997 & 3 AMBENBEFHFRITT 7,000 JTECEEM, FERYI
UEH A S AT EM LT 5. RAT R & BRI AR S, SRAIEE 44,940.8 JiJC
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(b)

21

(a)

(b)

(22)

(23)

(24)

(FERIHE ).

THRER, 4 A55HH RELARERRARMAE RSN, HARFRA 5,040,000
G A IR S R IR

BANH
2008 2F 06 A 30 A 2007 12 A 31 H
IR A 264,908,962 264,908,962
HABE AL
G RAT NN AL PN
— (RS EHK Q) 145,950,186 145,950,186
— KB & Z U (b) 74,794,126 74,794,126
485,653,274 485,653,274

HAR T A AR E D LRI AR R AVRAT B A e AR BFA R HFRIT R
J5 R R 157 55 LU R LRV B SRR AR 45

EAT TR EERXBFHEERNEMET 20%, RIEMBEEET 2001 & 12 A 21
FIE I £2[2001164 5 (CRECHZ [EHERHG R OB REEITHEY » HELX
BEA ) AR BB R A 20%89 385> O T AT B+ A TEA A

YN A
2008 4F 06 A 30 H 2007 12 A 31 4

FREREN & 116,558,920 116,558,920

RIE (FEARKMEARNE)  ALAHEBREEHRSKRY, ELRIRFLFRE
i) 10%REVEZ BALARE, DEERRAREFTHRBIBAN 50%LU LB, B4
AR ERBELAAREEFXEIIMERTH TR T/, WE\EEMRE. b7
TRk 5H, ERBERKARETHENRERE, HKPARDTRAN 25%.

ZalHED

2008 % 06 H 30 H 2007 € 12 A 31 &
XA 5y BLFE 594,038,142 302,773,977
ho: ARSI A 209,457,050 323,626,851
wk: AR R AN - (32,362,686)
IV 45 B 4 J R B (89,881,696) .
FER A ATECAE 713,613,496 594,038,142

R 2008 4E 4 H 18 HIRA KAWL, AR REHRERBERERFE 10 RARS
2 TE(CEH), 1% 2007 EREDMAE 449,408,480 EiHH, IREMEHRFIIEV 89,881,696
Tho

BB ATE db R A
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(a)

(25)

(26)

27

2008 £F 1-6 A

2007 E 1-6 H

FEM SN (a) 3,696,396,909 2,696,305,464
H AL S A 576,492,166 112,257,042
4,272,889,075 2,808,562,506

FEWVHFWAMEEN LA

2008 F 1-6 H 20074 1-6 A

FEASHA EE S RA FEAFWA FEF A
R 642,137,456 570,014,771 425,959,159 371,005,386
W 430,560,269 403,546,831 468,914,684 418,439,437
o 476,601,072 446,126,567 342,227,948 316,227,409
Eaae lEAY 95,412,742 99,276,505 74,032,124 60,502,681
B EEW 1,185,152,954 1,119,927,099 617,779,859 556,508,201
IRE 689,064,980 635,142,730 492,527,920 458,452,618
EH 174,563,214 168,896,247 273,252,193 253,354,247
HAbaFb 2,904,222 2,731,501 1,611,577 1,236,482
3,696,396,909 3,445,662,251 2,696,305,464 2,435,726,961

A FIRTT 4% G BN B 595,463,506 7T, A/ B & BEEI B LA 16%.

BB & R

kA
FE A xRH

%532 F

18 BOR B ST
i RN
LR
V; TR &
HoA e 75

B EER R

ISP S
R BN HR
(B 52 P 7= R AH 1R R (HHE (N )(6))

2008 £ 1-6 B 2007 %E 1-6 A
344,430 -
1,060,053 3,096,992
1,404,483 3,096,992
2008 4F 1-6 H 2007 4F 1-6 A
12,555,089 13,300,019
(1,155,501) (1,387,107)
8,069,655 3,424,636
(752,138) (152,947)
(3,734,587) 975,434
14,982,518 16,160,035
2008 ZE 1-6 H 2007 & 1-6 A
- (30,804)

(873,918) -
9,001,233 3,088,266
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(28)

(a)

(b)

(29)

(a)

)

(c)

BALAMEA RE NSNS
=R 2L N

R0 T R B P M 2
S EAR R
HoAth

I Faw

S BRBIE B IR
H At

REHMBERMWE
R A BN NS E

7)1
. Ve
& 52 95 =4 17
TOFE Bt 7 P
Kb B [ % BE P R R
W45 52
7 T3 1
cig= S A SUREL NG b 2y
2Bk AT T B BN/
GBS AR NI g

R s
PGB R R

. MERFEYIR
B P (U0 )/ 1 N
W&

miE—

FEFME
WATHK

8,127,315 3,057,462

2008 4 1-6 A 2007 £E 1-6 A

288,569 7,131,902

927,333 -

875,360 791,159

2,091,262 7,923,061

2008 4 1-6 A 2007 E 1-6 A

39,105 10,541,014

58,677 38,016

97,782 10,579,030
2008 £ 1-6 H 2007 & 1-6 A
209,457,050 171,069,285
8,127,315 3,057,462
62,819,817 65,508,622
450,000 450,000
39,105 3,409,112
12,555,089 13,300,019
121,952,187 1,577,004
(253,252,367) (175,732,042)
(37,739,562) (38,548,002)
124,408,634 44,091,460

2008 £ 06 H 30 H

20075 12 A 31 H

205,922,238 196,536,895
(134,975,543) (69,531,139)
70,946,695 127,005,756

2008 7 06 H 30 H

909
204,351,170
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20074 12 A 31 H

1,388
129,876,704



HAbfg m e & 11,570,159 45,335,791

215,922,238 - 175,213,883
#: SEPIFR BRI TR (10,000,000) (40,238,340)
I FERLE 205,922,238 134,975,543

(d) STHARSEEEIHERNINE
e BRI HASEE R RN THARE.

2008 &£ 1-6 A 2007 £ 1-6 A

5% 5t 592,935 2,605,829
AL 3R 270,940 860,325
AR5 B 1,681,000 1,531,695
HAt 840,999 1,466,709
3,385,874 6,464,558

(30) SrHIRE
() FEWEER

HTAXFEZEWRAL 8, B R EESE MG LA RE
K B ARH G55 5 B ETR .

2) KRERFERX

2008 £ 1-6 B 2007 4E 1-6 H
XFARAE BN
BN E 3,720,656,066 2,425,311,912
B E 552,233,009 383,250,594
4,272.889,075 2,808,562,506
+  REBEFRRERHAER
(1) BRAXERER
(a) MR REEFH
b AL M T
R Hiu LHEEIk, METHRAREEEES

Rz E. WHEHEBRETEIR
W, YR EERTE. KB, B
He i AL A R 2 B AT L

(b) BEEERBERFMEERLILAN
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(c)

(2)

(3)
(a)

(b)

M

20074E 12 H 31 A AEWM  AERD 2008 42 06 H 30 H
(Ji 7o) (J170) (i7t) (J37%)

HERE 120,000(3# M) - - 120,000(# /)
Toe 224 I Zr st 2 4 B0 A R MR b 491 0 3R R AR L

2007 £ 12 B 31 H 2008 &£ 06 A 30 H

L Ryl 5 1% b 45 F AL e
FERE 58.13% 58.13% 58.13% 58.13%
AR R R K B B R
KA 44 B HEAFHKER
FARGEReY PF-KRER
P ER T BoKRE
VL DL R R AR LT PR A B) (VB R PR ) [B] 3% — £5 £ 23 I R 2R A ol
YL RH 22 5 MR P R PR | (“ DR TP A L) ] 5% — B 24458 R i AR 4= 1l
BIAE P EE AL RE R R A R PR T LRE” [5) 5% — B £ ¥ R It 2R 5 46l
MAFHMEVHRARCHATEL) AEE KBRS AT
A RENSFRTELBCAFETE) A 5% — B 445 i R 2R 455 )
KEKAZ 5
E PR

ENF R GE/IMEY . HEEY. mIWM. BEEA. 22K 25 A
L IKEFHEE, HMBSREXBETEEMRBRGER. BAEE O E T 5] RN
PR E -

—E RN EITEME, HEREM,

—RHEFEMN, AR A bR,

— TN A AT B, LASERR B i — E B8 D b v 7 8 B LA A, I R bl 0 4 L
R ITE, (BAEIT AR 20%.

KW B 4
2008 FF 1-6 A 2007 & 1-6 A
FaM) 1,029,489,625 623,404,925
by BT 4L RE 398,687,592 178,601,027
PR RPN 134,235,121 -
A B Rk (i) 19,109,159 -
1,581,521,497 802,005,952

RNTE) XENFRNIEEFE R EHEURNAME, TEERH:
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(i)
(c)

(i1)
(iii)
(d)

(e)

ALFUTHNAFRRAREEE . ST AT SEXREMEME AR T4 B2
W o 2008 = _EAEKRIGEIN 499,649,712 TL(2007 ERH: 211,664,638 TT).

A0 &) AN RS A B R BRI IE SR . 2008 4 R ER SRS EIH 216,211,834 7T
(2007 FE[E HH: 254,831,736 J0).

A0 8 AP A B R BUSR AHE, 2008 4 E R ER RN SN 313,628,079 TG
(2007 SEFH: 156,908,551 7T).

AT EENTRFE WK S LT R

HELY
2008 <E 1-6 A 2007 4F 1-6 H
BEEA3) 340,487,262 341,498,174
MR PNk - 2,019,151
FRRE AL A i) 22,323,475 17,409,304
A L) 374,479 -
363,185,216 360,926,629

AT F B AFR RN R RS U RN, FEAE.

EATURMBAN mFENIBME AR R4, 2008 £ L LENHEST N
162,956,600 JL(2007 LEFI#1: 64,328,143 7T).

KT LAMS G 0 B R e B S . 2008 4 EREREE SN 174,563,214 70
(2007 “E[E#H: 273,252,193 7T).

A28 B CAHRSUIN RS DB v AN A AR . 2008 4E LR ERM BB 2,967,448 TT (2007
EFH: 3,917,838 1)

A ) 3 LR G A AR ) R A R A B FURD A A 5
240 B E LR A (7] 38 70 B 248 L SR R A 2 15

B %
2008 & 1-6 A 2007 ¢ 1-6 H
e 1,317,324 1,195,409
R Fr b BE 2,577,085 1,264,323
3,894,409 2,459,732

E QB FFIEMA L PR H R ERET . W BEERS, TR
%532
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®

(8

(4)
(a)

(b)

AN

g

2008 &£ 1-6 A

3,186,561

AT FEEUDUNME R MLz, <K HF.

I e P

BN

0w B LUK E i F e A Frd L8 i 4 % .

W [B 2 BE7-

Ha N

2008 £ 1-6 A

2008 4 1-6 A

1,667,515

2007 %F 1-6 A

3,577,733

2007 5% 1-6 H

634,126

2007 £ 1-6 B

10,274,846

A0 T L NE RN B I R B
KRBT MW, NATERI R

ST WS T RN TIAST e 5K

PLEERF RN
AFEME

VAR ANE AEAVA B

Hram
BT L RE
ST
A FHRE
EREEES 473

BAMAETI

LU AT R iR,

2008 4 06 H 30

2007 % 12 A 31 H

37,903 37,903
697,200 -
735,103 37,903

2008 2E 06 A 30

20074 12 H 31 H

26,924,000 85,746,450
- 34,251,576
- 1,489,074
21,187,674 -
25,323,696 -
73,435,370 121,487,100

AL R AN L6 7 I 55 R 2R A DA B BE AR ST M A i
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R BEY KSR

o MEBAREE AR RS8R

eI
e A BEARGRSD B R K
Bl 15 EAW R
PR IR E %
HoAE b A M ST AR
TOBRAE G5 P45 Jm B v i

2008 4 06 A 30 H

20074E 12 H31 H

48

86,455,400 71,374,234
2008 4F 1-6 2007 4E 1-6
209,457,050 171,069,285
39,105 10,541,014
(927,333) -
3,057,462
(1,105,252) (7,885,045)
207,463,570 176,782,716




2008 F R - HEHEE & AR

20074E12H31H

AN

Aol ¥

e Fein

20085F6 H30H

- IR

20,503,214

20,503,214

= FHREROHUR

49,235,433

49,235,433

= ATOEH A e B A
K

-

b=
=r

« T BB BT 6l 0 45

HpHIE

+ KIBAT 8 B SR

73 BB AR

£ BB IR R

10,598,283

9,001,233

19,599,516

A TREY) B 2

U, R TRBER

11,898,266

11,898,266

o AP AR AL
%

o U

T2 KRB

1=, BEBERE

T4, HAh

92,235,196

0,001,233

101,236,429

BE1E. % H

~
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FREFERERSRIEITESR

AL RGBT A ]

SR #E . 20084 1-6 H

W 2R ;
445 R AR it
4 T T TR AR HmEaRY R
(%) (%) (75) (75)
HET AR CAREANG
T 11.87 12.28 0.47 0.47
MRS H RS HRT
A T2 R R B 4 R (1.75 12.16 0.46 0.46
FEFURERERIESETER
AL Rt R (A R 4 B 2R R 2007 % 1-6 B
g S R
5 R s Bl

4= T Y A SE B ShACRE M0 25 BB 2

(%) (%) T (L)
AT 2 5 % B R T B 1
3 11.46 12.15 0.38 0.38
B TE 2 7 TE AR 20 /B U F
A 5 R R B R 11.84 12.56 0.39 0.39
it
(1) FERR
O HAFFRE

A ERERWE ART 2R ERIERESERNED
2008 4E1-6 F =209,457,050/449,408,480=0.47
2007 #£1-6 H =171,069,285/449,408,480=0.38
B. HAMRYE CHIFRIELE MG IR T2 7 8% 8 i 28 0 R
2008 £ 1-6 H =(209,457,050-1,993,480)/449,408,480=0.46
2007 £ 1-6 H=(171,069,285+5,713,431)/449,408,480=0.39
@ mBESRWE
A, BRBEREE (EETA TSR R R R &R
2008 #1-6 H=209,457,050/449,408,480=0.47
2007 4E1-6 A =171,069,285/449,408,480=0.38
B. MR GNRRAERE M SR8 T 2 508 B R AR )
2008 4E1-6 A =(209,457,050-1,993 ,480)/449,408,480=0.46
2007 4F1-6 J§ =(171,069,285+5,713,431)/449,408,480=0.39

(2) FHRERE
® £eEBEHRRr-RnE
A, SEHRHEAGMEEE (AR AT SERR R HFNED
2008 {E1-6 A =209,457,050/1,765,234,170*100%=11.87%
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2007 £ 1-6 H =171,069,285/1,493,101,250*100%=11.46%

B. MM AR WRE NRIELSFEEHREEWART A7 SRR K3 F
i)

2008 4£1-6 H =(209,457,050-1,993,480)/ 1,765,234,170*100%=11.75%

2007 #1-6 A =(171,069,285+5,713,431)/ 1,493,101,250*100%=11.84%

@ AR AR P R

A, IIBCEEERERER AR T A SRR RMEFED

2008 E1-6 H =209,457,050/ (1,765,234,170+1,645,658,816) /2*100%=12.28%
2007 4E1-6 H =171,069,285/ (1,322,031,965+1,493,101,250) /2*100%=12.15%

B. MBCFHEBErEWEE NREGE2E YRR ER R8T 2 R E R B R F
)

2008 1E1-6 F =(209,457,050-1,993,480)/( 1,765,234,170+1,645,658,816)
/2*100%=12.16%

2007 % 1-6 B =(171,069,285+5,713,431)/(1,322,031,965+1,493,101,250)
/2%100%=12.56%

N, EEXHAR

1. BHEERREZNLFEERE L,

2. BEHEARA. L&, FTESUTEAFTAZLIFRTENMFHRE X
A

3. MEWRNEPEILRSEERT) EAFRELRAE 28X ERR

KIGHFHNARGFH R AHE
R 2
2008 £ 8 A 22 H

kK kK ok koK
2o

P
Fib, FF\ENATHER

BELMGEAH, Pl GHITHHARERE @S ) BRI FHRAL,

BYASEE, RUFELE, JBBAL, FLHAEL, BHEGEL. BEELE, B
S TR RN SL: PIERFIFATHFCHFRAVL, BETHL. F
YRR -~ RRIFHL (EEFSLLEAEH) ; RPGEEHLIRITHEHIY
FEATIRME SR BRIUBSEL . S BT
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RECEIVED
MR EP 2y PN
. LT

CITIC PACIFIC TR
CITIC Pacific Limited
FiEEEEARAA

(PR b S L IR TR A FD
(R RYE: 267)

BETH RV BRI 4 PR 0 B) B T 38 A R BRERYI #5722
2 TR I 2008 SFAPEFHERE . KRfTRBRNHRAH R
FIERERRARNMBEAHE.

&
RARHARBERLT

DAYE SPECIAL STEEL CO., LTD.

2008 E X FEEHETME

HEK . EEB
—O0\FN\R




§1 EEHER

Ll FAEEHRS, WESRAESR, HE, BEEBARRIEARE T
RREAGEFEMERIZER. RPUOREE TG, JExd A AR SEE,

MR AN SE 38 1 S 30 e S TRAT:

AEFRMEHER QL EEREL, RELIXANAET
http://www.cninfo.com.cn. #TIEA THEMNE, NS THHELFERES

o

1.2 REHEFE. HH. BREBRARFWENPEEREAEME LY. B

itk SEEYETIE RIS R .
13 SREFHYHBERESS.
14 REEFEREMSREREH T,

LS AREFRERMELE. LQBERIEE. K ATHTRE k% .
(RUEEFEEMEF U S IREMEE, %
§2 EHaAEERER
2.1 HAREREN
R ZESFR KGN
M B AL L 000708
EAERT R | BRYRERT S

ERSHT (D EHFHFRE
w2 REW TFE
B Ak WA RAT WA KIE6S | WMEARAETHRAERECS
EIRE: 0714-6297373 0714-6297373
fEIT 0714-6297280 0714-6297280

PSR dytg0708@163.com

dytg0708@163.com




22 FEMFEIEER

2.2.1 FE SR K fabR

Ml (ARM) TG

. - 4R 45 IR 4
AR R LR | Tk o0
o 3,614,127,377 3,440,322,222 5.05
22 (BB HEANZS) 1,765,234,170 1,645,658,816 7.27
15 18 v 8 3.928 3.662 ' 7.26
e ] o A& AL AR
MEW -6 A LR lefrking vl
Y F| 207,463,570 173,725,254 19.42
F)3E 44 260 209,457,050 171,069,285 22.44
R 209,457,050 171,069,285 22.44
HIBR AR BT i o e
%] 207,463,570 176,782,716 17.36
HAFRKS 0.47 0.38 23.68
MRS 0.47 0.38 23.68
U PR 2 B 11.87% 1146% | 1. 041 A H 5
SLEEHEENRERR
VAER 124,408,634 44,091,460 182.16
BB eI
L T 0.28 0.10 180.00
222 A FE MR E
Vi&R  ofiEH
e MR I E & M (Je)
AR EAER B P IR (39,105)
HAE b PSR 2,032,585
CRap- A0k 1,993,480

223 ERSEHHENZES
DiEf VARIE




§3 RMEENERFER

3.1 BRBTEHIEREK

Vigf ofE
LRV
AR B BIRAENER (+. 9 BIRE SN
. o
%gm
$it 51 g W el ANt g, 1
&
Bl g
— ARERMEBY | 268560532 | 59.76 -5,040,000 | -5,040,000 | 263,520,532 | 58.64
I BIZRFRR
2. A EARR
3. HAbp TR 141,942,052 | 31.58 -5,040,000 | -5,040,000 | 136,902,052 | 30.46
Hep,
WMAAEEAE AR | 141,940,000 | 31.58 -5,040,000 | -5,040,000 | 136,900,000 | 30.46
Jiid
ERERARR 2,052 2,052
4. SRR 126,618,480 | 28.18 126,618,480 | 28.18
s BOMEARB ) 106 618.480 | 28.18 126,618,480 | 28.18
A ERARRIR
= ERE R | 180,847,048 | 40.24 +5,040,000 | +5,040,000 | 185,887,948 | 41.36
1. ARMERE 180,847,948 | 40.24 +5,040,000 | +5,040,000 | 185,887,948 | 41.36
2. 98 _LTT ) At I
34 AT AR S
4, 3HAh
=L O 449 408,480 | 100.00 449 408 480 | 100.0




32 EItHARE. A2 aiERR ARG RE
B 2R 5 45,863
fif 10 )RR FF IR AT
, - FERERB FEHBRES | BPNERS
IR BORIER | gy | BB e mmn | mepsn
WAL BRI E PR 4 ] BHIEEREA 29.95| 134,620,000 134,620,000
BERE (PE) ARERALAF|  BANEA 28.18 126,618,480} 126,618,480
WETHFRRES Hih 2.06] 9,245,115
SR RES-FTUE HAh 1.99] 8,929,290
R TEAT) HAth 1.78] 7,980,000
LR IR B RARAT-T B AR .
K T T 3 B HoAth 1.21 5,455,268
MV RIT RO A R A TRk 4 !
: ) 4,788,053
RUTHY B TS RS =t 107 4,788,
oHE TR AT-5 T E M BV
o T S HAb 0.83 3,740,665
Bk £ Bh-#47- GOV'T OF
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PN AN T EER AN R P A KRB BT TR M L BT 1 B

TEAR L R EZA R A BIMCL AT, ST 4Ed i WL BT T BT oy 4% Kb
WA IR B OB AENL BN 7% 3% I8 KA FAEEZIEB RSV HEXBUL
RIS T BTN, A0 5 ETE S D ba 5 Lot i B 52 M R 4 %

HEBATHER
WTEE RRALHERAL 1 %0t 2.
P2 £ A
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(17)

(18)

(a)

2007 4E . 2008 F
12831 H A A 06 A 30 H
AT R A 53,700 89,881,696 (89,425,696) 509,700

RE 2008 5 4 A 18 HR A KRS WL, AATRESERERBNERFAE I0RART 2
TL(ER), 1% 2007 SR LBA 449,408,480 ih 5, IREKMERFIFLT 89,881,696 7T, H
ch AT HI AL IE B W P HE S PR AN B I & R ) 456,000 JTHERT R4 .

HABRY 2K
2008 &£ 06 A 30 H 2007 12 H31 H
N AT P EF 24,651,184 24,651,184
R HEYS kb X 3 23,586,575 23,586,575
R AFHEL 3,771,858 3,579,708
AT A RIE B 7,116,133 6,031,932
AT R & RIE & 12,221,754 12,221,754
MNATAM R EIE T 3,264,408 5,111,088
HA 201,001,020 76,924,407
275,612,932 152,106,648

7+ 2008 £E 06 H 30 H, HABNATRKP AR RAT S%(E 5%)UA LR REUR O 1%
REIERIR 52,247,696 T5(2007 4 12 A 31 B: 1), HebhN4A#dbHaMER AT
26,924,000 70, NATHUEERE (PED BRHRAE 25,323,696 JT.

F 2008 & 06 B 30 H, W& —EMHABRNAT A 54,671,259 J6(2007 £ 12 A 31
H: 48,234,388 ju), FEGFHNAIATTEAE R T2HITLER, WHDIERT ]
SRR, B R TR — P B RE R

KA
i 2008 4 06 A 30 H 20074E 12 A 31 B
18 &K N 382,905,000 347,905,000
W —F N BRI AR
—~ {5 H AR (2,905,000) (2,905,000)
380,000,000 345,000,000

F 2008 4 06 A 30 B, #@RARME A EKEIRE R T

{& K AN ERE Bk &5
FE T HRIT 7.56% 2,905,000

LR BGOSR R EERE R 2 P
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(b)

(©)

(d)
(19)

(a)

(b)

(20)

(a)

KRR SR RAT IR0 F

20084 06 H 30 H

20074 12 H31 H

o E A B RAT IR T T 150,000,000 150,000,000
R R BRAT IR R T AT 50,000,000 50,000,000
HHBITHRAETIIT 50,000,000 50,000,000
M Fit O89T 130,000,000 95,000,000
380,000,000 345,000,000
KIAERE BB T
2008 406 B 30 H 2007 12 B 31 H
— R T4 330,000,000 295,000,000
THHFE 50,000,000 50,000,000
380,000,000 345,000,000
2008 £ K HIE KM INBCR I ERIE K 6.40% (2007 5+ 6.23%).
v Sk
2007 PN A ER 2008 F
12A3H 06 A 30 H
LAVRASE X # M) 12,895,690 69,653 (51,072) 12,914,271
Fpi B £Y S el 18,248,196 18,248,196
TR I 2(b) 3,404,246 322,092 (1,261,757) 2,464,581
34,548,132 391,745 (1,312,829) 33,627,048

BT AR M FE S KR RTRE, R\EEHEMFRERNMET UL (FRE) K
£, WRRET E AR KBS S, BREBTHMAGSFERIFARSFENRT M.

BT AL NHENRP LR REEERNME T, NREZABERR

e T FigE.
i
13 i3 )
2007412 A 31 H FR 45 77 (b) 2008 4F 06 A 30 H

HRERFRG—

NI 5 i 268,560,532 (5,040,000) 263,520,532
TR R —

AR ¥l 180,847,948 5,040,000 185,887,948
Iy K18 (a) 449,408,480 449,408,480

BANT) I EMBRA N SER 20,9228 Fk, SREEART 1 7, EHARM

20,922.8 FioL. ARLNFF 1997 & 3 AHEBAREERTT 7,000 FIR-EER, FHEEN

EHEZGFHER TS, RITREERMOTBMERE, BREEE 449408 T
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(b)

(FEHHE—).

FAREL, F 4 LHHEHREFMRERR R R GRE RN, KRG 5,040,000
it ¥ A T PR A A LRI

1) BEEAH

(2)

(b)

(22)

(23)

(24)

2008 £ 06 A 30 H 2007 12 A 31 H
A 264,908,962 264,908,962
Hih AR
R R A AREAN
— {555 AL & (a) 145,950,186 145,950,186
— KRB 5 21 (b) 74,794,126 74,794,126
485,653,274 485,653,274

HoAh B A AR R T LARTEE AR R AT (IR A @ FA R . EVRA RGBTSR E
Ja & S A48T 95 LA K (3L I 18 R Dk i U5

ANFF LRI R U B ENBRET 20%, WREMBET 2001 4F 12 A 21
H I £:(2001164 5 (RECHZ MHERSF Rt BEEETHE) , #itax
BCA R RN I B RGBT A 20% 384> B T LART RS A BE AR 0 AR,

B&EAR
2008 £ 06 H 30 B 2007£E 12 H31 H
EEEANRE 116,558,920 116,558,920

R (PEAREMELTE) « FAFHEERMFXHRIB, B0 T HERHRE
K 10%BIEERR ARG, JDEEHRABRERTHERRAR 50%LL LR, WA
BRI SR ARELF R ETH FiRsb 585, REgnRE. BTH
TR T, ERRRKAMETHMEBLE, HKRPAEDLTERAMR 25%.

85 A

2008406 H 30 H 20074E 12 A 31 H
YA 5T BLRIHE 594,038,142 302,773,977
e A SR AT R i 209,457,050 323,626,851
W REEERAAM - (32,362,686)
REATER & AR R R o (89,881,696) -
FER R BECRAG 713,613,496 594,038,142

RHE 2008 5 4 B 18 HIRR KRS W, FAFMESERBRERBRERFE 10 RART
2 FL(ERD, 1% 2007 ERNKA 449,408,480 it &, WEAMERAIILIt 89,881,696
TTo

BA B ATUE JLat A
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(a)

(25)

(26)

(27)

2008 %E 1-6 H 2007 %F 1-6 H
EEWEWA() 3,696,396,909 2,696,305,464
HAy A 576,492,166 112,257,042
4,272,889,075 2,808,562,506

Bk 2 8 YN = 290 %

2008 £ 1-6 B 20075 1-6 B

FEHWA TEVFRA TEAHEAN FEEN SR A
hh Ak 642,137,456 570,014,771 425,959,159 371,005,886
K4 430,560,269 403,546,831 468,914,684 418,439,437
ke 476,601,072 446,126,567 342,227,948 316,227,409
HEEsTHEHAMN 95,412,742 99,276,505 74,032,124 60,502,681
g st 1,185,152,954 1,119,927,099 617,779,859 556,508,201
IREEM 689,064,980 635,142,730 492,527,920 458,452,618
EHI 174,563,214 168,896,247 273,252,193 253,354,247
At A A 2,904,222 2,731,501 1,611,577 1,236,482
3,696,396,909 3,445,662,251 2,696,305,464 2,435,726,961

AAB M AL E P BRI SEY 595,463,506 70, AL R EEHHERAR 16%.

BN & R B

=g
BHE R

W% #H

kA B S
e FEBA
N K e S
il R AR
HAtd 23

B AR K

YIS IES
FRBENB KR
[ 72 17 AR A5 R (FHE(7R)(6))

2008 F 1-6 A 2007 %E 1-6 A
344,430 -
1,060,053 3,096,992
1,404,483 3,096,992
2008 % 1-6 A 2007 %E 1-6 A
12,555,089 13,300,019
(1,155,501) (1,387,107)
8,069,655 3,424,636
(752,138) (152,947)
(3,734,587) 975,434
14,982,518 16,160,035
2008 &£ 1-6 A 2007 € 1-6 A
. (30,804)

(873,918) -
9,001,233 3,088,266
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(28)

(a)

(b)

(29)

(a)

(b)

(©

EAVSMEN BB Ak 5 30t
EH S

Kb B I E B i
{95 E A W i
HoAfth

EAk AT

Ak Bl %8 VR R
HoAth

RERBRIE
o v R Y 0 22 TR BB AT

ey IR
M B &
& & Bt =4 1H
T TE Ve r= e
O g Tl OREE S
% 5
TF BRI
¥4 dg v eyish:al e - Ty
28 A TS B 3 /)
SEWRBIFE ISR R

W& A B o
HEemERRM
i HaEYIRE
B4 13 (020 )/ B8 in
mE

Hmde—
FEHENE

8,127,315 3,057,462

2008 £ 1-6 A 2007 1-6 A

288,569 7,131,902

927,333 -

875,360 791,159

2,091,262 7,923,061

2008 4 1-6 H 2007 4F 1-6 A

39,105 10,541,014

58,677 38,016

97,782 10,579,030
2008 4E -6 A 2007 %&£ 1-6 A
209,457,050 171,069,285
8,127,315 3,057,462
62,819,817 65,508,622
450,000 450,000
39,105 3,409,112
12,555,089 13,300,019
121,952,187 1,577,004
(253,252,367) (175,732,042)
(37,739,562) (38,548,002)
124,408,634 44 091,460

2008 4 06 A 30 H

20074 12 A 31 H

205,922,238 196,536,895
(134,975,543 (69,531,139)
70,946,695 127,005,756

2008 £ 06 A 30 H

909
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(d)

(30)

(D

(2)

4]
(a)

(b)

AT
R Mo

il SZEIFRHIITEK
BlaFRRM

S HAL 5L E T EH R He

MERBRP AT HAM S 2 FE SIS T EAR:

TEM
At 9 F
A R4 B
HoAth

T
FEREEA

204,351,170 129,876,704
11,570,159 45,335,791
215,922,238 175,213,883
(10,000,000) (40,238,340)
205,922,238 134,975,543
2008 £ 1-6 A 2007 4F 1-6 A
592,935 2,605,829
270,940 860,325
1,681,000 1,531,695
840,999 1,466,709
3,385,874 6,464,558

BFAEARZELEN, BA. B RARTESE BN AR A

K, ERENEHGGNLE B
RERETENX
XA SN

Rk
Sish e

2008 4 1-6 H 20074 1-6 A
3,720,656,066 2,425,311,912
552,233,009 383,250,594

4,272,889,075

2,808,562,506

KT KREHZR
BRATBRAR
RAE B RERF L

VE At
RREEET ! Hitk

R 2 RN BT A R 2R
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(c)

2

(3)
(a)

(b)

20074E 12 A 31 0 REWM  KERD 2008 4F 06 A 30 H
(J370) (Ji7t) (1 70) (Ji7u)

HERE 120,000 ) - - 120,000(#: )
F5 259 B P R %o A o W] IR R M B 4B R 3R AR B 51

2007412 B 31 A 2008 1F 06 H 30 H

g bbf  FRPRAEAR P Lo 4 BB
HERE 58.13% 58.13% 58.13% 58.13%
REFERHICRNRBET KR
KRl 44 FR S5RAFRIRR
Briad B— KR
s BT WA E
VL IH SV Pl A B A R MR FR AR 57) ] 5% — B R P I R AR A
TTIH 22 & S Pk B AT BR A ] (OSRER R A L) [ 3% — B PR I AR =
AL BRI SR TR A R (R ERR 1L EE™) 7] 5% — B 445 B i R 261
HAHMEWFRACEAHTHE L) NGNS N o 0E 3 /NG
AR EAREEE PR T A B (A R W) 7] 5% — B I R
KA S
SEN BUR

ENF KRB GEERGEY. HERY. MINM., REER ZR. T8, &

R KRFHFEE, HAREIRIERKT B R S G . AWk T 5150 b
R

—BERYNFITENK, HEFE

—WHEZKENK, UTTHIE iR

— Wi Uk A LA B I, DASEBR A AR N — T EL A A AR R SE B A, I e IR
e, EAHEHAE 20%.

KB
2008 4E 1-6 A 2007 % 1-6 A
BEMG) 1,029.489,625 623,404,925
W B AL BB 398,687,592 178,601,027
SLBE RN 134,235,121
WAAHREG) 19,109,159 -
1,581,521,497 802,005,952

Fpm EFEAFRWNWEEMAR. EFEUALRME, EEBTRE.
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(i)
(c)

(i)

(i1)
(iii)
(d)

(e)

AAFUTHN AFERRMET A, SHT . FTERREMEEABEA R
T, 2008 4 EAERIRILEHT N 499,649,712 JL(2007 LERH: 211,664,638 TT).

AT LA AE W B BRI RERS . 2008 & A ERFIRME &R 216,211,834 I
(2007 FEFEHA: 254,831,736 JT).

A0 B AP LT AR M BT VR EN SR 4N #2008 “E L RER R LB 313,628,079 7T
(2007 ZEFH#H: 156,908,551 JT).

AN E) FEMNE R HOCE WIS A T A PR IR AR

HERY
2008 <E 1-6 A 2007 % 1-6 A
FREIG) 340,487,262 - 341,498,174
PR FF PN 2 - 2,019,151
AR ET L BEC) 22,323,475 17,409,304
BEAH M b (i) 374,479 }
363,185,216 360,926,629

A F R E R PG PR AR R A REETE U LM%, ERERE

Aoy ® BLR TR A B R Mg R & E . 2008 F L FFENHE DA
162,956,600 TT(2007 % [F1}#: 64,328,143 JT).

A T LU AN MG B B A A EE IR, 2008 FE L EERHEETN 174,563,214.7C
(2007 FE[RI#A: 273,252,193 7).

A0 T AR AR M R AN A E A . 2008 4 EFERHE SR 2,967,448 JT (2007
EREW: 3,917,838 70),

A5 B 2 T DU A 1 A L B U B LR
5 A7) 25 B LSRR A 1 B A AR e 2 1

2008 £F 1-6 A 2007 £ 1-6 A

a4 1,317,324 1,195,409
hiFET e 2,577,085 1,264,323
3,894,409 2,459,732

A B A R P BT AR GRS . T IBWERS, LU R
HiZ 55 % o
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(8

(4)
(a)

(b)

AN

iR

P /NI RS RN SRR DR R R A AT R T e e

i 1

Hria e

W) N [ 5 B 7

2008 £E 1-6 A 2007 % 1-6 A
3,186,561 3,577,733
2008 £ 1-6 A 2007 £ 1-6 A
634,126
Ao B LUK E R E R e U L A P I R L2 e & 5%
2008 i 1-6 A 2007 £ 1-6 A
1,667,515 10,274,846

HaM

AT E BRI A P 7 I E B
KERT R REATERIRARH0

IR AT e ST+ b 3K

PR R R R
AFEWE

A R\ 2 A R

R
o L e
MAF AR
WO
B

B A EH

LR ARk,

2008 £ 06 H 30

2007412 A 31 H

37,903 37,903
697,200 -
735,103 37,903

2008 £ 06 H 30

2007 % 12 A 31 H

26,924,000 85,746,450
- 34,251,576
] 1,489,074
21,187,674 -
25,323,696 -
73,435,370 121,487,100

LT M AN E W 50 3R B A B B 2 38 Y AR -
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BRE. BRI RYLERE

U ML R RS A

15 M
il PRk (kb A TRRE S AP S
W 515 EA
P IR HE &
FARE W A MBS A0
TORRARE H PEAR 23R BT

2008 £ 06 H 30 H

20074 12 B 31 H

30

86,455,400 71,374,234

2008 & 1-6 A 2007 % 1-6 A
209,457,050 171,069,285
39,105 10,541,014
(927,333) -
3,057,462

(1,105,252) (7,885,045)
207,463,570 176,782,716




2008 £ B - B HE & B 4 R

2007 12H31H

AWt

B

el Fet

200846 H30H

l

L RIRHUR

20,503,214

20,503,214

- FFREROHIR

49,235,433

49,235,433

T gk A e BB

St
G -

N

NECECE UL s IR

=

« AHIBRAR B B 45 2K

L ML AR R R

>t

v

¥ i B 7 A 5 R

10,598,283

9,001,233

19,599,516

S
—

< R B AL

o+

. R TRRMRER %

11,898,266

11,898,266

+

v AT A B A

b

o AR

T REHEMEEBA

1= BRI

UYL A

il

92,235,196

9,001,233

101,236,429

G
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A BRA BER
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EEFREERE R EITER

vt 2008 4F 1-6 B

Gl L KRB O IR A

i L el g b B RS
AR IR -
AT MAE3 RGN | WRERE
(%) (%) (753 (J5)
V48 4 ) X A i B R R
13 11.87 12.28 0.47 0.47
mEEatEtnaisBE T
75 a) Bl A R 2R R A 11.75 12.16 0.46 0.46
EARFWEEREBRIEEITER
B AR . FOAR R E TR A SWRRIRM: 20074 1-6 A
) BRI Y g
R 1935
AT AR E Yy WAERE | BRERR
(%) (%) G) )

HETARSERK KRN
)i 11.46 12.15 0.38 0.38
MBEELEHREEHBT
4\ B) 30 AR AR 2R 0 7 R 11.84 12.56 0.39 0.39

GE-SuFi

(1) HRWi

@ FA SR WA

A EFEEREE (FET ARG @R ZR D
2008 4F1-6 J =209,457,050/449,408,480=0.47
2007 %£1-6 3 =171,069,285/449,408,480=0.38
B. FEAEGMaE GIBRIFLFIEBIEMERT 2 8% B RBCR KSR 1)

2008 £ 1-6 H=(209,457,050-1,993,480)/449,408,480=0.46
2007 £E1-6 A =(171,069,285+5,713,431)/449,408,480=0.39




@ WEERkE
A, TBERWE AETA BB RS EF0E)
2008 4E1-6 H =209,457,050/449,408,480=0.47
2007 fE1-6 A =171,069,285/449,408,480=0.38
B. #WESREE nkIELEERERNIERETAFSERE AR RFRTED
2008 £E1-6 B =(209,457,050-1,993,480)/449,408,480=0.46
2007 ££1-6 B =(171,069,285+5,713,431)/449,408,480=0.39
(2) AR
@ AT A 7 i
A, TR RER (BT AR R R e RiE)
2008 4£1-6 H =209,457,050/1,765,234,170*100%=11.87%
2007 4E1-6 A =171,069,285/1,493,101,250*100%=11.46%
B. &M AR GOkIESE IR E AR T A 8 @R K & f e E]
i)
2008 £E1-6 A =(209,457,050-1,993,480)/ 1,765,234,170*100%=11.75%
2007 ¥ 1-6 A =(171,069,285+5,713,431)/ 1,493,101,250*100%=11.84%
@ NI v 8 P I A
A, IBCEY AR WA EE QBT o RS R AR v F)iE )
2008 4 1-6 H =209,457,050/ (1,765,234,170+1,645,658,816) /2*100%=12.28%
2007 E1-6 A =171,069,285/ (1,322,031,965+1,493,101,250) /2*100%=12.15%
B. MACEX A ZE GOERAEL R M08 5 BVZ R T 2 =135 a0 i i 2R i) 13 )
NED)
2008 4E1-6 A =(209,457,050-1,993,480)/( 1,765,234,170+1,645,658,816)
12¥100%=12.16%
2007 sE1-6 H =(171,069,285+5,713,431)/(1,322,031,965+1,493,101,250)
12*100%=12.56%

KIGFFRR IR (0 TR 4 =)
200848 A 22 H

¥ 3K K %k %k kK
o

G

s, —FFNAFENAAFHHA

PARLEEK, TERERTHHGIEREREL (TH) | BHEEEL. FHEEL,

BEFAISL . RLRIEL B, FALHEL, FHPLE. BEEL, e
S FRESELERFIFINL: FlakFHFRTIHCAFRELIEL. BEGEL 7
RO ALRWERY - HHEREL (G LS BT  BPE G IFRITEEY
FATSEAESEA . PRt BRI R AT

33



THIS CIRCULAR IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION

If you are in any doubt as to any aspect of this Circular or as to the action to be taken, you should
consult your licensed securities dealer or registered institution in securities, bank manager, solicitor,
professional accountant or other professional adviser.

If you have sold or transferred all your shares in CITIC Pacific Limited, you should at once hand this
Circular to the purchaser or the transferee or to the licensed securities dealer or registered institution
in securities or other agent through whom the sale or transfer was effected for transmission to the
purchaser or the transferee.

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited takes no responsibility for the contents of this Circular,
makes no representation as to ils accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaims any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this Circular.

i il

CITIC PACIFIC A SRS S
D120

CITIC Pacific Limited SRR
hERBHRAT U5

{Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

{Stock Code: 00267)

DISCLOSEABLE AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION

ACQUISITION OF A 49% INTEREST IN FAW TOYOTA 45 COMPANY AND
A 50% INTEREST IN LEXUS 4S COMPANY
AND THE RELATED SHAREHOLDERS’ LOANS

Independent Financial Adviser to the Independent Board Committee

and the Independent Shareholders

COMMERZBANK S
Commerzbank AG Hong Kong Branch

A letter from the Board is set out on pages 5 to 22 of this Circular. A letter of advice from the
Independent Financial Adviser (as defined herein) to the Independent Board Committee (as defined
herein) and the Independent Shareholders (as defined herein) is set out on pages 25 to 37 of this
Circular. A letter of the Independent Board Committee is set out on pages 23 to 24 of this Circular.

16 September 2008
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DEFINITIONS

In this Circular, the following expressions have the following meanings unless the context

otherwise requires:

“Acquisition”

“associate(s)”
“Board”
“BVI”
“Circular”

“CITIC HK”

“Company”

“Completion”
“connected person(s)”
“Consideration”

“Contractual
Arrangements”

“Contractual
Arrangements
Agreements”

“DCH Group”

“DCH Holdings”

“Directors”

the acquisition of the Sale Shares and the related shareholders’
loans by DSE from DIL pursuant to the terms of the Sale and
Purchase Agreement (including the Contractual Arrangements);

has the meaning given to it by the Listing Rules;

the board of Directors;

the British Virgin Islands;

the circular of the Company dated 16 September 2008;

CITIC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited, a substantial shareholder
holding approximately 29% interest in the Company;

CITIC Pacific Limited W{HEHFEEHFMRALT, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, the shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange;

completion of the Acquisition;
has the meaning given to it by the Listing Rules;
the consideration for the Acquisition;

contractual arrangements with the registered owners of
Guangzhou Guangbao, Guangzhou Junjia and Foshan Junan
(if applicable) that are implemented by the DCH Group, the
details of which are set out in the section headed “Contractual
Arrangements” of this Circular;

the agreements for the Contractual Arrangements, the details of
which are set out in the section headed “Contractual
Arrangements” of this Circular;

DCH Holdings and its subsidiaries, or, where the context so
requires, any of them (as defined under the Listing Rules);

Dah Chong Hong Holdings Limited KEBITHEBEBERAE], a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liabtlity, the
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, and a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company;

the directors of the Company;



DEFINITIONS

“DSE”

CGDIL”
“Established Group”
“FAW Toyota 4S

Company”

“FAW Toyota 4S
Group”

“FAW Toyota 4S
Shares”

“Financial Assistance”

“Foshan Junan”

“Gl'Ol.lp”

“Guangzhou Guangbao”

“Guangzhou Junjia”

“HK$”

Delight Star Enterprises Limited #i 2 E AR A, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of DCH Holdings and a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company;

Denker Investment Limited HEREHFM AT, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liabality;

Guangzhou Guangbao and Guangzhou Junjia (excluding any of
their respective subsidiaries and investments);

Strong Step Holdings Limited MHEHERAMRAT, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability;

FAW Toyota 45 Company and its subsidiaries;

issued ordinary shares of HK$!1.00 cach in the share capital of
FAW Toyota 4S5 Company;

(i) the granting of replacement guarantees after Completion in a
sum of not more than HK$80 million and (ii) the provision of
additional funding by DSE in a sum not to exceed HKS$100
million, the details of which are set out in the section headed
“The Sale and Purchase Agreement — Other Terms” of this
Circular;

IR LW HEFEHERBERRAA (Foshan Junan Toyota
Motors Sale and Service Limited), a company established in
the PRC with limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of FAW Toyota 45 Company;

the Company and its subsidiaries (as defined under the Listing
Rules), or, where the context so reguires, any of them (including
DCH Holdings);

BN ERYHAEHERFEERLT (Guangzhou Guangbao
Toyota Motors Sale and Service Limited), a company
established in the PRC with limited liability and an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of FAW Toyota 45 Company;

JE O B A R B E R H R B (Guangzhou Junjia Lexus
Motors Sale and Service Limited), a company established in the
PRC with limited liability and an indirect 55%-owned subsidiary
of Lexus 48 Company (the remaining 45% interests are directly
held by an independent third party);

Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong;




DEFINITIONS

“Hong Kong”

“Independent Board
Committee”

“Independent Financial

Adviser” or
“Commerzbank”

“Independent
Shareholder(s)”

“Latest Practicable
Date”

“Lexus 4S5 Company”

“Lexus 4S Group”

“Lexus 4S Shares”

“Listing Rules”

“Mr. Mak”
“PRC”

“Profit Paradise”

“RMB”

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC;

an independent committee of the Board, consisting of Hamilton
Ho Hau Hay, Alexander Reid Hamilton, Hansen Loh Chung
Hon and Norman Ho Hau Chong, all being independent non-
executive Directors;

Commerzbank AG, acting through its Hong Kong branch, a
licensed bank under the Banking Ordinance (Chapter 155 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and an authorized financial institution
under the SFO to conduct type 1 (dealing in securities), type 4
(advising on securities) and type 6 (advising on corporate
finance) regulated activities as set out in Schedule 5 to the
SFO, and is appointed as the independent financial adviser to the
Independent Board Committee and the Independent
Shareholders in relation to the Acquisition and the Financial
Assistance;

the independent shareholders of the Company, ie. the
Shareholders as no Sharcholder is required to abstain from
voting in respect of the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance;

9 September 2008, being the latest practicable date prior to the
printing of this Circular for the purpose of ascertaining certain
information contained in this Circular;

Star Partner Holdings Limited 5 #E#FBRAMRAE, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability;

Lexus 4S Company and its subsidiaries;

issued ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each in the share capital of
Lexus 45 Company;

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange;

Mr. Mak Hing Lung;
the People’s Republic of China,

Profit Paradise Investments Limited FEAEHEHRLFE, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability;

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC;




DEFINITIONS

“Sale and Purchase
Agreement”
“Sale Shares”

“SFO”

“Share(s)”
“Shareholder(s)”
“Stock Exchange”
“substantial
shareholder(s)”
“Sunny Linker”

“Target Companies™

“Target Group”

the sale and purchase agreement dated 26 August 2008 entered
into between DSE, DIL, DCH Holdings and Mr. Mak in relation
to the Acquisition;

49 FAW Toyota 45 Shares and 50 Lexus 4S Shares;

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the laws of Hong
Kong);

share(s) of HK$0.40 each in the share capital of the Company;
holders of the ordinary shares of the Company;
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited;

has the meaning given to it under the Listing Rules;

Sunny Linker Development Limited {£#3EHMRAF, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability;

collectively FAW Toyota 45 Company and Lexus 4§ Company;
and

collectively the FAW Toyota 48 Group and Lexus 4S Group and
“Target Group Company” and “Target Group Companies “shall
be construed accordingly.

Unless the context otherwise requires and for the purpose of illustration only, the
conversion rate of RMBI1.00 = HKS$1.14 is adopted.
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CITIC PACIFIC

CITIC Pacific Limited

HREEAERAA

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 00267)

Directors:

L.arry Yung Chi Kin (Chairman)

Henry Fan Hung Ling (Managing Director)
Peter Lee Chung Hing (Deputy Managing Director)
Carl Yung Ming Jie (Deputy Managing Director)
Leslie Chang Li Hsien { Deputy Managing Director)
Vernon Francis Moore (Executive Director)

Li Shilin { Executive Director)

Liu Jifu ( Executive Director)

Chau Chi Yin { Executive Director)

Milton Law Ming To {Executive Director)
Wang Ande {Executive Director)

Kwok Man Leung ( Executive Director)

Willie Chang*

Hamilton Ho Hau Hay**

Alexander Reid Hamilton**

Hansen Loh Chung Hon**

Norman Ho Hau Chong**

André Desmarais*

Chang Zhenming*

Peter Kruyt®

* Non-executive Director
**  Independent non-executive Director
# Alternate Director to André Desmarais

To the Shareholders,

Dear Sir or Madam,

Registered Office:
32nd Floor

CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central

Hong Kong

16 September 2008

DISCLOSEABLE AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION
ACQUISITION OF A 49% INTEREST IN FAW TOYOTA 4S COMPANY AND

A 50% INTEREST IN LEXUS 4S COMPANY

AND THE RELATED SHAREHOLDERS’ LOANS

—5_
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I. INTRODUCTION

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 26 August 2008 in
respect of the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance.

On 26 August 2008, DSE (a wholly-owned subsidiary of DCH Holdings and a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company) and DCH Holdings entered into the Sale and
Purchase Agreement with DIL and Mr. Mak, pursuant to which DSE (or its nominee)
agreed to purchase and DIL agreed to sell 49% and 50% equity interests in FAW Toyota 45
Company and Lexus 4§ Company, respectively, and the related shareholders’ loans for a
total consideration of HK$143,716,000. Upon Completion, DSE will have a 50% economic
interest in each of the Target Companies (i.e. FAW Toyota 4S8 Company and Lexus 45
Company).

As at the Latest Practicable Date, nine wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, a
closely allied group of the shareholders of DCH Holdings, were together beneficially
interested in 1,018,800,000 shares representing approximately 56.67% of the issued share
capital of DCH Holdings.

The purpose of this Circular is to provide you with details of the Acquisition and the
Financial Assistance, the recommendations of the Independent Board Committee and the
advice of the Independent Financial Adviser in respect of the Acquisition and the Financial
Assistance.

II. DETAILS OF THE TRANSACTION

The Sale and Purchase Agreement

Date: 26 August 2008
Parties:
(1} Purchaser: DSE (a wholly-owned subsidiary of DCH Holdings and

a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company)
(2) Seller: DIL
(3) Purchaser’s Guarantor: DCH Holdings
(4) Seller’s Guarantor: Mr. Mak

Assets to be acquired:

49 FAW Toyota 4S Shares, representing 49% of the entire issued share capital of
FAW Toyota 45 Company and 50 Lexus 45 Shares, representing 50% of the entire
issued share capital of Lexus 458 Company and the related shareholders’ loans. Upon
Completion, DSE will have a 50% economic interest in each of the Target Companies
based on the understanding that they will each be a joint venture company.
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The Target Companies are DIL’s holding vehicles for its interests in the businesses
relating to the provision of vehicles sales, spare parts, maintenance services and
customer survey services in respect of the “FAW Toyota” brand in Guangzhou and
Foshan, the PRC and “Lexus” brand in Guangzhou, the PRC.

The major assets of FAW Toyota 45 Company are its 100% interests in each of
Guangzhou Guangbao (which is held through the Contractual Arrangements (as
described below)) and Foshan Junan (which may be held through the Contractual
Arrangements), and are engaged in the provision of the above services in respect of the
“FAW Toyota” brand. Foshan Junan was established on 7 August 2007 and only
commenced its operations since December 2007. DIL and Mr, Mak have undertaken to
procure the establishment or acquisition at reasonable cost of two additional
dealerships in respect of the “FAW Toyota” brand in the PRC by Guangzhou
Guangbao (or such other entities as the parties may agree) by 31 December 2010.
Guangzhou Guangbao is already in the process of acquiring interests in one of such
additional dealership.

The major asset of Lexus 4S Company is its 55% interests in Guangzhou Junjia,
which is held through the Contractual Arrangements and is engaged in the provision of
the above services in respect of the “Lexus” brand.

Consideration:
The Consideration is in the amount of HK$143,716,000.

The Consideration was determined after arm’s length negotiation between the
parties having regard to the (i) financial track record of the Established Group; (i1) net
asset value of the Established Group as at Completion of not less than HK$63,786,420;
(iii) set up costs and future prospects of a newly completed dealership, Foshan Junan;
(iv) establishment or acquisition of two additional dealerships in respect of the “FAW
Toyota” brand in the PRC as undertaken by DIL and Mr. Mak; and (v) gocdwill and
future prospects of the Target Group, taking into account the possibility of the Target
Group to expand and to acquire additional dealerships in the future, and
HKS$102,676,000 was attributed to (i) and (ii) above and HK$41,040,000 was
attributed to (iii), (iv} and (v) above.

The Consideration will be funded by internal resources of DCH Holdings.
Payment Terms:
The Consideration will be payable by DSE in the following manner:

(a) a deposit of HK$42,750,000 has been paid upon signing of the Sale and
Purchase Agreement;
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(b)

(c)

an amount equal to the Consideration minus (i) any outstanding receivables
due to the Target Group from DIL, Mr. Mak and/or their respective
associates as at Completion (if any) and (ii) the deposit, will be payable in
cash upon Completion; and

the amount equal to the outstanding receivables mentioned in (b) above (if
any) will be payable to DIL to satisfy such receivables due to the Target
Group.

The outstanding receivables amounted to approximately HK$30,000,000 as at 31
July 2008.

If Completion does not take place for any reason and the Sale and Purchase
Agreement is terminated, the deposit (together with accrued interest on it} will be
refunded by DIL to DSE within 30 days after the termination.

Conditions:

Completion is conditional on:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(M

all necessary consents or approvals required of the holding company of DCH
Holdings (i.e. the Company), if any, under the Listing Rules for the Sale and
Purchase Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder having
been obtained;

all necessary consents or approvals required of the holding company of DSE
(i.e. DCH Holdings), if any, under the Listing Rules for the Sale and
Purchase Agreement and the transactions contemplated thercunder having
been obtained;

any regulatory approval and third party consents (including but not limited
to the consent of relevant automobile manufacturers) required of DIL for the
Acquisition having been obtained;

the completion of the reorganisation of the Target Group (including,
amongst others, the entering into of the Contractual Arrangements
Agreements},

DSE undertaking a financial due diligence review of the Target Group and
being reasonably satisfied with such review in all material aspects;

there being no material adverse change or development (including a
prospective change or development), in the position or condition, financial
or otherwise, of the Target Group Companies or any of them, or in their or
its earnings, business, assets or prospects prior to Completion; and
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(g) the warranties given as at the date of the Sale and Purchase Agreement and
immediately prior to Completion remaining true, accurate and not
misleading in all material respects.

In the event that any of the conditions has been not satisfied {(or waived) on or
before 30 September 2008 or such other later date as may be agreed by the parties, the
Sale and Purchase Agreement will immediately terminate and the deposit {together
with accrued interest on it) will be refunded to DSE.

Completion:

Completion shall take place on the fifth business day after all the conditions being
satisfied or waived.

Upon Completion, DSE will hold 49% and 50% of the entire issued share capitals
of FAW Toyota 45 Company and Lexus 4S Company, respectively, and a 50%
economic interest in each of the Target Companies. As DSE will have an overriding
casting vote which could be exercised by DSE at the meetings of the board of directors
of the Target Companies, the Target Group is expected to be accounted for as
subsidiaries of the Company and DCH Holdings upon Completion.

A confirmation from the reporting accountants of DCH Holdings has been
obtained confirming that, upon Completion, Guangzhou Guangbao and Guangzhou
Junjia will become subsidiaries of Sunny Linker and Profit Paradise, respectively.

Other Terms:

Upoen Completion, the parties shall enter into a sharecholders’ agreement for each
of the Target Companies. The board of directors of each of the Target Companies shall
consist of equal nominated members, of which DSE shall have a casting vote.

DIL and Mr. Mak have guaranteed that the net profits for the Established Group
shall be no less than RMB12.9 million (approximately HK$14.7 million) for the period
from 1 August 2008 to 31 December 2008 and no less than RMB31.0 million
(approximately HKS$35.3 million) for each of the two financial years ending 31
December 2010. 50% of any such shortfall shall be indemnified by DIL and Mr. Mak
to DSE on a dollar-to-dollar basis in cash. During these periods, it was agreed that Mr.
Mak will remain as the responsible person for the management and operation of the
Target Group.

The Company will publish an announcement in accordance with Rule 2.07C of the
Listing Rules if the net profits for the Established Group are less than the amount
guaranteed and will include details in the Company’s next annual report. The
independent non-executive Directors will also provide an opinion in the Company’s
next annual report as to whether Mr. Mak has fulfilled his obligations under the
guarantee if this is the case.



LETTER FROM THE BOARD

The Target Companies, amongst others, shall have a right of first refusal to invest
at cost in respect of any new investment opportunity offered to Mr. Mak and his
affiliates to invest in any business engaged in the provision of vehicles sales, spare
parts, maintenance services and customer survey scrvices to manufacturers or suppliers
in respect of the “Lexus” and “FAW Toyota” brands in the PRC, and for any other
brands in the PRC, DIL and Mr. Mak will notify DSE prior to such investments being
made, as long as DSE remains a shareholder of either Target Company. DSE shall
have a right of first refusal to acquire any disposal of other existing businesses already
owned and operated by Mr. Mak or DIL in the PRC, at a reasonable price to be
offered by DIL or Mr. Mak. Such price shall be equal to or lower than the price to be
offered by DIL or Mr. Mak to a prospective purchaser if DSE refuses to acquire such
existing businesses.

DIL and Mr. Mak have undertaken to DSE, and DSE and DCH Holdings have
undertaken to DIL, that they shall not, amongst others, carry on or have an interest in
businesses engaged in the provision of vehicles sales, spare parts, maintenance services
and customer survey services in respect of the “FAW Toyota” brand in Guangzhou
and Foshan, the PRC and “Lexus” brand in Guangzhou, the PRC or any other
business as may be carried on by the Target Group from time to time, during a term of
three years from the date of which DIL and DSE (as the case may be) ceases to be a
shareholder of the relevant Target Company.

The existing guarantees in favour of the Target Companies shall be replaced by
replacement guarantees to be provided by DSE and DIL after Completion. It is
expected that such replacement guarantees will not exceed HK$80 million. Each of
DIL and DSE shall contribute to additional funding needs of the Target Companies by
way of equity or loan in proportion to their existing interests in the Target Companies
for working capital purpose (including the establishment or acquisition of two
additional dealerships in respect of the “FAW Toyota” brand in the PRC). It is
expected that these additional funding to be contributed by DSE will not exceed
HKS$104 million.

- 10 -
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Structure charts of the Target Groups upon Completion:

FAW Toyota 4S Group

DSE (or its nominee) DIL

49% 51%

FAW Toyota 45 Company

100%

BVI incorporated company

100%

Sunny Linker

i 100% (through
i Contractual Arrangements)

Guangzhou Guangbao

100% ( Note)

Foshan Junan

Note: Up to a 6.66% interest in Foshan Junan will be held by Guangzhou Guangbao either through its
wholly-owned subsidiary or through the Contractual Arrangements. Please refer to the section
headed “Contractual Arrangements — Foshan Junan™ for details.

11 -
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Lexus 4S5 Group

DSE (or its nominee) DIL

50% 50%

Lexus 45 Company

100%

BVI incorporated company

100%

Profit Paradise

55% (through
Contractual Arrangements)

Guangzhou Junjia

Contractual Arrangements
Guangzhou Guanghao

Upon Completion, Guangzhou Guangbao, one of the major assets of FAW
Toyota 48 Company, is to be held as to 51% by Mr. Mak and 49% by a wholly-owned
subsidiary of DCH Holdings in the PRC (the “DCH Subsidiary™) for the benefits of
FAW Toyota 4S8 Group through a series of Contractual Arrangements implemented by
FAW Toyota 45 Group prior to the conversion of Guangzhou Guangbao into a
wholly-owned foreign enterprise, the conversion of which is expected to take a certain
period of time. Such Contractual Arrangements are fundamental to the legal structure
and business operations of the FAW Toyota 45 Group and are specifically designed for
the purpose of allowing FAW Toyota 4S Group (a) to enjoy all the economic benefits
of Guangzhou Guangbao, to exercise management control over the operations of
Guangzhou Guangbao and to prevent leakages of assets and values to the registered
owners of Guangzhou Guangbao; and (b) to acquire, if and when permitted by PRC
law, the equity interests in Guangzhou Guangbao at the minimum transfer price

12 -
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permitted under the relevant PRC laws and regulations. Guangzhou Guangbao is in
the process of converting into a company which can be wholly owned by foreign
enterprises and upon completion of such conversion, the Contractual Arrangements
for Guangzhou Guangbao will be converted into direct equity interests to be directly
owned by Sunny Linker, the immediate holding company of Guangzhou Guangbao.

Brief summary of the Contractual Arrangements Agreements for Guangzhou
Guangbao are as follows:

(i) Shareholding

Each of Mr. Mak and DCH Subsidiary will be registered as the legal
shareholders of Guangzhou Guangbao.

(ii) Management

Each of Mr. Mak and DCH Subsidiary shall consult and follow the
instructions of Sunny Linker, when he/it is involved in the management and
exercise of its right as the shareholder of Guangzhou Guangbao, such rights shall
include and without limitation to voting at the shareholders or board meetings
(through their respective nominated director), appointing directors and making
decisions in respect of the operation and financial issues of Guangzhou
Guangbao.

(iii) Dividends

All the dividends, capital bonus or any other assets distributed to Mr. Mak
or DCH Subsidiary by Guangzhou Guangbao shall be transferred to Sunny
Linker or any other party nominated by Sunny Linker at nil censideration within
three working days after such distribution.

(iv) Option to purchase

Sunny Linker shall have an option to purchase (or nominate a third party to
purchase) all the interests of Mr. Mak and DCH Subsidiary in Guangzhou
Guangbao at the minimum transfer price permitted under the relevant PRC laws
and regulations. Where the PRC laws or regulations require the consideration for
such transfer to be at the market value, the said consideration shall be transferred
to Sunny Linker (or any third party nominated by Sunny Linker) at nil
consideration within three business days after Mr. Mak or DCH Subsidiary (as
the case may be) received such payment. Upon exercising such option, the
Company and DCH Holdings shall comply with the Listing Rules as appropriate.

{v) Option to pledge

Sunny Linker shall have an option to request Mr. Mak and DCH Subsidiary
to pledge all their respective shareholding in Guangzhou Guangbao to Sunny
Linker or any other party nominated by Sunny Linker, so as to guarantee the

- 13-



LETTER FROM THE BOARD

performance of obligations of Mr. Mak or DCH Subsidiary (as the case may be)
and Guangzhou Guangbao and the performance of obligations under any other
agreements which may be entered into between Mr. Mak or DCH Subsidiary (as
the case may be), Guangzhou Guangbao and Sunny Linker or any other party
nominated by Sunny Linker. In the event that Sunny Linker exercises such rights,
Mr. Mak or DCH Subsidiary (as the case may be) and/or Guangzhou Guangbao
shall assist unconditionally and enter into a relevant share pledge agreement with
Sunny Linker or any other party nominated by Sunny Linker.

(vi) Option to enter into management, consultancy agreements

Sunny Linker shall have an option to request Mr. Mak and DCH Subsidiary
to instruct Guangzhou Guangbao to enter into any exclusive service or
consultancy agreement with Sunny Linker or any other party nominated by
Sunny Linker in respect of management, technical or other types of services, and
Sunny Linker or any other party nominated by Sunny Linker shall provide the
relevant service to Guangzhou Guangbao. The relevant service fees shall be paid
by Guangzhou Guangbao, the amount of which shall be solely determined by
Sunny Linker or any other party nominated by Sunny Linker and may be adjusted
from time to time.

Upon entering into of such management or consultancy agreement, the
Company and DCH Holdings shall comply with the Listing Rules as appropriate.

Foshan Junan

As at the date of the announcement dated 26 August 2008, a 93.34% interest in
Foshan Junan is directly held by Guangzhou Guangbao and the remaining 6.66%
interest is held by an individual (the “Individual”) who is an independent third party.
Such 6.66% interest will be transferred to Guangzhou Guangbao and/or its wholly-
owned subsidiary before Completion. If the said transfer cannot be completed before
Completion due to the restrictions of the local PRC laws and regulations, Guangzhou
Guangbao will acquire the maximum equity interests in Foshan Junan permitted under
the local PRC laws and regulations and the remaining interests in Foshan Junan will
either continue to be held by the Individual or to be transferred to a wholly-owned
subsidiary of DCH Holdings in the PRC (the “PRC Subsidiary”). In any event, the
remaining interests will be held by the Individual or the PRC Subsidiary for the
benefits of FAW Toyota 4S5 Group through a series of Contractual Arrangements
implemented by FAW Toyota 48 Group.

Such Contractual Arrangements are fundamental to the legal structure and
business operations of the FAW Toyota 4S Group and are specifically designed for the
purpose of allowing FAW Toyota 45 Group (a) to enjoy all the economic benefits of
Foshan Junan, to exercise management control over the operations of Foshan Junan
and to prevent leakages of assets and values to the registered owner of Foshan Junan;
and (b) to acquire, if and when permitted by PRC law, the equity interests in Foshan
Junan at the minimum transfer price permitted under the relevant PRC laws and
regulations.

- 14 -
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Brief summary of the Contractual Arrangements Agreements for Foshan Junan
are as follows:

(i) Shareholding

The Individual or the PRC Subsidiary will be registered as the legal
shareholder of Foshan Junan.

(ii) Management

The Individual or the PRC Subsidiary (as the case may be) shall consult and
follow the instructions of Guangzhou Guangbao, when she/it is involved in the
management and exercise of her/its right as the shareholder of Foshan Junan,
such rights shall include and without limitation to voting at the shareholders or
board meetings (through their respective nominated director), appointing
directors and making decisions in respect of the operation and financial issues
of Foshan Junan.

(tii) Dividends

All the dividends, capital bonus or any other assets distributed to the
Individual or the PRC Subsidiary (as the case may be) by Foshan Junan shall be
transferred to Guangzhou Guangbao or any other party nominated by
Guangzhou Guangbao at nil consideration within three working days after such
distribution.

(iv) Option to purchase

Guangzhou Guangbao shall have an option to purchase (or nominate a third
party to purchase) all the interests of the Individual or the PRC Subsidiary (as the
case may be) in Foshan Junan at the minimum transfer price permitted under the
relevant PRC laws and regulations. Where the PRC laws or regulations require
the consideration for such transfer to be at the market value, the said
consideration shall be transferred to Guangzhou Guangbao (or any third party
nominated by Guangzhou Guangbao) at nil consideration within three business
days after the Individual or the PRC Subsidiary (as the case may be) received such
payment. Upon exercising such option, the Company and DCH Holdings shall
comply with the Listing Rules as appropriate.

(v) Option to pledge

Guangzhou Guangbao shall have an option to request the Individual or the
PRC Subsidiary (as the case may be) to pledge all her/its shareholding in Foshan
Junan to Guangzhou Guangbao or any other party nominated by Guangzhou
Guangbao, so as to guarantee the performance of obligations of the Individual or
the PRC Subsidiary (as the case may be) and Foshan Junan and the performance
of obligations under any other agreements which may be entered into between the
Individual or the PRC Subsidiary (as the case may be), Foshan Junan and

— 15 -
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Guangzhou Guangbao or any other party nominated by Guangzhou Guangbao.
In the event that Guangzhou Guangbao exercises such rights, the Individual or
the PRC Subsidiary (as the case may be} and/or Foshan Junan shall assist
unconditionally and enter into a relevant share pledge agreement with Guangzhou
Guangbao or any other party nominated by Guangzhou Guangbao.

(vi) Option to enter into management, consultancy agreements

Guangzhou Guangbao shall have an option to request the Individual or the
PRC Subsidiary (as the case may be) to instruct Foshan Junan to enter into any
exclusive service or consultancy agreement with Guangzhou Guangbao or any
other party nominated by Guangzhou Guangbao in respect of management,
technical or other types of services, and Guangzhou Guangbao or any other party
nominated by Guangzhou Guangbao shall provide the relevant service to Foshan
Junan. The relevant service fees shall be paid by Foshan Junan, the amount of
which shall be solely determined by Guangzhou Guangbao, or any other party
nominated by Guangzhou Guangbao and may be adjusted from time to time.

Upon entering into of such management or consultancy agreement, the
Company and DCH Holdings shall comply with the Listing Rules as appropriate.

Guangzhou Junjia

Guangzhou Junjia, the major asset of Lexus 4S Company, is also held by Mr. Mak
for the benefits of Lexus 4S Group through the Contractual Arrangements. Such
Contractual Arrangements are fundamental to the legal structure and business
operations of the Lexus 4S5 Group and are specifically designed for the purpose of
allowing Lexus 4S Group (a) to enjoy all the economic benefits of Guangzhou Junjia
held by Mr. Mak, to exercise management control over the operations of Guangzhou
Junjia and to prevent leakages of assets and values to the registered owner of
Guangzhou Junja (i.e. Mr. Mak); and (b) to acquire, if and when permitted by PRC
law, the equity interests in Guangzhou Junjia at the minimum transfer price permitted
under the relevant PRC laws and regulations. It is intended that Guangzhou Junjia will
be converted into a sino-foreign equity joint venture company which is expected to
take a certain period of time and upon completion of such conversion, the Contractual
Arrangements for Guangzhou Junjia will be converted into direct equity interests to be
directly owned by Profit Paradise, the immediate holding company of Guangzhou
Junjia.

Brief summary of the Contractual Arrangements Agreements for Mr. Mak’s 55%
interest in Guangzhou Junjia are as follows:

(i) Shareholding

Mr. Mak will be registered as the legal shareholder of Guangzhou Junjia.

—16 -
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(ii) Management

Mr. Mak shall consult and follow the instructions of Profit Paradise, when he
is involved in the management and exercise of his right as the shareholder of
Guangzhou Junjia, such rights shall include and without limitation to voting at
the shareholders or board meetings (through his nominated director), appointing
directors and making decisions in respect of the operation and financial issues of
Guangzhou Junjia.

(iii) Dividends

All the dividends, capital bonus or any other assets distributed to Mr. Mak
by Guangzhou Junjia shall be transferred to Profit Paradise or any other party
nominated by Profit Paradise at nil consideration within three working days after
such distribution,

(iv} Option to purchase

Profit Paradise shall have an option to purchase {(or nominate a third party to
purchase) all the interests of Mr. Mak in Guangzhou Junjia at the minimum
transfer price permitted under the relevant PRC laws and regulations. Where the
PRC laws or regulations require the consideration for such transfer to be at the
market value, the said consideration shall be transferred to Profit Paradise (or any
third party nominated by Profit Paradise) at nil consideration within three
business days after Mr. Mak received such payment. Upon exercising such option,
the Company and DCH Holdings shall comply with the Listing Rules as
appropriate.

(v) Option to pledge

Profit Paradise shall have an option to request Mr. Mak to pledge all his
shareholding in Guangzhou Junjia to Profit Paradise or any other party
nominated by Profit Paradise, so as to guarantee the performance of
obligations of Mr. Mak and Guangzhou Junjia and the performance of
obligations under any other agreements which may be entered into between Mr.
Mak, Guangzhou Junjia and Profit Paradise or any other party nominated by
Profit Paradise. In the event that Profit Paradise exercises such rights, Mr. Mak
and/or Guangzhou Junjia shall assist unconditionally and enter into a relevant
share pledge agreement with Profit Paradise or any other party nominated by
Profit Paradise.

(vi) Option to enter into management, consultancy agreements

Profit Paradise shall have an option to request Mr. Mak to instruct
Guangzhou Junjia to enter into any exclusive service or consultancy agreement
with Profit Paradise or any other party nominated by Profit Paradise in respect of
management, technical or other types of services, and Profit Paradise or any other
party nominated by Profit Paradise shall provide the relevant service to
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Guangzhou Junjia. The relevant service fees shall be paid by Guangzhou Junjia,
the amount of which shall be solely determined by Profit Paradise or any other
party nominated by Profit Paradise and may be adjusted from time to time.

Upon entering into of such management or consultancy agreement, the
Company and DCH Holdings shall comply with the Listing Rules as appropriate.

{vii} Compensation

In the event of any breach of the Contractual Arrangements Agreement for
Guangzhou Junjia by Mr. Mak, Mr. Mak shall pay a compensation to Profit
Paradise. The amount of the compensation shall be the higher of (1) 55% of the
net asset value of Guangzhou Junjia at the time of the breach or the fair market
value of 55% of the registered capital in Guangzhou Junjia (whichever is higher),
which shall be determined by an independent third party valuer appointed by
Profit Paradise; and (i1) any actual loss incurred by Profit Paradise.

The PRC legal advisers of DCH Holdings have issued a legal opinion confirming
that the Contractual Arrangements Agreements do not contravene any existing PRC
laws, rules and regulations. However, there can be no assurance that the relevant
governmental authority will not challenge the wvalidity of the Contractual
Arrangements or the governmental authorities in the PRC will not promulgate laws
or regulations to invalidate such Contractual Arrangements in the future.

Information about the Target Group

As at 31 July 2008, the unaudited net asset value attributable to Guangzhou
Guangbao, Foshan Junan and Guangzhou Junjia was approximately HK$36.5 million,
HKS$7.4 million and HK$89.4 million, respectively. Foshan Junan commenced its
operations since December 2007,

For the financial years ended 31 December 2006 and 2007, the audited net profits
(both before and after taxation and extraordinary items) attributable to Guangzhou
Guangbao, Foshan Junan and Guangzhou Junjia were approximately as follows:

Audited net profits/(loss) Audited net profits/(loss)

before taxation and after taxation and
extraordinary items extraordinary items
2006 2007 2006 2007
( HKS million) ( HKS million)
Guangzhou Guangbao 3.3 9.5 0.6 4.2
Foshan Junan
{operations
commenced since
December 2007) — (0.3) — (0.3)
Guangzhou Junjia 30.7 75.9 19.0 51.7
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The investment amount of Guangzhou Guangbao, Foshan Junan and Guangzhou
Junjia as at 31 July 2008 by DIL and Mr. Mak was approximately HK$87 million,
comprising (1) the total amount of the registered capitals of Guangzhou Guangbao,
Foshan Junan and Guangzhou Junjia; and (ii) the shareholders loans to these
companies as at 31 July 2008.

Reasons for and Benefits of the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance

The directors of DCH Holdings consider that the Target Group, as managed and
operated by Mr. Mak, has a competitive edge over its competitors in the relevant
brands due to its long established history of over 10 years, its financial track record
and Mr. Mak’s standing in this industry in the PRC and Hong Kong. Of the Target
Group, to the best knowledge of the directors of DCH Holdings, Guangzhou
Guangbao was a top 10 dealership in “FAW Toyota” brand in terms of sales in the
PRC for the year 2007 and Guangzhou Junjia was named the top 3 outstanding
dealerships in the “Lexus” brand in the PRC for the year 2007. In April 200§, DCH
Holdings and Mr. Mak formed two joint venture companies to provide services
relating to vehicles sales, spare parts, maintenance services and customer survey
services in respect of the “Lexus” brand in Shanghai and Ningbo, the PRC.

The transactions contemplated under the Sale and Purchase Agreement do not
only allow DCH Group to acquire the Target Group (including Guangzhou
Guangbao, Guangzhou Junjia and a newly completed dealership, Foshan Junan).
They also provide an opportunity for DCH Group te share in the interests of two
additional dealerships in respect of the “FAW Toyota” brand in the PRC to be
established or acquired. They also further enhance the strategic partnership with Mr.
Mak, provide a good opportunity to strengthen DCH Group’s multi-brand portfolio
and allow DCH Group to further develop motor vehicle dealing business in the PRC.
Furthermore, the directors of DCH Holdings believe that there is an increasing
demand for high-end and luxurious products in the PRC and leveraging on the famous
and established brand-names, “FAW Toyota” and “Lexus”, the transactions
contemplated under the Sale and Purchase Agreement also enable the DCH Group
to benefit from this increasing demand in the PRC automobile industry.

The directors of DCH Holdings (including the independent non-executive
directors of DCH Holdings) consider that the Acquisition and the Financial
Assistance are on normal commercial terms, in the ordinary and usual course of
business, fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of DCH Hoidings
as a whole.

Noting and considering the reasons above, the Directors take the view that the
Acquisition and the Financial Assistance, which are beneficial to a subsidiary of the
Company (i.e. DCH Holdings), will also be beneficial to the Company and increase the
Group’s development and competitiveness in general. The Directors (including the
independent non-executive Directors whose views have been set cut in this Circular
after taken into consideration the advice of the Independent Financial Adviser)
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consider that the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance are on normal commercial
terms, in the ordinary and usual course of business, fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Effect on the Earnings and Assets and Liabilities of the Company in relation to the
Acquisition and the Financial Assistance

The acquisitions shall not have significant financial impact on the Company.
General

The Group is engaged in a diversified range of business, including manufacturing
of special steel, iron ore mining, property development and investment, basic
infrastructure (such as power generation, aviation, tunnels and communications) and
marketing and distribution.

DCH Group is a diversified business conglomerate in motor vehicles sales, motor
vehicle related business and services, sales of food and consumer products, as well as
logistics services, supported by integrated distribution platforms and a well-established
base and network in the PRC, Hong Kong and Macao.

DIL, founded by Mr. Mak in 1992, is one of the companies operated by Mr. Mak
and which is engaged in motor business, including businesses relating to the provision
of vehicles sales, spare parts, maintenance services and customer survey services in the
PRC.

Listing Rules Implications

As at the Latest Practicable Date, nine wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company, a closely allied group of the shareholders of DCH Holdings, were
together beneficially interested in 1,018,800,000 shares representing approximately
56.67% of the issued share capital of DCH Holdings.

DIL is a substantial shareholder and Mr. Mak is a director of various subsidiaries
of DCH Holdings and accordingly, DIL and Mr. Mak are connected persons of the
Company. As a result, the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance also constitute
connected transactions for the Company under the Listing Rules. As a relevant
percentage ratio under the Listing Rules in respect of the Acquisition and the Financial
Assistance are more than 5% but less than 25% for the Company, the Acquisition and
the Financial Assistance also constitute discloseable transactions for the Company.
The Acquisition and the Financial Assistance are subject to the reporting,
announcement and Independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

—-20 -



LETTER FROM THE BOARD

Independent Shareholders’ Approval

According to Rule 14A.43 of the Listing Rules, where independent shareholders’
approval of a connected transaction is required, under certain conditions the Stock
Exchange may accept that approval of the independent shareholders be given by a
resolution in writing, instead of one passed at a shareholders’ meeting. Those
conditions are that: (a) no shareholder of the listed issuer is required to abstain from
voting if the Company were to convene a general meeting for the approval of the
connected transaction; and (b) the written independent shareholders’ approval has
been obtained from a shareholder or closely allied group of sharcholders who
(together) hold more than 50% in nominal value of the securities giving the right to
attend and vote at the general meeting to approve the connected transaction.

As at 3 September 2008, the following persons are closely allied group of the
Shareholders and together beneficially interested in 1,110,746,285 Shares, representing
approximately 50.62% of the issued share capital of the Company:

Percentage of

total issued share

capital of the

No. of Shares Company as of

beneficially 3 September

Name of beneficial shareholder interested 2008

CITIC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited

(through its wholly-owned subsidiaries) 643,611,285 29.33%
The Chairman and the Managing Director

of the Company having an interest in the

Shares 467,135,000 21.29%

TOTAL 1,110,746,285 50.62%

Each of DIL and Mr. Mak has confirmed that it/he has no interest in any share of
the Company giving the right to attend and vote at general meetings of the Company.

Since, to the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Shareholders is required
to abstain from voting on the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance, written
approvals of the above Shareholders have been obtained for the purpose of approving
the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance in lieu of an approval from the
Independent Shareholders of the Company at a shareholders’ meeting pursuant to
Rule 14A.43 of the Listing Rules.

An application has been made by the Company to the Stock Exchange for, and the
Stock Exchange has granted to the Company, a waiver from strict compliance with the
requirement to hold a shareholders’ meeting to approve the Acquisition and the
Financial Assistance on the basis of a written independent shareholders’ approval
given in accordance with Rule 14A .43 of the Listing Rules.
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IIl. RECOMMENDATION

Your attention is drawn to the letter from the Independent Board Committee set out
on pages 23 to 24 in this Circular which contains its recommendation to the Independent
Shareholders in relation to the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance.

Your attention is also drawn to the letter from the Independent Financial Adviser, for
incorporation into this Circular, which contains its advice to the Independent Board
Committee and the Independent Shareholders as regards the Acquisition and the Financial
Assistance and the principal factors and reasons considered by it.

Having noted and considered the reasons stated under the section headed “Reasons for
and Benefits of the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance”, the Directors (including the
independent non-executive Directors whose views have been set out in this Circular after
taken into consideration the advice of the Independent Financial Adviser) consider that the
Acquisition and the Financial Assistance are on normal commercial terms, in the ordinary
and usual course of business, fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as
a whole. Accordingly, the Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
recommend the Independent Shareholders to support, and if a physical shareholders’
meeting was to be held, to vote in favour of, the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance.

1V. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Your attention is also drawn to the general information set out in the appendix to this
Circular.

Yours faithfully,
By order of the Board
CITIC Pacific Limited

Larry Yung Chi Kin
Chairman
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CITIC PACIFIC
CITIC Pacific Limited

b A 46 B A R 4 W

{ Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

(Stock Code: 00267)
16 September 2008
To the Independent Shareholders,
Dear Sir or Madam,

DISCLOSEABLE AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION
ACQUISITION OF A 49% INTEREST IN FAW TOYOTA 4S COMPANY AND
A 50% INTEREST IN LEXUS 4S COMPANY
AND THE RELATED SHAREHOLDERS’ LOANS

We refer to the letter from the Board set out in the circular dated 16 September 2008
(the “Circular”) of which this letter forms part. Capitalised terms defined in the Circular
shall have the same meaning when used herein unless the context otherwise requires.

We have been appointed as the Independent Board Committee to consider the
Acquisition and the Financial Assistance and to advise the Independent Shareholders as to
the fairness and reasonableness of the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance and to
recommend whether or not the Independent Shareholders should approve the Acquisition
and the Financial Assistance. The Independent Financial Adviser has been appointed to
advise the Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders in relation to
the terms of the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance.

RECOMMENDATION

We wish to draw your attention to the letter from the Board and the letter from the
Independent Financial Adviser to the Independent Board Committee and the Independent
Shareholders which contains its advice to us in relation to the Acquisition and the Financial
Assistance as set out in the Circular.

Having taken into account principal factors and reasons considered by and the opinion
of the Independent Financial Adviser as stated in its letter of advice, we consider the terms
of the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance to be fair and reasonable so far as the
interests of the Independent Shareholders are concerned and to be in the interests of the
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Company and the Sharcholders as a whole. We therefore recommend the Independent
Shareholders to support, and if a physical shareholders’ meeting was to be held, to vote in
favour of, the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance.

— 24 —

Yours faithfully,
Independent Board Committee of
CITIC PACIFIC LIMITED
Hamilton Ho Hau Hay
Alexander Reid Hamilton
Hansen Loh Chung Hon
Norman Ho Hau Chong
Independent Non-executive Directors
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COMMERZBANK Mz

Commerzbank AG Hong Kong Branch
21st Floor, The Hong Kong Club Building

3A Chater Road, Central

Hong Kong

16 September 2008

To: the independent board committee and
the independent shareholders of the Company

Dear Sirs,

DISCLOSEABLE AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION
ACQUISITION OF A 49% INTEREST IN FAW TOYOTA 4S COMPANY AND
A 50% INTEREST IN LEXUS 4S COMPANY AND
THE RELATED SHAREHOLDERS’ LOANS

INTRODUCTION

We refer to our appointment as the independent financial adviser to advise the
Independent Board Committee and the Independent Sharcholders in respect of the terms of
the Acquisition (including the Financial Assistance), details of which, among other things,
are set out in the circular dated 16 September 2008 (the “Circular”), of which this letter
forms a part. Terms defined in the Circular shali have the same meanings when used in this
letter unless the context requires otherwise.

On 26 August 2008, DCH Holdings, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, DSE (as the purchaser) entered into the Sale and
Purchase Agreement with DIL (as the vendor) and Mr. Mak (as the guarantor). Pursuant to
the Sale and Purchase Agreement, DSE (or its nominee) will (i) acquire 49% of the issued
share capital of FAW Toyota 45 Company; (ii) acquire 50% of the issued share capital of
Lexus 45 Company; and (iii) accept the assignment of the shareholders’ loans owed by
FAW Toyota 45 Company and Lexus 45 Company to DIL and Mr. Mak (and/or their
respective associates) upon Completion, at the aggregate consideration of HK$143,716,000
(the “Consideration”)}. In addition, it is agreed that after Completion, DSE and DIL will
jointly provide (i) replacement guarantees in a sum of not more than HK$80.0 million for
purpose of replacing the existing guarantees in favour of FAW Toyota 4S5 Company and
Lexus 45 Company and (ii) additional funding to both FAW Toyota 45 Company and
Lexus 45 Company by way of equity or shareholders’ loans in an amount proportional to
their then interest in each of FAW Toyota 4S Company and Lexus 4S5 Company. It is
expected that such additional funding to be contributed by DCH Group will be not more
than HK$100.0 million. Furthermore, through the Contractual Arrangements, DSE will be
entitled to enjoy 50% economic interest in each of FAW Toyota 4S Company and Lexus 45
Company after Completion.
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By virtue of Mr. Mak and DIL being the director and substantial shareholder of
certain subsidiaries of DCH Holdings, respectively, and DCH Holdings is a non wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, Mr. Mak and DIL are both connected persons (as
defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company. Accordingly, the Acquisition (including
the Financial Assistance) constitutes a connected transaction for the Company. As the
relevant percentage ratios (as defined under the Listing Rules) in respect of the Acquisition
(including the Financial Assistance) are more than 5% but less than 25%, the Acquisition
(including the Financial Assistance) is also a discloseable and non-exempted connected
transaction for the Company which is subject to the reporting, announcement and
independent sharcholders” approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

As disclosed in the Circular, no Shareholder is required to abstain from voting in
relation to the relevant resolutions approving the Acquisition (including the Financial
Assistance). Given that a written approval from Shareholders (including the wholly-owned
subsidiaries of CITIC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited as well as the Chairman of the Board
and the Managing Director) who in aggregate hold 1,110,746,285 Shares, representing
approximately 50.62% of the issued share capital of the Company, has been obtained by the
Company approving the Acquisition (including the Financial Assistance) as at the Latest
Practicable Date, an application has been made by the Company to the Stock Exchange for
and the Stock Exchange has granted a waiver from strict compliance with the requirement
for the Company to hold a shareholders’ meeting in accordance with Rule 14A.43 of the
Listing Rules.

The Independent Board Committee, comprising all of the independent non executive
Directors, namely Mr. Hamilton Ho Hau Hay, Mr. Alexander Reid Hamilton, Mr. Hansen
Loh Chung Hon and Mr. Norman Ho Hau Chong, has been established to advise the
Independent Shareholders as to the fairness and reasonableness of the Acquisition
(including the Financial Assistance). We, Commerzbank AG Hong Kong Branch, have
been appointed as the independent financial adviser to advise the Independent Board
Committee and the Independent Shareholders on the Acquisition (including the Financial
Assistance) and the terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement as to whether (i) the
Acquisition (including the Financial Assistance) is conducted in the Company’s ordinary
and usual course of business and on normal commercial terms; and (i) the terms of the Sale
and Purchase Agreement are fair and reasonable and are in the interest of the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole.

In formulating our recommendation, we have relied on the information and facts
supplied to us by the Company and DCH Holdings. We have reviewed, among other things,
(1) the Circular; (ii) the Sale and Purchase Agreement; (iii) the relevant financial
information of the Target Group provided by DCH Holdings; (iv) the annual report (the
“DCH Annual Report™) of DCH Holdings covering the two years ended 31 December 2007
(“FY2006” and “FY2007”) and its interim results announcement (the “DCH Interim
Results”) covering the six months ended 30 June 2007 and 2008 (“1H2007” and “1H2008™),
respectively and (v) the annual report of the Company (the “Annual Report”) covering
FY2006 and FY2007 and its interim results announcement (the “Interim Results™) covering
IH2007 and 1H2008. We have assumed that all information, opinions and representations
contained or referred to in the Circular are true, complete and accurate in all material
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respects and we have relied on the same. Also, we have relied on the representations made
by the Directors and management of the Company that having made all reasonable
enquiries and careful decisions, and to the best of their information, knowledge and belief,
there is no other fact or representation or the omission of which would make any statement
contained in this Circular, including this letter, misleading. We have also assumed that all
information, statements and representations made or referred to in the Circular, which have
been provided to us by the Company, and for which it is wholly responsible, are true,
complete and accurate in all material respects at the time they were made and continue to be
so up to the date of despatch of the Circular.

We consider that we have (1) taken reasonable steps as required under Rule 13.80 of the
Listing Rules in obtaining all necessary information from the Company; and (ii) reviewed
sufficient information to enable us to reach an informed view regarding the Acquisition
(including the Financial Assistance) and to provide us with a reasonable basis for our
recommendation. We have no reason to suspect that any material facts have been omitted
or withheld, nor are we aware of any facts or circumstances, which would render the
information and the representations made to us untrue, inaccurate or misleading, We have
not, however, carried out any independent verification of the information provided by the
Company; nor have we conducted any independent in-depth investigation into the business
and affairs of the Company and DCH Holdings, and their respective associates.

PRINCIPAL FACTORS AND REASONS CONSIDERED

In formulating and giving our independent financial advice to the Independent Board
Committee and the Independent Shareholders in relation to the Acquisition (including the
Financial Assistance), we have taken into account the following principal factors:

1. Reasons for and benefit of the Acquisition
(i) Background of the Group

The Group is a business conglomerate engaged in a diversified range of business,
including manufacturing of special steel, iron ore mining, property development and
investment, basic infrastructure {such as power generation, aviation and tunnels). The
Company is the holding company of two listed companies in Hong Kong, namely
CITIC 1616 Holdings Limited and DCH Holdings.

DCH Group is a diversified business conglomerate principally engaged in three
major business segments, namely (i) the motor vehicle sales, motor vehicle related
business and services; (i) the sales of food and consumer products; and (iii) the
provision of logistics services, which are all supported by its integrated distribution
platforms and a well-established base and network in PRC, Hong Kong and Macao.
DCH Group has a long operating history of over 40 years in the automobile industry
and has established the “Dah Chong Hong” brand name with significant market
recognition on DCH Group’s trading and distribution of automobiles and the quality
of its services rendered. As at the Latest Practicable Date, DCH Group held
distributorship for 10 brands of motor vehicles in Hong Kong and Macao (including
Acura, Audi, Bentley, Honda, Isuzu, MAN, Nissan, Opel, Saab and UD Nissan
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Diesel). DCH Group is also the official distributor or dealer for 20 vehicle brands,
including Bentley, Bugatti, BJ Hyundai, DF Honda, DF Nissan, DF Peugeot, DF
Yuda Kia, FAW-Volkswagen Audi, FAW Mazda, FAW Toyota, GZ Honda, GZ
Toyota, Haima, Isuzu, Kia, Mercedes Benz, Nissan, Qingling, Renault and SGM
Buick and operates 35 4S outlets in 13 major cities in PRC, inciuding Guangzhou,
Kunming and Shanghai. DCH Group’s motor business has been the key contributor to
its financial performance and the related revenue accounted for approximately 59.4%,
63.4% and 67.1% of DCH Group’s total revenue for each FY2006, FY2007 and
1H2008, respectively. In recent years, DCH Group’s motor business in PRC recorded
substantial increase in revenue by approximately 43.0% from FY2006 to FY2007,
accounting for approximately 33.5% of DCH Group’s total revenue for FY2007 as
compared with 29.1% for FY2006.

Set out below is the summary of financial results of DCH Holdings for FY2006,
FY2007, 1H2007 and 1H2008, respectively:

FY20(6 FY2007 1H2007 1H2008
HKS’ HK$' HKS' HK§’
Million %  Million %  Million %  Million %
Turnover:
— Motor and motor
related 7,684 594 10,175 634 4,313 61.7 6,387 67.1
— Food and consumer
products 5,047  39./ 5,626 35.4 2,567 36.7 o001 315
— Logistics 144 1.1 176 1.1 85 1.2 92 1.0
— Others 51 0.4 73 0.4 24 0.4 39 0.4
Total 12,926 100.0 16,050 100.0 6,989 [00.0 9,519 100.0
Segment Profit
— Motor and motor
related 298 60.7 483  68.7 202 65.2 359 736
— Food and consumer
products 101 20.6 149 21.2 63 203 88 180
— Logistics 11 2.2 17 2.4 10 3.2 8 1.0
— Others 81 6.5 54 7.7 35 113 33 6.8
Total 491 100.0 703 100.0 310 100.0 488 1000

Source: The DCH Annual Report and the DCH Interim Results
(ii) Background of the Target Companies

FAW Toyota 4S Company and Lexus 45 Company are investment holding
companies and, through the Contractual Arrangements, are interested in 100% and
55% of Guangzhou Guangbao and Guangzhou Junjia, respectively. Guangzhou
Guangbao and Guangzhou Junjia, being the operating subsidiaries of FAW Toyota 48
Company and Lexus 4S Company, respectively, are engaged in the provision of vehicle
sales, spare parts, maintenance services and customer survey services in respect of the
“FAW Toyota” brand in Guangzhou and Foshan and the “Lexus” brand in
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Guangzhou, respectively. Guangzhou Guangbao also owns 100% equity interest in
Foshan Junan (of which up to 6.66% interest will be held through it wholly-owned
subsidiaries or accounted for through the Contractual Arrangements), a newly
established PRC company engaged in the above-mentioned motor related business in
respect of the “FAW Toyota” brand in Foshan and having commenced its operations
since December 2007. Both FAW Toyota 45 Company and Lexus 45 Company are
operated and managed by Mr. Mak.

As disclosed in the section headed “Letter from the Board” of the Circular,
Guangzhou Guangbao was awarded as one of the top 10 dealership in “FAW Toyota”
brand in terms of sales in PRC for 2007 and Guangzhou Junjia was named as one of
the top 3 outstanding dealerships in PRC for 2007. Both companies recorded
substantial improvement in their financial resuits for FY2007 which are summarised as
follows:

Guangzhou Guangzhou
Guanghao Foshan Junan Junjia
(HK$'000) (HK3'000) (HK$'000)
Net profits/(loss) after taxation
for the year ended
— FY2006 600 —* 19,000
— FY2007 4,200 (300)* 51,700
% increment 600.0%  Not Applicable* 172.1%
Net assets value as at 31 July
2008 36,500 7,400 89,400

*  Foshan Junan has commenced its operations only since December 2007
(iii) Automobile Industry in Guangzhou, PRC

Guangzhou City is one of the major economic cities in PRC. According to the
People’s Government of Guangzhou City, the regional gross domestic products of
Guangzhou City amounted to approximately RMB606.8 billion (equivalent to
approximately HK$691.8 billion) in 2006, up by approximately 47.4% from 2004 (or
a compound in annual growth rate (“CAGR”) of approximately 21.4%). The per
capita annual consumption expenditure of Guangzhou’s urban household also
increased from RMBI13,121 (equivalent to approximately HK$14,958) in 2004 to
RMBI15,445 (equivalent to approximately HKS$17,607) in 2006, representing an
increase of approximately 17.7% (or a CAGR of 8.5%). In addition, according to
the National Bureau of Statistics of PRC, the number of privately owned cars in
Guangdong Province increased from approximately 2.0 million in 2004 to
approximately 3.0 million in 2006, representing an increase of approximately 50.0%
{or a CAGR of approximately 22.5%).
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Having considered (i) the satisfactory past track records and achievements of the
Target Group; (ii) the growing weight of DCH Group’s motor business in PRC; (iii)
DCH Group’s development plan to strengthen its presence in PRC by forging strategic
partnership and exploring merger and acquisition opportunities; and (iv) the growing
economic condition in Guangzhou City and the continuous growing demand for motor
vehicles in Guangdong Province, we are of the view that the Acquisition will not only
provide DCH Group with an opportunity to acquire the Target Group (including
Guangzhou Guangbao, Guangzhou Junjia and Foshan Junan, a newly completed
dealership) and to obtain two additional dealerships in respect of the “FAW Toyota”
brand in PRC by December 2010 (as detailed below), but will also strengthen DCH
Group’s market position in motor vehicle sales business in Guangzhou and Foshan.
Accordingly, we consider that the Acquisition is in the ordinary and usual course of
business of DCH Group and the Group as a whole.

Major Terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement
Completion is subject to certain conditions precedents including, amongst others:

(i) obtaining the regulatory approval and third party consents (including but not
limited to the consent of relevant automobile manufacturers) required of DIL for
the Acquisition;

(i1) completion of the reorganisation of the Target Group (including, amongst others,
the entering into of the Contractual Arrangements Agreements for purpose of
ensuring DCH Group to be entitled to 50% economic benefit in each of FAW
Tovota 4S5 Company and Lexus 45 Company);

(iii) the financial due diligence review performed by DSE on the Target Group to
DCH Group’s satisfaction;

(iv) no material adverse change or development (including a prospective change or
development), in the position or condition, financial or otherwise, of the Target
Group, or their respective earnings, business, assets or prospects prior to
Completion; and

(v) the warranties given as at the date of the Sale and Purchase Agreement and
immediately prior to Completion remaining true, accurate and not misleading in
all material respects.

As advised by the management of the Company, Completion will take place in or

around September 2008.
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With a view to further safeguarding DCH Group’s economic benefit derived from the
future operations of Target Group. the Sale and Purchase Agreement has the following
additional provisions relating to the corporate structure and profitability of each of FAW
Toyota 45 Company and Lexus 4S Company:

(i) Profit guarantee and the relevant compensation mechanism

Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, DIL and Mr. Mak have guaranteed
that the aggregate of (i) 100% of the audited net profit after taxation of Guangzhou
Guangbao (excluding Foshan Junan and any of its subsidiaries and investments) and
(11) 55% of the audited net profit after taxation of Guangzhou Junjia (excluding any of
its subsidiaries and investments), for the period from | August 2008 to 31 December
2008 and each of the two years ending 31 December 2010 shall be no less than
RMBI!2.9 million (equivalent to approximately HK$14.7 million), RMB31.0 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$35.3 million) and RMB31.0 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$35.3 million), respectively, (together, the “Guaranteed Profits”).
The Guaranteed Profits will be audited by an independent certified public accountant
in accordance with the generally accepted accounting principles in PRC and shall
exclude any non-recurring or exceptional items and revaluation gains. In the event that
the aggregate actual net profit after taxation from Guangzhou Guangbao and
Guangzhou Junjia for the aforesaid period(s) is/are less than the Guaranteed Profits,
50% of such shortfall shall be indemnified by DIL and Mr. Mak to DSE on a dollar-
to-dollar basis in cash.

Mr. Mak will remain as the responsible person for the management and
operations for each of FAW Toyota 4S Group and Lexus 4S Group during the
period from 1 August 2008 to 31 December 2010.

(ii) Guaranteed net asset value and the relevant compensation mechanism

Each of DIL and Mr. Mak has undertaken to DCH Holdings that, upon
Completion, the aggregate of 100% and 55% of the net asset value of Guangzhou
Guangbao and Guangzhou Junjia (excluding any of their respective subsidiaries and
investments), respectively, will be no less than approximately HK$63.8 million (the
“Guaranteed Net Asset Value”). In the event the actual net asset value of Guangzhou
Guangbac and Guangzhou Junjia (excluding their respective subsidiaries and
investments) attributable to DCH Group falls below the Guaranteed Net Asset
Value, DIL and Mr. Mak have undertaken that 50% of such shortfall shall be
indemnified.

(iii) First right of refusal

Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, so long as DSE remains as a
shareholder of either FAW Toyota 4S Company or Lexus 45 Company, either of FAW
4S Company and Lexus 4§ Company will have a first right of refusal to invest at cost in
respect of any new investment opportunities offered to Mr. Mak and his affiliates
relating to the provision of vehicles sales, spare parts, maintenance services and
customer survey services to manufacturers or suppliers under the “Lexus” and “FAW
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Toyota” brands in PRC. In the event that any other opportunity is made available to
either FAW Toyota 4S Company or Lexus 45 Company in relation to other vehicle
brands in PRC during the time when DSE remains as the shareholder of either FAW 4S8
Company or Lexus 45 Company, DIL and Mr. Mak will notify DCH Group prior to
making such investment. Furthermore, DSE shall also have a right of first refusal to
acquire any existing business in PRC already owned and operated by Mr. Mak or DIL
for disposal at a price equal to or lower than the price to be offered by DIL or Mr.
Mak to any prospective purchaser if DSE refuses to acquire such business.

{iv) Non-competition undertaking by Mr. Mak and DIL

DIL and Mr. Mak have undertaken to DSE, and DSE and DCH Holdings have
undertaken to DIL, that they shall not, amongst others, carry on or have an interest in
businesses engaged in the provision of vehicles sales, spare parts maintenance services
and customer survey services in respect of the “FAW Toyota” brand in Guangzhou
and Foshan and the “Lexus” brand in Guangzhou or any other business as may be
carried on by FAW Toyota 4S8 Group and Lexus 45 Group from time to time, for a
term of three years from the date of which DIL and DSE (as the case may be) ceases to
be a shareholder of the relevant Target Companies.

(v) Obraining two addirional dealerships in respect of the “FAW Toyota” brand

DIL and Mr. Mak have undertaken to DSE that they will procure Guangzhou
Guangbao to establish or acquire two additional dealerships for the provision of
vehicles sales, spare parts, maintenance services and customer survey services to
manufacturers or suppliers in respect of the “FAW Toyota” brand by December 2010.

(vi) The Contractual Arrangements

Upon Completion, a series of Contractual Arrangements under the Contractual
Arrangements Agreements (details of which are disclosed in the section headed “Letter
from the Board™ of the Circular} will be implemented on Guangzhou Guangbao and
Foshan Junan (which may be held through the Contractual Arrangements} such that
FAW Toyota 4S Group will be entitled to (i) enjoy all the economic benefits of both
Guangzhou Guangbao and Foshan Junan; (ii) exercise management control over the
operations of Guangzhou Guangbao and Foshan Junan and prevent leakages of assets
and values to the registered owners of Guangzhou Guangbao and Foshan Junan; and
(iii) acquire, if and when permitted by PRC law, the equity interest in Guangzhou
Guangbao and Foshan Junan at the minimum transfer price permitied under the
relevant PRC laws and regulations. Such Contractual Arrangements will also be
applied to Lexus 4S Group to effect the aforesaid purposes on Guangzhou Junjia with
Lexus 48 Group entitled to all the economic benefit of Guangzhou Junjia held by Mr.
Mak (i.e. 55% interest in Guangzhou Junjia).

As disclosed in the section headed “Letter from the Board” of the Circular,
according to the PRC legal advisers to DCH Holdings, the Contractual Arrangements
Agreements do not contravene any existing PRC laws, rules and regulations although
there can be no assurance that the relevant governmental authority will not challenge
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the validity of the Contractual Arrangements or the governmental authorities in PRC
will not promulgate laws or regulations to invalidate the Contractual Arrangements in
the future. The reporting accountants to DCH Holdings have also confirmed that upon
Compietion, each of Guangzhou Guangbao and Guangzhou Junjia will become an
indirect subsidiary of DCH Holdings. In addition, DCH Holdings has implemented
similar contractual arrangements for certain of PRC companies engaged in auto
dealership business (details of which are disclosed in DCH Annual Report). Since
1979, the PRC government has been developing its legal system by undertaking to
promulgate a comprehensive system of laws, many of which are unprecedented or
experimental and are expected to be refined or improved. It is understandable that
there is no certainty as to whether any changes in laws and regulations (or the
interpretation thereof) in the refining and readjustment process would have favourable
or adverse impact on the Contractual Arrangements. However, as the PRC legal
advisers to DCH Holdings have already confirmed that the Contractual Arrangements
do not contravene any existing PRC laws, rules and regulations, we are of the view that
the Contractual Arrangements can be justified for the economic benefit to DCH Group
as analysed above,

Having considered the above, we are of the view that the terms of the Sale and
Purchase Agreement are fair and reasonable and are in the interest of both DCH
Group and the Company and their respective shareholders as a whole.

The Consideration

The Consideration of approximately HK$143.7 million was determined after arm’s

length negotiation between DCH Group and DIL, comprising an amount of approximately
HKE$102.7 million attributable as to (i) the financial track record of Guangzhou Guangbao
and Guangzhou Junjia; and (ii) the Guaranteed Net Asset Value of approximately HK$63.8
million; and as to the remaining HK$41.0 million attributable as to (iii) the set up costs and
future prospects of Foshan Junan, a newly established company engaged in dealership in
respect of the “FAW Toyota” brand and (iv) the establishment or acquisition of two
additional dealerships in respect of the “FAW Toyota” brand in PRC as undertaken by DIL
and Mr. Mak; and (v) the goodwill and future prospects of FAW Toyota 4S8 Group and
Lexus 4S5 Group (particularly, the possibility of the future expansion of and potential
acquisition of other dealership by FAW Toyota 4S Group and Lexus 4S Group).

- 33—




LETTER FROM THE INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL ADVISER

As there are no listed companies primarily engaged in auto dealerships, distribution of
vehicles parts and accessories and the provision of other auto related services in PRC, we, Iin
evaluating the Consideration, have identified three companies (the “Comparable
Companies”) which are broadly comparable to FAW Toyota 45 Company and Lexus 4S
Company.

Market Net profit

capitalisation attributable

as at the Latest to the
Practicable shareholders for Price-
Comparable Datef the financial  earning
Company Ticker Listing venue Currency Consideration year 2007 Ratio

{Note 2) { Million)* (Million)**

A.P. Eagers APE AU Common Wealth AUD 305.9 28.6 10.7
Limited of Australia

Hotai Motor Co. 2207 TT  Taiwan NTD 42,875.1 3,404.7 12.6
Ltd.

AutoNation, Inc. AN US United States of USSs 23125 278.7 3.3

America
The Target Group HK$ 143.7 16.2 8.9
{Note 1)

*  from Bloomberg
**  extracted from the respective annual reports for FY2007

Note ]: the net profit attributable to DCH Holdings is calculated based on the aggregate of DSE’s
effective interest attributable to the audited net profit (or loss) after tax for each of Guangzhou
Guangbao, Foshan Junan and Guangzhou Junjia for FY2007, comprising (i) 50% of
Guangzhou Guangbao's net profit after tax of approximately HK$4.2 million; (ii) 27.5% of
Guangzhou Junjia's net profit after tax of approximately HK$51.7 million; and (iii} 50% of the
loss incurred by Foshan Junan of approximately HK$0.3 million.

Note 2: AUD, NTD and USS refer to the Australian Dollar, New Taiwan Dollar and United States
Dollar respectively.

As illustrated above, the price-earning multiple for the Acquisition based on the
Consideration is comparable to the Comparable Companies.

Having taken into account that the price-earning multiple for the Acquisition as
calculated based on the Consideration is comparable to the Comparable Companies and the
Guaranteed Profit, we are of the view that the Consideration is fair and reasonable and is in
the interest of DCH Holdings and the Company, and their respective shareholders as a
whole.

4. The Financial Assistance

Upon Completion, the existing guarantees in favour of the Target Companies shall be
replaced by the replacement guarantees to be jointly provided by DSE and DIL in an
amount not exceeding HK$80.0 million. In addition, each of DIL and DSE shall contribute
to additional funding needs of the Target Companies by way of equity or shareholders’
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loans in proportion to their then interest in the Target Companies for working capital
purposes (including the establishment or acquisition of two additional dealerships for the
“FAW Toyota” brand in PRC). The additional funding to be contributed by DSE is not
expected to exceed HK$100.0 million.

5.

Financial impacts of the Acquisition
(i) FEarnings

Following Completion and the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements,
each of FAW Toyota 4S8 Company and Lexus 4S8 Company will become an indirect non
wholly-owned subsidiary of DCH Holdings, hence the Company. Accordingly, the
financial results of DCH Holdings, together with those of the FAW Toyota 4S Group
and Lexus 45 Group after the Completion will be consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements of the Company, Tt is expected that the net profit of the Company
will be increased by the future profit of FAW Toyota 4S5 Company and Lexus 48
Company attributable to the Group.

(ii) Gearing and working capital

According to the Interim Results, the Group had net debt of approximately
HK$31,211 million {(being the aggregate of the Company’s bank borrowings of
approximately HK$41,906 million, less the cash and bank balances of approximately
HK$10,695 million), and total capital of approximately HK891,613 million (being the
aggregate of equity attributable to the Shareholders of approximately HK$60,402
million and the net debt of approximately HK$31,211 million). As such, the gearing
ratio of the Group (expressed as a percentage of the Company’s net debt over its total
capital) was approximately 34.1% as at 30 June 2008. Given that the entire
Consideration will be payable in cash from the internal resources of DCH Holdings,
the cash position of the Company will be decreased accordingly by the amount of
Consideration of approximately HK$143.7 million, and the gearing ratio of the Group
will be increased by merely approximately 0.1% to approximately 34.2% accordingly.
If the Finance Assistance has been taken into account, the gearing ratio of the Group is
expected to be further increased.

Based on the DCH Interim Results, DCH Group had cash and bank balance of
approximately HK$1,674 million and the Consideration represents approximately
8.6% of DCH Group’s total cash and bank balance as at 30 June 2008. In addition, as
at 30 June 2008, DCH Group had undrawn available loans facilities amounted to
approximately HK$2,088 miliion (comprising committed term loans and revoelving
loans facilities of approximately HK$600 million and uncommitted money market lines
of approximately HK$1,488 million). Having considered that (i) DCH Group has
sufficient cash and bank balances with significant undrawn banking facilities; (ii) the
Financial Assistance will be contributed by DCH Group to FAW Toyota 4§ Company
and Lexus 48 Company in various stages during the course of their development, and
(i1i) FAW Toyota 48 Company and Lexus 4S Company are expected to continue to
generate profit (and cash inflow), we concur with the management of the Company’s
view that DCH Group will have sufficient financial resources to meet the
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Consideration and the Financial Assistance, and that the slight increase in the Group’s
gearing ratio is acceptable and there will be no material impact on the liquidity of both
DCH Group and the Group as a result of the Acquisition.

(iii) Net asset value

Based on the Interim Results, the unaudited consolidated net asset value
attributable to the Shareholders as at 30 June 2008 amounted to approximately
HK$60,402 million. Upon Completion, the cash and bank balance of DCH Holdings
(hence the Company) will be decreased by the Consideration in the amount of
approximately HK$143.7 million. The excess of the Consideration over the net asset
value of the Target Group attributable to the Group will be recorded as goodwill and
mtangible asset. Accordingly, the Acquisition is not expected to have any material
impact on the Group’s net asset value immediately after Completion.

ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSION

DCH Group, being a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, is a motor
dealership conglomerate with a strong multi-brand portfolio comprising world renowned
American, European, Japanese and Korean automobiles brands and having accounted for
approximately 28.0% of the new vehicle market in Hong Kong in 2007. During the past
years, DCH Group has been able to capitalise on its successful track record in Hong Kong
and is currently the official distributor or dealer for 20 vehicle brands and operates 35 4S
outlets in 13 major cities in PRC. Having considered the facts that PRC had overtaken
Germany and Japan to become the second largest motor vehicle markets with sales volume
projected to reach over 10 million units in 2008 as disclosed in the DCH Annual Report,
and the continuous growth in PRC’s economy, the management of the Company expects
that DCH Group’s motor business in PRC will continue to be a major growth driver for
DCH Group’s future business development. Given the Acquisition will benefit DCH
Group’s motor business in PRC by providing DCH Group with a good opportunity to
strengthen its market position in Guangzhou and Foshan and to add brands to its multi-
brand portfolio, we are of the view that the aforesaid positive impact on DCH Group’s
motor business in PRC from the Acquisition will also benefit the Company’s business
portfolio.

We noted that there would be insignificant impact on the cash position and gearing
ratio of the Group, which mainly resulted from the cash consideration payable under the
Sale and Purchase Agreement and the Financial Assistance. However, having considered
the future profitability (hence cash inflow) from the vehicle sales and provision of motor
related services from FAW Toyota 48 Company and Lexus 4S Company as evidenced by
their successful track records, together with (i) the standing and substantial experience of
Mr. Mak in the motor dealership business in PRC and his future contribution to DCH
Group’s motor business in PRC; (ii) the various guarantees and undertakings provided by
DIL and Mr. Mak, including, amongst others, the profit guarantee and the related
compensation mechanism in favour of DCH Group; and (iii) the arrangement that any
future capital contribution by DCH Group and DIL, which is primarily for the purpose of
establishing or acquiring two additional dealerships for the “FAW Toyota” brand in PRC
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by 31 December 2010, will be proportional to their respective shareholdings in each of the
Target Companies, we consider that the Acquisition (including the Financial Assistance)
will enhance the future business development of DCH Group’s motor business in PRC as a
whole, which in turn will benefit the Group. Accordingly, we are of the view that the
Acquisition (including the Financial Assistance) is conducted in the ordinary and usual
course of business of DCH Group and the Group and the terms of the Sale and Purchase
Agreement are fair and reasonable and are in the interest of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.

RECOMMENDATION

Based on the above principal factors and reasons, we consider the Acquisition
(including the Financial Assistance) is conducted in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Company and on normal commercial terms and the terms of the Sale and
Purchase Agreement are fair and reasonable and are in the interest of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.

Yours faithfully,

For and on behalf of

Commerzbank AG Hong Kong Branch

Kenneth Chan Gaston Lam

Head of Corporate Finance — Asia Pacific Corporate Finance — Asia Pacific
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1. RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

This Circular includes particulars given in compliance with the Listing Rules for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors collectively and
individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this
Circular and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their
knowledge and belief, there are no other facts not contained in this Circular, the omission
of which would make any statement herein misleading.

2. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
Interests of Directors and chief executive in securities

Save as disclosed below, as at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company had any interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of the SFO) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered into the register referred to therein, or were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interest and short position which he was taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO) or the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies set out in the Listing Rules:

(i) Shares in the Company:

Number of Shares Percentage to
Personal interests unless the issued
Name of Director otherwise stated share capital
(%)
Larry Yung Chi Kin 417,418,000 (Note 1) 19.033
Henry Fan Hung Ling 50,640,000 (Note 2) 2.309
Peter Lee Chung Hing 1,000,000 0.046
Carl Yung Ming Jie 300,000 0.014
Leslie Chang Li Hsien 480,000 0.022
Vernon Francis Moore 4,200,000 (Note 3) 0.192
Li Shilin 300,000 0.014
Liu Jifu 840,000 0.038
Chau Chi Yin 536,000 0.024
Wang Ande 400,000 0.018
Hansen Loh Chung Hon 1,550,000  (Note 4) 0.071
André Desmarais 10,145,000 (Note 5) 0.463
Peter Kruyt {alternate Director
to André Desmarais) 34,100 0.002
Note:

l. Corporate interest
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{(ii} Share options in the Company:

Name of Director

Larry Yung Chi Kin

Peter Lee Chung
Hing

Carl Yung Ming Jie

Leslie Chang Li
Hsien

Vernon Francis
Moore

Li Shilin

Liu Jifu

Corporate interest in respect of 5,640,000 Shares and trust interest in respect of

45,000,000 Shares

Trust interest

Personal interest in respect of 1,050,000 Shares; corporate interest in respect of 500,000
Shares and family interest in respect of 500,000 Shares which duplicate each other

Corporate interest in respect of 10,000,000 Shares and family interest in respect of

145,000 Shares

Exercise

price per

Date of Grant Share
HKS$

16.10.2007 47.32
01.11.2004 19.90
20.06.2006 22.10
16,10.2007 47,32
01.11.2004 19.90
20.06.2006 22.10
16.10.2007 47.32
01.11.2004 19.90
20.06.2006 22.10
16.10.2007 47.32
01.11.2004 19.90
20.06.2006 22.10
16.10.2007 47.32
16.10.2007 47.32
20.06.2006 22.10
16.10.2007 47.32

Exercisable Period

16.10.2007-15.10.2012

01.11.2004-31,10.2009
20.06.2006~19.06.2011
16.10.2007-15.10.2012

01.11.2004-31.10.2009
20.06.2006-19.06.2011
16.10.2007-15.10.2012

01.11.2004-31.10.2009
20.06.2006-19.06.2011
16.10.2007-15.10.2012

01.11.2004-31.10.2009
20.06.2006-19.06.2011
16.10.2007-15.10.2012

16.10.2007-15.10.2012

20.06.2006-19.06.2011
16.10.2007-15.10.2012
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Percentage
of issued

Underlying shares as at

Shares
pursuant to the
share options

2,000,000

1,000,000
1,200,000
1,200,000

—————

3,400,000

500,000
600,000
800,000

1.900.000

350,000
800,000

800,000

1,950,000

1,000,000
700,000

600,000

2,300,000
500,000

700,000
700,000

1,400,000

the Latest
Practicable
Date

(%)

0.091

0.155

0.087

0.089

0.105

0.023

0.064
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Percentage
of issued
Underlying shares as at
Exercise Shares  the Latest
price per pursuant to the Practicable
Name of Director Date of Grant Share Exercisable Period share options Date
HK3 (%)
Chau Chi Yin 01.11.2004 19.90 01.11.2004-31.10.2009 500,000
20.06.2006 22.10 20.06.2006~19.06.2011 800,000
16.10.2007 47.32 16.10.2007-15.10.2012 800,000
2,100,000 0.096
Milton Law Ming To 01.11.2004 19.90 01.11.2004-31.10.2009 334,000
20.06.2006 22.10 20.06.2006-19.06.2011 800,000
16.10.2007 47.32 16.10.2007-15.10.2012 800,000
1,934,000 0.088
Wang Ande 20.06.2006 22.10 20.06.2006-19.06.2011 350,000
16.10.2007 47.32 16.10.2007-15.10.2012 §00,000
1,150,000 0.052
Kwok Man Leung 16.10.2007 47,32 16.10.2007-15.10.2012 600,000 0.027
Chang Zhenming 16.10.2007 47.32 16.10.2007-15.10.2012 500,000 0.023
(iii ) Shares in the associated corporations:
Number of ordinary shares
in CITIC 1616 Holdings
Limited Percentage to
Personal interests unless the issued
Name of Director otherwise stated share capital
(%)
Vernon Francis Moore 200,000 (Note !) 0.010
Chau Chi Yin 26,750 0.001

Note:

l. Trust interest
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Number of ordinary shares
in Dah Chong Hong

Holdings Limited Percentage to

Personal interests unless the issoed

Name of Director otherwise stated share capital

(%)

Li Shilin 12,000 0.001

Liu Jifu 33,600 (Note i) 0.002

Chau Chi Yin 21,000 0.001

Hansen Loh Chung Hon 62,000 (Noie 2) 0.003

Note:

1. Family interest

2. Corporate interest in respect of 20,000 shares and concert party interest in respect of

42 000 shares
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{iv) Share options in the associated corporation;

Share options in CITIC Capital Holdings Limited
Number of
share options
outstanding at  Percentage

Exercise the Latest of issued
price per Practicable share
Name of Director Date of Grant share Exercisable Period Date capital
(HKS) (%)
Peter Lee Chung Hing 02.03.2005 66.54 02.03.2007-01.03.2010 15,000
04.04.2006 70.97 04.04.2008-03.04.2011 10,000
11.12.2007 80.03 11.12.2009-10.12.2012 10,000
35.000 0.125
Leslie Chang Li Hsien 02.03.2005 66.54 02.03.2007-01.03.2010 15,000
04.04.2006 70.97 04.04.2008-03.04.2011 10,600
11.12.2007 80.03 11.12.2009-10.12.2012 10,000
35,000 0.125
Vernon Francis Moore 02.03.2005 66.54 02.03.2007-01.03.2010 15,000
04.04.2006 70.97 04.04.2008-03.04.2011 10,000
11.12.2007 80.03 11.12.2009-10.12.2012 10.000
35,000 0.125
Chang Zhenming 11.12.2007 80.03 11.12.2009-10.12.2012 125,000 0.446

Interests of Directors and chief executive in substantial shareholders of the Company

As at the Latest Practicable Date, save as disclosed below, none of the Directors
was a director or employee of a company which had an interest or short position in the
Shares and underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Name of company which had such

Name of Director discloseable interest or short position Position within such company
Larry Yung Chi Kin CITIC Group Director
CITIC HK Director
Heedon Corporation Director
Honpville Corporation Director
Earnplex Corporation Director & Shareholder
Bloomfield Enterprises Corp. Director & Shareholder
Rockhampton Investments Limited Director & Shareholder
Henry Fan Hung Ling CITIC HK Director
Carl Yung Ming Jie Earnplex Corporation Director
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Name of Director

Leslie Chang Li Hsien

Vernon Francis Moore

Li Shilin
Liu Jifu
Chau Chi Yin

Andre Desmarais

Chang Zhenming

Name of company which had such

discloseable interest or short position Position within such company
CITIC HK Director

Honpville Corporation Director

Heedon Corporation Director

Honpville Corporation Director

CITIC Group Director

CITIC HK Director

CITIC HK Director

Power Corporation of Canada President & Co-Chief

Executive Officer

CITIC Group Director

3. MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGE

Save as disclosed in this Circular, the Directors are not aware of any material adverse
change in the financial or trading position of the Group since 31 December 2007, the date to
which the latest published audited accounts of the Company were made up.
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4. EXPERT

(a} The qualification of the expert who has provided its advice which is contained in
this Circular is set out as follows:

Name Qualification

Commerzbank Commerzbank AG, acting through its Hong Kong
branch, a licensed bank under the Banking Ordinance
(Chapter 155 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and an
authorized financial institution under the SFO to
conduct type 1 (dealing in securities), type 4 (advising
on securities), and type 6 (advising on corporate
finance) regulated activities as set out in Schedule 5
to the SFO

(b) Commerzbank has confirmed that it has no shareholding in any member of the
Group or the right (whether legally enforceable or not) to subscribe for or to
nominate persons to subscribe for securities in any member of the Group as at the
Latest Practicable Date.

(c) Commerzbank has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the issue of
this Circular with the inclusion of its letter or report (as the case may be) and
references to its name in the form and context in which it appears.

(d) The letter from Commerzbank is given as of 16 September 2008 for incorporation
herein.

5. SERVICE CONTRACTS

There is no existing or proposed service contracts between any of the Directors and the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, other than contracts expiring or determinable by the
employer within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

6. COMPETING INTEREST

In so far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors or their respective associates
have any interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete with the business of
the Group.

7. INTERESTS IN ASSETS AND CONTRACTS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors nor their respective associates
had any direct or indirect interests in any assets which have been acquired or disposed of by,
or leased to, or which are proposed to be acquired or disposed of by, or leased to, the
Company or any of its subsidiaries since 31 December 2007, being the date to which the
latest published audited consolidated financial statements of the Company were made up.
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There is no contract or arrangement subsisting at the Latest Practicable Date in which
any of the Directors is materially interested and which is significant in relation to the
business of the Group.

8. LITIGATION

As at the Latest Practicable Date, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries was
engaged in any litigation or claim of material importance and, so far as the Directors were
aware, no litigation or claim of material importance was pending or threatened against the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

9. GENERAL

(a) The secretary of the Company is Ms. Stella Chan Chui Sheung, ACIS, MA and
the qualified accountant of the Company appointed pursuant to Rule 3.24 of the
Listing Rules is Mr. Leslie Chang Li Hsien, HKICPA, AICPA, NYSSCPA.

(b) The registered office of the Company is at 32nd Floor, CITIC Tower, 1 Tim Mei
Avenue, Central, Hong Kong.

(¢) The share registrars of the Company is Tricor Tengis Limited, 26th Floor,
Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

(d) The English text of this Circular shall prevail over the Chinese text.

10. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection on any weekday
(except Saturdays) during business hours at the registered office of the Company at 32nd
Floor, CITIC Tower, | Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong from the date of this
Circular up to and including 30 September 2008

(a) the letter from the Independent Board Committee, the text of which is set out in
this Circular;

(b) the letter from the Independent Financial Adviser, the text of which is set out in
this Circular; and

(c) the Sale and Purchase Agreement.
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financial highlights

2008 2007
in HK$ mitlion six months ended 30 June
Profit Attributable to Shareholders 4,377 4,968
Major Businesses’ Contribution

Special Steel 1,839 1,123
Property 453 446
Infrastructure 689 844
Listed Subsidiaries
CITIC 1618 83 2,020
Dah Chong Heng 151 187
Fair Value change of Investrment Properties 490 416
Net Gain from Sale of Listed Shares 843 -
Cash Contributed from all Businesses 5,295 4,316
as at as at
30 June 31 December
Capital Employed 102,966 88,447
Shareholders’ Funds 61,060 59,793
Net Debt 31,211 20,609
Cash & Available Committed Loan Facilities 30,181 26,589
in HK$ six months ended 30 June
Earnings per Share 1.99 2.25
Dividends per Share
Regular 0.30 0.40
Special - 0.20
Staff 25,177 23,989

Flease refer to Definition of Terms on page 41

CITIC Pacific Interim Report 2008 1



major

UusSinesses

CITIC Pacific has unrivalled experience and expertise in operating
businesses in China both on the mainland and in Hong Kong. With the
rapid development of the Chinese economy, CITIC Pacific is increasingly

focusing its business activities on the mainland of China. Our major
businesses are special steel manufacturing; iron ore mining which supplies
the raw material needed in the making of special steel, and property

development in mainland China.

Special Steel

CITIC Pacific Special Steel operates three steel plants
in mainland China with total annual production
capacity of over seven million tonnes. It is a leader in
the manufacturing of special steel used in bearings
and gears among others. The three piants are ideally
located to cover the main markets for special steel in
Eastern, Central and Northern China.

Jiangyin Xingcheng Special Steel is a leader in
China specializing in the making of high-grade
special steel used in bearings, gears, springs and
high-pressurized piping steel. Its new line, in
cooperation with Sumitomo Metals of Japan, has
the most advanced technology in the industry.

Xin Yegang Steel is located in Central China, it
has a long history dating back to 1908. Its seamless
steel tubes, one of its major products, continues to
be in strong demand and remains very profitable.

Shijiazhuang Steel Mill became a member of
CITIC Pacific Special Steel in 2006. Built in 1957, it is
now a manufacturer of special steel with 2.2 million
tonnes in production capacity. Its products are
mainly supplied to the auto component industry.

2 CITIC Pacific Interim Report 2008

Iron Ore Mining

CITIC Pacific owns the mining rights to

two billion tonnes of magnetite iron ore with
options to another four billion tonnes in the
Pilbara region of Western Australia. The two
billion tonnes of ore is capable of producing
27.6 million tonnes of product annually to
supply mainland China and CITIC Pacific’s
steel plants in particular.

Property

CITIC Pacific’s property team has extensive
experience in building and managing medium
and large scale residential and commercial
projects including Shanghai’s CITIC Square and
New Westgate Garden, and Hong Kong’s CITIC
Tower. In the past few years, the Group has been
active in investing in properties in mainland
China. Currently CITIC Pacific has a large quality
land bank in Shanghai, major secondary cities in
the Yangtze Delta area and Hainan Island.




chairman’s letter
to shareholders

Whilst net profit for the first six months of
2008 was HK$4,377 million, a decrease of
12% compared with the same period last
year, recurrent earnings grew 8% from a
year ago nevertheless. The board has
recommended paying an interim dividend
of HK$0.30 per share.

During the first half of 2008, we continued the strategy
of developing our three core businesses: special steel
manufacturing, iron ore mining and property
development. In the next two to three years, with the
completion of new projects, we expect the benefits
from these investments to be realized, with recurrent

profit growing significantly.

Special Steel Manufacturing

CITIC Pacific’s special steel business maintained its
solid momentum and has become a main driver of
growth in recurrent earnings. Profit contribution
reached HK$1,839 million for the first half of this
year, an increase of 64% from a record a year ago.

During the period, despite the challenges of macro
economic control in mainland China, weaknessin
the economies of major industrialized countries, and
a significant rise in price of raw materials such as iron
ore and coke, CITIC Pacific Special Steel overcame
difficulties to achieve excellent results. Our three
manufacturing bases: Jiangyin Xingcheng Special
Steel, Hubei Xin Yegang and Shijiazhuang Steel
increased their production and sold an expanded
range of products. At the same time, the three plants
continue to implement synergies, resulting in
improved efficiency in purchasing, transportation,
production and sales.

CITIC Pacific recently acquired a coking coal project
in Tongling, Anhut Province. When our iron ore mine
in Australia begins production, the business will have
secure, stable and long-term supplies of both major
raw materials. These strategically important
investments will greatly enhance our competitive
edge and overall profitability.

The strategy for CITIC Pacific Special Steel going
forward is to further enhance its leading position in
the domestic and international markets for special
steel bars. Itis actively expanding its special tube
production capability to increase market share in tube
products. At the same time, we are also developing
medium and heavy special steel plates with the goal

of building CITIC Pacific Special Steel into a world class
special steel company of the highest standard, with a
wide range of products and excellent management.

Iron Ore Mining

During the first half of the year, progress was made at
our iron ore mine in Western Australia which hasa
production capacity of 27.6 million tonnes per annum.
Construction of infrastructure such as power,
desalination plants, land transportation as well as port
and transshipment facilities are well underway. In
recent years the price of iron ore has risen significantly
due to tight supply in the international market. The
strategic importance of this project is therefore clear.
CITIC Pacific still holds options to mine another four
billion tonnes of iron ore on the same mine site, which

if exercised, will further expand our mining capacity.

CITIC Pacific Interim Report 2008 3
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Property Development

Property development in mainland China is one of
our core businesses. Our development properties are
centered around Shanghai and its neighbouring cities,
as well as Hainan Island, a holiday destination. With
the rapid development of the Chinese economy and
the improvement of living standards, market demand
for quality properties will remain strong.

Construction of Phase One of our Shanghai Lu Jia Zui
New Financial District Project is progressing well.
Foundation work has been completed and basement
construction will finish by the end of the year as
planned. Phase One completion is expected in 2010.
Preparation work for Phase Two and Three is ongoing.

Our large residential and commercial developments

in the Qingpu, Jiading and Hongkou districtsin
Shanghai and in the cities of Wuxi, Jiangyin, Yangzhou
in Jiangsu Province are being built in phases as
planned. Units pre-sold in the first half of this year
achieved a higher unit sale price compared with those
sold last year.

The superstructure of CITIC Square, located in the city
of Ningbo in Zhejiang Province, has been completed,
and work on sale and leasing is taking place.
Preparation work for our development project above
the Sichuan Beilu Metro Station in the Hongkou
District of Shanghai is progressing. Construction

is expected to commence at the end of the year.

Our development project on the Shenzhou Peninsula
in Wanning City in Hainan Province is progressing
well. Work on the four hotels in Phase One has
begun, and they are expected to be open in 2010

and thereafter. Shenzhou Peninsula project will, in
the near future, become a quality community.
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Our investment properties in Shanghaiand Hong
Kong continue to maintain high occupancy and their
profit contribution increased more than 30%
compared to the same period last year.

Other Businesses

Faced with significant increases in the price of oiland
coal, our aviation and power generation businesses
incurred losses. The operating environment for these
two businesses remains challenging in the second half
of the year. CITIC 1616 and Dah Chong Hong, the two
companies listed last year, performed well with double
digit profit growth for the first six months of the year.
Hong Kong’s Eastern and Western harbour tunnels
operated smoothly with increased profit compared

to last year.

Looking to the Future

Even though there are macro economic uncertainties,
Iam confident in the future prospects of CITIC Pacific.
With hard work in the past few years, our special steel
business is becoming strong and our iron ore mining
and property businesses are gradually becoming more
mature, establishing these three as our core businesses.
Going forward, we will continue to seek investment
opportunities in these areas to further increase our
recurrent earnings, and to achieve higher returns for
our shareholders.

On behalfof all the directors, I would like to express
my sincere thanks to everyone at CITIC Pacific for their
hard work and dedication.

Larry Yung ChiKin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 28 August 2008




financial review

Introduction

CITIC Pacific’s 2008 Interim Report includes a letter
from the Chairman to shareholders, the interim
accounts and other information required by accounting
standards, legislation, and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. This Financial Review is designed to assist
the reader in understanding the statutory information
by discussing the contribution of each business
segment, and the financial position of the company

as a whole.

Pages 20 to 24 of the Interim Report contain the
Consolidated Profit and Loss Account, Balance Sheet,
Cash Flow Statement and Statement of Changes in
Equity. Following these financial statements, on pages
25 to 29 of the Interim Report, are Notes that further
explain certain figures presented in the statements.

On page 30 is the report of CITIC Pacific’s auditor -
PricewaterhouseCoopers - of their independent review
of CITIC Pacific’s interim accounts.

Basis of Accounting

CITIC Pacific prepares its financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting
standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants {‘"HK1CPA’) which
have been converged with International Financial

Reporting Standards.

Profit Attributable to Shareholders

The net profit attributable to shareholders for the six
months ended 30 June 2008 was 1HK$4,377 million,

a decrease of 12% compared with HK$4,968 million
for the same period in 2007. The reasons for the
decrease in profit are described in Business Segment
Contribution. However, taking into account the
non-recurring items as set out below, the Group’s profit
after adjustment increased by 8%.
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£
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03 04 05 06 07 6/07 6/08

actual
1-6/2008

change

HKS million 1-6/2007  2008-2007

Profit Attributable

to Shareholders 4,377 4,968 -12%

Adjusted items:

- Fair Value change
of Investment
Properties

(490) (416)

- Air China Cargo

Disposal {403) -

- Sale of Listed

Shares {843) -

= Unification of
PRC Corporate Income

Tax Rate - (177}

- Spin off Profit of
CITIC 1616

(1,928)

Profit after Adjustment 2,641 2,447 +8%

CITIC Pacific Interim Report 2008 5§
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Business Segment Contribution # CITIC 1616: Excluding the HK$1.9 billion profit in
connection with the spin off of CITIC 1616 in 2007,

The contributions made by major business segments in .
contribution decreased by 10% due to the decreased

the first six months of 2008, compared with the same . o o
shareholding following its separate listing, The profit

period of 2007, were: )
of CITIC 1616 increased by 11% compared to the

actual change same period in 2007.

HK$ miflion 1-6/2008 1-6/2007  2008-2007
Special Steel 1,839 1123 716 e Dah Chong Hong: The profit of Dah Chong Hong
Property 453 446 7 increased by 37% compared to the same period in
Infrastructure 589 844 (155) 2007. Contribution decreased by 19% due to the 43%
Listod Subsidiarios reduction in shareholding upon the spin off of Dah

CITIC 1616 83 2,020 {1,937) Chong Hong in the second half of 2007.

Dah Chong Hong 151 187 (36)

o Fair Value change of Investment Properties:

Fair Value change

The increase in fair value of investment properties
of Investment

Properties 490 416 74 as a result of a revaluation reflecting the current
Net Gain from Sale market conditions in both Hong Kong and
of Listed Shares 843 - 843 mainland China,

Comparing the contribution for the six months ended # Net Gain from Sale of Listed Shares: The amount

represents the net gain from the disposal of listed

30 June 2007:
shares in 2008.
e Special Steel: Contribution increased by more than
60% due to the continuing good performance of the Contribution
steel plants resulting from strong demand. s
¢ Property: Property leasing recorded good growth mien
during the period but this was partly offset by the .
operating expenses of the development projects. apca
o Infrastructure: Both Cathay Pacific and Power 2000
Generation suffered from the continuing high energy
prices and incurred losses for the period. The 2000
decreased contribution from the aviation business 1000
was partially compensated by the profit on disposal
of an interest in Air China Cargo. Contribution from 3 -6/07 1-6/08
tunnels in Hong Kong recorded a 15% growth.
Il Special Stee! Il Property
IR Infrastruciure Il CITIC 1616
[ Dah Chong Hong Il Fair Value change of
BB Net Gain from Sale Investment Properties
of Listed Shares

6 CITIC Pacific Interim Report 2008




Pages 25 and 26 of the Interim Report contain
business segment information relating to turnover
and profit before net finance charges and taxation for
consolidated activities, jointly controlled entities and

associated companies.

Geographical Distribution

The division of contribution and assets among
Hong Kong, mainland China and overseas is shown
below based on the location of the base of each

business’s operations.

Contribution % Assets at Book Value %

o

12
16

56

50

55

42
38

-2
o

o7 [2]:] ov 08
For the six months ended 30 June as at asat
31 December 30 June

~
w

[J Hong Kong I Mainland China Overseas

Interest Expense

The Group’s interest expense net of amounts capitalised
increased from HK$159 million to HK$321 million.
Capitalised interest increased from HK$262 million to
HK$388 million mainly due to various property
projects under development in mainland China and
the iron ore project. The weighted average cost of debt
for the first half of 2008 was 4.8% compared to 5.4% at
the same period last year which was mainly due to the
decrease in HKD and USD borrowing costs, partly
offset by the increase in RMB borrowing rates.

S rFrFFaEEN T yRs ¥ W W R WwWw

Taxation

Following the reduction of the income tax rate for
mainland China property companies, the deferred
taxation liabilities brought forward from the year 2006
were adjusted downwards by HK$177 million in the
first half of 2007.

Current tax increased from HK$311 million to HK$481

million due to increased profit from operations.

Shareholders’ Returns

CITIC Pacific’s primary objective is to increase
shareholder value, for which it has used earnings per
share as a proxy. The Company expects its businesses
to provide returns on investment over their lives that
will provide shareholders with an adequate return
on equity.

Earnings per Share

Earnings per Share were HK$1.99 for the first half of
2008, a decrease of 12% compared with HK$2.25 for
the same period in 2007. The decrease in Earnings per
Share was mainly attributable to the decrease in profit
as the number of shares outstanding in the two periods
was substantially the same.
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Shareholders’ Funds per Share

Shareholders’ Funds per share at 30 june 2008
were HK$27.8. The increase was due to the profit
for the period less the dividend paid.
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Dividend per Share

An interim dividend of HK$0.3 per share is proposed
for the first half of 2008.

HKS

o
~
-

03 04 05 06 07 6/08

(] Special Dividend - Final Il Special Dividend - interim
B3 Final Dividend I8 [nterim Dividend

CITIC Pacific Interim Report 2008

Turnover

Special Steel’s turnover increased by 74%. Sales at all
steel plants recorded good growth.

Turnover at Dah Chong Hong increased by 36% mainly
due to increased sales in mainland China particularly
for the motor business.

The 2007 figure included approximately HK$2 billion
of proceeds from the disposal of approximately

50% interest in CITIC 1616 in connection with the
spin-off transaction.
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Capital Expenditure

In the first half of 2008, a total deposit of HK$1.5
billion was paid for the purchase of five vessels. The
construction of the infrastructure for the [ron Ore
Mining project in Australia is continuing, The latest
estimated capital expenditure for the first two phases
is US$3.5 billion, of which approximately 75% has
been committed. An additional amount of capital
expenditure of approximately US$0.35 billion will
be incurred in anticipation of the third phase of our
project (for another one billion tonnes of magnetite
resources). The Company is optimistic about the
preliminary drilling results for the third phase. Exercise
of options for the third to sixth phases of the project
(each for one billion tonnes of magnetite resources
totalling another four billion tonnes of iron ore on
the same mine site) is dependent upon the reserves

being proven.

The capital expenditure of special steel in the first

half of 2008 mainly represented enhancement and
construction of the production facilities at the Jiangyin
Steel Plant.

The property development projects in mainland China,
including the Shanghai Lu Jia Zui New Financial
District Project, the Sichuanbeilu Station Project,
Qingpu, Ningbo, Yangzhou, and Hainan [sland are

continuing.
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Included in Infrastructure is the acquisition of a 30%
interest in the Shangdong coal mine investment for
HK$1.7 billion in the first half of 2008.

‘Others’ in 2008 includes investment in the listed shares
of China Railway Construction. The Group also
invested in the listed shares of Country Garden and
China Molybdenum in 2007.

As at 30 June 2008, the Group’s contracted capital
commitments were approximately HK$27 billion,
related mainly to Iron Ore Mining, prc Property and
Special Steel.

HKS milion 1-6/2008 1-6/2007  1-12/2007
Iren Ore Mining 3,858 329 6,844
Property 2,779 2,660 4525 -
Special Steel 3,800 184 1,442
Infrastructure 2,348 31 7
Listed Subsidiaries

CITIC 1616 57 29 62

Dah Chong Hong 189 86 323
Others 465 665 1,042

CITIC Pacific Interim Report 2008 9




EEETvEsssw sEER F Ww aEWEw

Treasury Policy and Risk Management

General Policies

Maintain a high Diversify Centralise financing
degree of funding and cash
financial control sources management
and transparency activities

CITIC Pacific Ltd.

Enhance risk
management and
ensure best utilisation
of financial resources

Employ limited or
non-recourse
financing when
appropriate

Risk Management

The Group employs a combination of financial
instruments, including derivative products, to manage
its exposure to fluctuations in interest and currency
rates. Derivative transactions are only used for interest
rate and currency hedging purposes; speculative
trading activity is prohibited. Counterparties’ credit
risks are carefully reviewed, and the Group only deals
with financial institutions with investment grade
credit ratings. The amount of counterparties’

lending exposure to the Group is also an important
consideration as a means to control credit risk.

Foreign Currency Exposure

CITIC Pacific conducts business mainly in Hong Kong,
mainland China and Australia, therefore it is subject to
the market risk of foreign exchange rates in HK Dollar,
US Dollar, Renminbi and Australian Dollar. To minimise
currency exposure, non HK Dollar assets are usually
financed in the same currency as the asset or cash flow

from it, either by borrowing or using foreign exchange

10 CITIC Pacific Interim Report 2008

contracts. Due to limitations in financial markets and
regulatory constraints in mainland China, CITIC Pacific
has an increasing exposure to the Renminbi. As at

30 June 2008, the Group had net RMB exposure of
approximately HK$59 billion (31 December 2007:
HK$46 billion) as investments in mainland China

expand.

The functional currency for the Australian Iron Ore
Mining project is deemed to be USD as future revenue
and cash flow will be denominated in USD. As such,
CITiC Pacific funded the Iron Ore Mining project
development costs and the acquisition of vessels related
to the mining operations by USD loans to match the
future USD cash flows derived from these assets. A
portion of the Iron Ore Mining project development
costs as well as certain pre-completion expenditures
required paying in non-USD currencies. Foreign
exchange forward contracts and structured forward
instruments are employed to hedge or minimise these
currency exposures. As at 30 June 2008, outstanding
foreign exchange forward contracts and structured
forward instruments amounted to HK$3.9 billion

{31 December 2007: HK$3.5 billion).

In addition, foreign exchange forward contracts are
employed to minimise currency exposure for the
outstanding USD debts and a Yen bond. As at

30 June 2008, such contracts outstanding amounted
to HK$7,913 million {31 December 2007: HK$5,853
million).

Foreign exchange forward contracts and structured
forward instruments were also employed by the Group's
trading subsidiary to hedge currency fluctuations. As at
30 June 2008, such contracts outstanding amounted to
HK$804 million (31 December 2007: HK$968 million).




Interest Rate Exposure

The Group aims to maintain a suitable mixture of fixed
and floating rate borrowing in order to stabilise interest
costs against rate fluctuations. The interest rate hedging
ratio is determined after taking consideration of factors
including general market trends, the Group’s cash flow
pattern and interest coverage ratio.

The Group uses interest rate swaps, forward rate
agreements, interest rate option contracts and other
instruments to hedge exposures or to modify the
interest rate characteristics of its borrowings. As at
30 june 2008, CITIC Pacific had interest rate swap
or swaption contracts with a notional amount of
HK$29.1 billion, of which forward starting 1rs
contracts amounted to HK$16.7 billion.

The weighted average all-in cost of borrowing for the
Group (including fees and hedging costs) for the six
months ended 30 June 2008 was about 4.8%, compared
with 5.4% for the same period last year.

Interest Rate Exposure [(after swaps)

27% 73%

61%

39%

24% 76%

Aff Currencies

As at 30 June 2008

Il Fixed (3 Floating

Cash Flow

By design, the majority of the Group’s debt is raised at
the holding company (the ‘Company’) level except for
project-based financing or arrangements limited by
regulation such as RMB borrowings. As such, the
actual net amount of cash flow from each business

to the Company is an important indicator as to the
Company’s ability to service its debts. The following is
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a summary of cash contributions by each business

segment:
for the six months
ended 30 June

HKS mitlion 2008 2007
Special Steel 29 19
Property 1,260 774
Infrastructure

Aviation 1,369 268

Power Generation 375 301

Civil Infrastructure 237 801

Others 73 62
CITIC 1616 32 1,906
Dah Chong Hong 22 163
Qthers 1,898 22
Total 5,295 4,316

For the six months ended 30 June 2008, the Group’s
cash flow remained stable. Cash contribution to the
Company from Special Steel was low because most

of the cash flow from operations was reinvested for
expansion. The Property segment continued to
generate strong cash flow from both recurring rental
income and property sales. During the period, a parcel
of land in Po Yip Street in Hong Kong was disposed.
Under Aviation, the dividend received from Cathay
Pacific increased compared to the same period last year
and the contribution also included a cash receipt of
HK$916 million from the sale of Air China Cargo. Cash
fiow from Power Generation mainly reflected
contributions related to the prior year’s income. Under
Civil Infrastructure, the comparative figure for the
same period in 2007 was higher because Western
Harbour Crossing repaid a HK$560 million
shareholders’ loan to the Company. The contribution
from CITIC 1616 in 2007 included HK$1.9 billion
one-off proceeds from its separate listing. Contribution
under ‘Others’ was mainly related to sales of listed
shares, which realised approximately HK$1.8 billion
during the period.

CITIC Pacific Interim Report 2008 11
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Cash Contribution to Company by Business
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Cash Contribution per Share

HKS

7.2

6.6

2.3

4.0
2.4

2.8
0.1
1.7
0.1
2.2
six month results
0.9

1.1

1.2
1.6
4.9
4.2
2.0

2.4

03 04 05 06 o7 6/07 6/08

B Cash Flow per Share from the Sale of Businesses

M Cash Flow per Share from regular operations

Summary of Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

for the six months

ended 30 June
HKS million 2008 2007
Net Cash generated from / (invested in)
consolidated activities 1,799 (305}
jointly controlled entities {558) 602
associated companies 878 700
other financial assets 79 29
Sale of business interests and listed shares 3,228 2,345
Capital expenditure and investment in new businesses {12,608) (3,591}
Tax {332) (202)
Net interest paid (496) (326)
{8,010) {748)
Dividends paid {1,757) (2,429}
Increase in borrowings 12,749 3,315
Repurchase of shares (631) -
Share options exercised 8 258
10,369 1,144
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,359 396

12 CITIC Pacific Interim Report 2008
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Group Debt and Liquidity Total Debt after Hedging

The financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2008,
as compared to 31 December 2007 and 30 June 2007,

1s summarised as follows:

30 June 31 December 30 June
HKS million 2008 2007 2007
Total debt 41,908 28,654 21,975
Cash and bank deposits 10,695 8,045 4,135
Net debt 31,211 20,609 17,840

Total debt increased mainly due to capital expenditures

and new investments relating to the Group’s core
businesses in the first half of 2008.

The denomination of the Group’s borrowings as well as As at 30 June 2008

cash and deposit balances by currency as at 30 June BN HKS EZ US$S [ RMB BN Yen
2008 is summarised as follows:
Leverage
denomination Net debt divided by total capital was 34% as at 30 June
HKS$ mition equivaiert  HK$  US$ RMB  Yen other total 2008 compared with 26% at the end of 2007.
Total debt in
original currency 9,411 23,955 7,198 1,231 111 41,906 HKS
biition
Total debt
after hedging 16,806 16,982 7,198 808 111 41,906 100
Cash and
bank deposits 1,357 3,042 5533 135 622 10,695 80
Net debt / {cash)
after hedging 15,449 13840 1,659 674 (511} 31,211 60
40 2% 34%
25% 24% 26%
200 1294
03 04 05 06 07 6/08
= Total Capital wew=s Net Debt/Total Capital %
= Net Debt
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Maturity Profile of Qutstanding Debt

The Group actively manages its debt portfolio and
aims to extend the debt maturity profile such that the
maturing debt each year will not exceed the anticipated
cash flow and the Group’s ability to refinance the debt
in that year. As at 30 June 2008, outstanding loans that
will mature as at the end of 2008 amounted to HK$2.0
billion, against a cash and deposits balance totalling
HKS$10.7 billion. Weighted average life of the Group’s
debt was 5.8 years (31 December 2007: 6.0 years).

2013 and
HK$ miliion 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 beyond total percentage
Parent Company 3 2,966' 2,37 5,1742 7,550 11,596° 30,206 72%
Subsidiaries 2,044 1,314 2,393 3,502 543 1,814 11,700 28%
Total Maturing Debt 2,047 4,280 5,310 8,766 8,093 13,410 41,9086 100%

1. includes a US$270 miltion short term bridging ioan in connection with the fron Ore Mining project which will be
replaced by long term project foan.

2. Includes a US$450 miltion globa! bond due in 2011 which was issued by a wholly owned special purposes vehicle.

3. includes a JPY8.1 billion floating rate note due in 2035 which was issued by a wholly owned special purposes
vehicle.

Outstanding Debt by Type QOutstanding Debt by Maturity

6% 5%

13%

As at 30 June 2008 As at 30 June 2008
Il Long Term Loan @l Short Term Loan ] Bond 2008 32009 EM 2010 0O 2011
HR Money Market 2012 B8 2013 & beyond
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Debt / Cash in Jointly Controlled Entities The debt amounts shown in the table below were

and Associated Companies arranged by jointly controlled entities and associated
For accounting purposes, some of the Group’s companies without recourse to their shareholders.
businesses are classified as jointly controlled entities None of these debts is guaranteed by CITIC Pacific or
the debt / cash position of jointly controlled entities such as Discovery Bay, are 100% financed by their

and associated companies by business sector as at shareholders and do not have any external borrowings.

30 June 2008 which, under Hong Kong generally
accepted accounting standards, are not consolidated
into the Group’s accounts.

and associated companies. The following tabie shows its subsidiaries. Certain of the Group’s investments,

Business Sector proportion of net debt / (cash)
HKS million total net debt / (cash) attributable to CITIC Pacific
Special Steel 1,812 1,176
Property (256) (120)
Infrastructure

Aviation 18,858 3,291

Power Generation 53,171 13,621

Civil Infrastructure 2,786 951

Others 3.696 1,511
Listed Subsidiary

Dah Chong Hong (14) (3)
Others 1,408 725
Total 81,461 21,152

CITIC Pacific Inierim Report 2008 18
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Available Sources of Financing

In addition to the cash and deposits balance of
HK$10.7 billion as at 30 June 2008, the Group had
available loan and trade facilities totalling HK$21.8

billion and HK$2.9 billion respectively. Borrowings by
source of financing as at 30 June 2008 are summarised |
as follows:

HKS miflion total facilities outstandings  available facilities

Committed Facilities

Short Term Loan® 4,290 2,106 2,184
Term Loans 51,015 33,713 17,302
Global Bonds 3510 3,510 0
Private Placement 422 422 0
TJotal Committed 59,237 39,7591 19,486
Uncommitted Facilities

Money Market Lines and Short Term Facilities 4,457 2,136 2,321
Trade Facilities 4,414 1,523 2,891

* This is a USD short term bridging loan to support the funding requirement of the lron Ore Mining project Phase .

Available Committed Facilities by Maturity Available Facilities by Type
{Total HK$19.5 billion) {Total HK$24.7 billion) '
|
HKS 12% |
biifion .
(2]
o
ha 9%
9%
w9
~ [+
o
- .
08 09 10to 12 13 and As at 30 June 2008
beyond
As at 30 June 2008 MM Long Term Loan Short Term Loan
1 Money Market B Trade
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In addition to the above facilities, the Company has
established Cooperative Agreements with major banks
in mainland China. Under these Cooperative
Agreements, CITIC Pacific’s projects in mainland China
can apply for credit facilities subject to the banks’
approval on a project-by-project basis in accordance
with banking regulations in the Mainland.

Financing Activities

During the period, bilateral facilities totalling HK$4.0
billion were established or renewed at the Company
and subsidiary level. A 20-year U$$1,343 million
project finance loan was signed. In addition, a US$550
million bridge loan facility was established, which
will be replaced by a long term project finance loan

currently being arranged.

Pledged Assets
As at 30 June 2008, assets of HK$525 million
(31 December 2007: HK$423 million) were pledged to
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secure banking facilities, mainly related to Dah Chong
Heng’s overseas business and to a property subsidiary
in mainland China. In addition, assets of the Iron Ore

Mining project were pledged under the project finance

arrangement.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 30 June 2008, the Group’s contingent liabilities
had not changed significantly from the last year end.

Loan Covenants

Over the years, CITIC Pacific has developed a set of
standard loan covenants to facilitate the management
of its loan portfolio and debt compliance. The financial
covenants are generally limited to three major
categories, namely, a minimum net worth undertaking,
a maximum ratio of total borrowings to net worth and
a limit on the amount of pledged assets as a percentage
of the Group’s total assets. CITIC Pacific has been in

compliance with all of its loan covenants.

for the six months

covenant limits ended 30 June 2008
Minimum Consolidated Net Worth:
Consolidated Net Worth = HK$25 billion HK$62.8 billion
Gearing:
Consolidated Borrowing / Consolidated Net Worth <15 0.67
Negative Pledge:
Pledged Assets / Consolidated Total Assets s 30% 0.4%

For the purpose of the above covenant fimits, as defined in the relevant borrowing agreements:

‘Consolidated Net Worth' means the aggregate of shareholders’ funds and gooawill from acquisitions and
deveiopments having been written off against reserves or the profit and loss account.

‘Consclidated Borrowing” means the aggregate of all consolidated indebtedness for borrowed money and all
contingent obligations in respect of indebtedness for borrowed money other than aforesaid consolidated

indehtedness for borrowed money.

‘Negative Pledge' allows certain exceptions including but not limited to any security over any asset acquired or
developed which security is created to finance or refinance the acquisition or development of such asset.

CITIC Pacific Interim Report 2008
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Interest Cover

EBITDA divided by interest expense for the six months
ended 30 June 2008 was 20 times compared to 40 times
for the same period last year, due to the increase in
interest expense.

HKS
biliion

20
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R EBITDA / Interast Expense (x=times}

= EBITDA === |nterest Expense
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Credit Ratings

Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s have assigned long-
term credit ratings for the Company at Bal and BB+
respectively, both with a stable credit outlook. The
Group’s objective is to maintain a stable credit profile.
The Group’s recurrent income from Special Steel and
Properties continue to increase. The Iron Ore Mining
project will begin to contribute significant recurrent
income and cash flow once it is in operation, which is
anticipated to be in 2009/2010.

Forward Looking Statements

This Interim Report contains certain forward looking
statements with respect to the financial condition,
results of operations and business of the Group. These
forward looking statements represent the Company’s
expectations or beliefs concerning future events and
involve known and unknown risks and uncertainty
that could cause actual results, performance or events
to differ materially from those expressed or implied in
such statements.

Forward looking statements involve inherent risks

and uncertainties. Readers should be cautioned that a
number of factors could cause actual results to differ,
in some instances materially, from those anticipated or

implied in any forward looking statement.
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human resources

As at the end of June 2008, the total number of
employees at CITIC Pacific reached another new high
of 25,177 (2007: 23,989) as the Group continued its
development and investment in mainland China and
Australia. Employees working in Hong Kong increased
to 4,135 (2007: 3,932). Mainland China has the largest
number of employees and it has increased steadily to
20,491 (2007: 19,720), The other 551 (2007: 337) are
employed in subsidiaries in Japan, Singapore, Canada
and Australia.

To ensure that overall remuneration policy is externally
competitive and internally equitable to attract, retain,
motivate and reward a competent work force, the
Group continuously conducts reviews of cash
compensation and benefit programs. As the Group
remains largely compatible with other similar large
companies in the market, no major changes to the
human resources management policy have been made
in the last six months. In line with established policy,
some interim salary adjustments were awarded on a
selective basis to recognize performance and catch up
with market changes.

CITIC Pacific actively promotes a culture of open
communication in which staff can report concerns
and share ideas with management. The Group is also
committed to providing a healthy organizational
environment that is conducive to each individual’s
development. Employees are encouraged to improve
themselves through further studies and are supported
with financial sponsorship from the Group. In-house
training for different levels of employees is organized
on a regular basis to provide product knowledge

and skill development. Moreover, with growing
cross-territory business activities, across Hong Kong,
mainland China and Australia, the Group continues
to strengthen business integration, knowledge sharing
and skill transfer among staff at these locations.

CITIC Pacific fully supports investing in the training
and development of our younger generation. The
Group has implemented various management trainee
and apprentice training programs. It also provides
training opportunities to young school leavers and
college students by participating in the Youth
Pre-employment Training Programme held by the
Labour Department and internship programmes

of universities.

CITIC Pacific and its employees continue to support
charitable works and the promotion of education,
environmental protection, sports, culture and the arts
by sponsorship and participation in related activities.
In addition, to provide financial assistance to the
victims of Sichuan Earthquake, the Group and its
employees also donated generously to the relief fund.

CITIC Pacific Interim Report 2008
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consolidated
profit and loss account

for the six months ended 30 June - unaudited

in HKS million Note 2008 2007
Turnover 2 28,318 19,618
Cost of Sales (22,942) (13,973)
Distribution and Selling Expenses {312) {438)
Other Operating Exponses (1,441) (1,433)
Net Gailn from Sale of Other Financlal Assets 843 -
Change [n Fair Value of Investment Properties 410 355
Profit from Consoclidated Activities 3 4,676 4,129
Share of Results of

Jointly Controllod Entities 641 652

Associated Companies 43 708
Finance Charges (189} (128)
Finance Income 272 119
Net Finance Income / {Charges) 4 83 )
Profit before Taxation 5,443 5,482
Taxation 5 {496) (174)
Profit for the Period 4,947 5,308
Attributable to:

Shareholders of the Company 4,377 4,968

Minority Interests 570 340

4,947 5,308

Dividends

Dividend Proposed 6 {658} (1,325)

Earnings per Share for Profit attributable to
Sharcholders of tho Company during

the Period (HK$) 7
Baslic 1.99 2.25
Diluted 1.99 2.25
Dividend per Share (HKS)
Interim 0.30 0.40
Speclal - 0.20

20 CITIC Paclfic Interim Report 2008




[

consolidated
balance sheet

Unaudited As Restated
30 June 31 Decembier
in HK$ mifiion Note 2008 2007
Non-Current Assets
Fixed Assets
Property, plant and equipment 17,125 12,154
Investment properties 11,670 10,895
Properties under development 6,025 4,288
Leasehold land 1,718 1,641
37,438 28,978
Jointly controlled entities 21,338 17,446
Associated companies 17,818 17,941
Other financial assets 4,045 7,502
intangible assets 5,871 5,109
Deferred tax assets 91 100
Derivative financial instruments 225 150
Non-current depaosits 7,641 5,723
94,164 82,949
Current Assets
Properties held for sale 430 440
Assets held for sale 192 1,127
Inventories 6,843 5,082
Debtors, accounts receivable, deposits and prepayments 8 11,895 8,292
Cash and bank deposits 10,695 8,045
30,055 23,886
Current Liabllitles
Bank loans, other loans and overdrafts
Secured 395 328
Unsecured 4,467 3,326
Creditors, accounts payable, deposits and accruals 8 12,376 10,727
Liabilities held for sale - 2
Provision for taxation 674 590
17,912 14,973
Neot Current Assets 12,143 8,913
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities 106,307 91,862
Non-Current Liablillties
Long term borrowings 37,044 25,000
Deferred tax liabilities 2,216 2,094
Derivative financial instruments 310 69
39,570 27,163
Neot Assots 66,737 64,699
EQUITY
Share capital 878 885
Reserves 59,524 57,138
Proposed dividend 658 1,770
Equity attributable to Shareholders of the Company 61,060 59,793
Minority Interests 5,677 4,906
Total Equity 66,737 64,699

CITIC Pacific Interim Report 2008 21



1
.- o — I — e e

cbnsol}dated
cash flow statement

for the six months ended 30 June - unaudited

|
| Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
I
|

| Incorme taxes paid

in HK$ million 2008 2007
Cash Flows from Consolidated Activities
Profit from Consolidated Activities after Net Finance

Incorne / (Charges) 4,759 4,122
Net finance charges 49 40
Income from other financial assets (23) (29}
Depreciation and amortisation 508 576
Impairment losses 35 79
Net gain from sale of other financial assets (843) -
Provision for loan to associated companies - 2
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 6 55
Change in fair value of investment properties {410} (355)
Fair value gains on derivative financial instruments {130) (66)
Profit on disposal of interests in subsidiary companies {170) {1,928}
(Profit) / loss on disposal of jointly controlled entities and

associated companies {403) 135
Operating Profit before Working Capital Changes 3,308 2,631
Increase in inventories {557) (510)
Increase in debtors, accounts receivable, deposits and

prepayments {2,567) (2,337)
Increase / (decrease) in creditors, accounts payable,

deposits and accruals 1,507 61)

108 {28)
Cash from / (used in) Consolidated Activities 1,799 {305)
Interest received 202 119
Interest paid (698) (445)
(332) (202)

Net Cash from / {(used In) Consolidated Activities 871 (833)
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in HKE million 2008 2007
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchase of subsidiary companies {38) 2}
Purchase of additional interests in a subsidiary company 2) (244)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment {5,036) (348)
Purchase of properties under development (1,743} (369)
Purchase of leasehold land {33} (344)
Purchase of intangible assets (597) {386)
Investment in jointly controlled entities and

associated companies {2,507) (1,281}
ncrease in other financial assets (993) (663)
Increase in non-current deposits {2,348) -
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 89 46
Proceeds on sale of other financial assets 1,786 -
Proceeds on disposal of jointly controlied entities 916 -
Proceeds on disposal of interests in subsidiary companies 526 1,884
Issue of a subsidiary's shares - 461
(Increase) / decrease in loans to jointly controlled entities (383) 540
Decrease in loans to associated companies 356 215
Dividend income from jointly controlled entities and

associated companies 547 547
Income from other financial assets 79 29
Net Cash (used in) / from Investing Activities (8,981) 85
Cash Flows from Financing Actlvities
Repurchases of shares {631) -
Issues of shares pursuant to the Plan 8 258
New borrowings 16,8629 5,438
Repayment of loans {3,983) (1,914)
Decrease in minority interasts 97) (209)
Dividends paid (1,757} (2,429)
Net Cash from Financing Activities 10,369 1,144
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,359 396
Cash and Cash Equivalents at 1 January 8,017 3,634
Effect of Foreign Exchange Rate Changes 264 45
Cash and Cash Equivalents at 30 June 10,640 4,075
Analysis of the Balances of Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and bank deposits 10,685 4,135
Bank overdrafts {55) (60)

10,640 4,075
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consolidated statément of
changes in equity

for the six months ended 30 June - unaudited

in HK$ milliort 2008 2007
At 1 January
Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company 59,793 46,510

Minority interests 4,906 1,499
Share of Reserves of Assoclated Companies
Fair value gain on other financial assets 38 10
Loss on cash flow hedge of financial instruments {17} (3)
Retained profits {26) (22)
Share of capital redemption reserve - (1)
Share of capital reserve 10 36
Share of exchange transiation differences A4 -
Share of Reserves of Jointly Controlled Entitles
Fair value gain on other financial assets 7 -
{Loss} / gain on cash flow hedge of financial instruments {7} 2
Share of capital reserve 64 5
Share of exchange translation differences 50 15
Reserve Released on Disposal of

Jointly Controlled Entities (72) -
Gain on Cash Flow Hedge of Financlal Instruments 20 54
Fair Value {Loss) / Galn on Other Financial Assets (1,444) 951
Transfer to Profit and Loss Account on Disposal

of Other Financial Assets (1,483) -
Exchange Translation Differences 2,211 841
Net (Loss) / Income Recognised in Equity {542} 1,878
Profit for the Period
Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company 4,317 4,968

Minority interests 570 340
Total Recognised income for the Period 4,408 7,186
Attributable to:

Equity Shareholders of the Company 3,647 6,802

Minority Interests 758 384

4,405 7,186

Dividend to Shareholders of the Company {1,757) (2,429}
Minority Interests 13 796
Repurchase of Shares {631) -
Share Options Exercised
Premium received 8 252
Share capital issued - 6
At 30 June 66,737 53,820
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notes to
the accounts

1 | Significant Accounting Policies

These condensed unaudited consolidated interim accounts (‘the Accounts’) are prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Accounting Standard (‘HKAs’) 34 ‘Interim Financial Reporting’ issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The accounting policies used in preparation of the Accounts are consistent with those adopted in the annual
accounts for the year ended 31 December 2007 and with the adoption of certain new or revised Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, (‘HkFRs’) and HkAs in 2008 among which the following will have below impact
to the Group:

e HK(1FRIC)-Int 12 ‘Service Concession Arrangements’

In accordance with Hx (1FrIC)-Int 12, the vehicular tunnel is regarded as a service concession arrangement. As
such, the Group has recognised the vehicular tunnel as an intangible asset instead of property, plant and equipment
under fixed assets with retrospective effect from 1 January 2007. The carrying amount as at 1 January 2007 of
HK$1,102 million has also been restated.

The adoption of the above accounting standard has no effect on the Group’s results reported for the period ended
30 June 2008.

2 | Turnover and Segment Information
An analysis of the Group’s turnover and profit from consolidated activities and share of results of jointly controlled
entities and associated companies by business is as follows:

share of
results of sharg of
profit from jointly  results of

six months ended 30 June 2008 consolidated controlled asscciated group segment segment
in HK$ million turnover activities entities companies total allocations profit
By principal activities
Special Steel 15,212 1,846 408 - 2,281 - 2,251
Property 201 477 {9) {8) 463 46 5089
Infrastructure 1,289 680 141 (65) 756 - 756
Listed Subsidiary Companies

CITIC 1616 1,128 178 - - 178 - 178

Dah Chong Hong 9,631 449 29 {29) 449 (48) 403
Others 157 219 75 {18) 8786 - o976
Change in Fair Value of

Investment Properties - 410 - 160 870 - 570
Less: General and Administration

Expenses - {283} - - {283} - (283)

28,318 4,876 641 43 5,360 - 5,360

Net Finance Income 83
Taxation {4986)
Profit for the Period 4,947
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2 | Turnover and Segment Information continued

share of
results of  share of
profit from jointly  results of

six months ended 30 June 2007 consolidated controlled associated group  segment  segment
in HKE million turnover activities entities companies total allocations profit
By principal activities
Special Steel 8,737 1,274 227 - 1,501 - 1,501
Property 371 293 (11) 46 328 42 370
Infrastructure 595 113 260 569 942 - 942
Listed Subsidiary Companies

CITIC 1616 2,831 2,039 - - 2,039 - 2,038

Dah Cheong Hong 7,062 272 22 2 296 (42) 254
Others 22 21 154 {25) 150 - 150
Change in Fair Value of

Investment Properties - 355 - 116 471 - 471
Less: General and Administration Expenses - {238) - - (238) - (238)

19,618 4,129 652 708 5,489 - 5,489

Net Finance Charges (7)
Taxation (174)
Profit for the Period 5,308

An analysis of the Group’s turnover by geographical area is as follows:

six months ended 30 June

in HK$ miliion 2008 2007

By geographical area

Hong Kong 6,052 6,326

Mainland China 21,177 12,410

Overseas 1,089 882
28,318 19,618
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3 | Profit from Consolidated Activities

INMVLeYD v MIG dvwivyariwe

The profit from consolidated activities is arrived at after crediting and charging:

six months ended 30 June
As restated

in HK$ million 2008 2007
Crediting

Dividend income from other financial assets 93 29
Profit on disposal of subsidiary company 170 1,928
Profit on disposal of jointly controlled entity 403 -
Charging

Cost of inventories sold 20,738 12,803
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 432 500
Amortisation of intangible assets 51 49
Ameortisation of leasehold land 25 24
Impairment losses on other financial assets 21 1
Impairment losses on fixed assets 14 72

4 | Net Finance {Income) / Charges

six months ended 30 June

in HKE mitlion 2008 2007

Finance charges

Interest expenses 709 421

Amount capitalised {388) (262)

Fair value gains on derivative financial instruments (130) (66)

Exchange (gain} / loss (30} 10

Other finance charges 28 23
189 126

Finance income

Interest income (272) {119)
{83) 7
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5 | Taxation

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2007: 17.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the period.
Overseas taxation is calculated on the estimated assessable profit for the period at the rates of taxation prevailing
in the countries in which the Group operates. Tax provisions are reviewed regularly to take into account changes
in legislation, practice and status of negotiations. Details as follows:

six months ended 30 June

in HK$ million 2008 2007

Current taxation

Hong Keng profits tax 114 104

Overseas taxation 367 207

Deferred taxation

Changes in fair value of investment properties 76 55

Origination and reversal of other temporary differences (29} (15

Effect on tax rate change {32) {177)
496 174

6 | Dividends

six months ended 30 June

in HK$ mitlion 2008 2007
2007 Final dividend paid: HK$0.80 (2006: HK$0.80) per share 1,757 1,767
2007 Special dividend paid: Nil (2006: HK$0.30) per share - 662
1,757 2,429

2008 Interim dividend proposed: HK$0.30 (2007: HK$0.40) per share 658 883
2008 Special dividend proposed; Nil (2007: HK$0.20) per share - 442
658 1,325

7 | Earnings per Share
The calculation of earnings per share is based on profit attributable to shareholders of HK$4,377 million (2007:
HK$4,968 million).

The basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of 2,198,430,092 shares in issue during
the period (2007: 2,203,437,210 shares in issue). The diluted earnings per share is based on 2,203,728,977 shares
(2007: 2,208,527,391 shares) which is the weighted average number of shares in issue during the period plus the
weighted average number of 5,298,885 shares (2007: 5,090,181 shares) deemed to be issued at no consideration
if all outstanding options had been exercised.
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8.1 | Debtors, Accounts Receivable, Deposits and Prepayments

. 30 June 31 December

in HK$ millicn 2008 2007
Trade debtors and bills receivable

Within 1 year 5,811 4,248

Over 1 year 54 42

5,865 4,290

Accounts receivable, deposits and prepayments 6,030 4,002

11,895 8,292

Note:
i) Trade debtars are net of provision and the ageing is classified based on invoice date.

if) Each business unit has a defined credit policy appropriate to its circumstances.

ifi) The carrying amounts of debtors, accounts receivable, deposits and prepayments approximate their fair value.

fv) Accounts receivable, deposits and prepayments inciude derivative financial assets of HK$580 million (2007: HK$251 million), amounts due
from jointly controfled entities of HK$143 million (2007: HK$138 million), which are unsecured, interest free and recoverable on demand,
except for an amount of HK$5 miliion (2007: HK$1 million) which is interest bearing, and amounts dus from associated companies of

HK$200 miilion {2007: HK$30 million) which are unsecured, interest free and recoverable on demand.

8.2 | Creditors, Accounts Payable, Deposits and Accruals

30 June 31 December

in HK$ million 2008 2007
Trade creditors and bills payable

Within 1 year 4,803 4,532

Over 1 year 587 329

8,390 4,861

Accounts payable, deposits and accruals 6,986 5,866

12,376 10,727

Note:

i} Accounts payable, deposits and accruals included derivative financial fiabilities of HK$29 million (2007: HK$66 million).

i} The carrying amounts of craditors, accounts payable, deposits and accruals approximate their fair vaiue.
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report on review of
interim financial report

Report on Review of Interim Financial Report to The Board of Directors of CITIC Pacific Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Introduction

We have reviewed the interim financial report set out on pages 20 to 29, which comprises the consolidated balance
sheet of CITIC Pacific Limited (the ‘Company’) and its subsidiaries (together, the ‘Group’) as at 30 June 2008 and the
related consolidated profit and loss account, statements of changes in equity and cash flows for the six-month
period then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. The Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited require the
preparation of a report on interim financial report to be in compliance with the relevant provisions thereof and
Hong Kong Accounting Standard 34 ‘Interim Financial Reporting’ issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (‘Hkas 34’). The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation
of this interim financial report in accordance with Hkas 34. Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on this
interim financial report based on our review and to report our conclusion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Scope of Review

We conducted our review in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Review Engagements 2410, ‘Review of
Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity’ issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. A review of interim financial report consists of making inquiries,
primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review
procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all
significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.

Conclusion

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the interim financial report is
not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard 34 ‘Interim Financial
Reporting'.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 August 2008
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‘statutory
disclosure

Dividend and Closure of Register

The Directors have declared an interim dividend of HK$0.30 per share (2007: interim dividend of HK$0.40 per
share and a special dividend of HK$0.20 per share) for the year ending 31 December 2008 payable on Friday,

26 September 2008 to shareholders whose names appear on the Register of Members of the Company on Monday,
22 September 2008. The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 16 September 2008 to
Monday, 22 September 2008, both days inclusive, during which period no share transfer will be effected. In order to
qualify for the Interim dividend, all transfers, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with
the Company’s Share Registrars, Tricor Tengis Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 12 September 2008.

Share Option Plan

Share Option Plan adopted by the Company

Under the CITIC Pacific Share Incentive Plan 2000 (‘the Plan’) adopted on 31 May 2000, the Board may invite

any director, executive or employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries to subscribe for options over the
Company’s shares on payment of HK$1 per acceptance. The subscription price determined by the Board will be at
least the higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii} the nominal value of the Company’s shares. The maximum number of shares over which options may be
granted under the Plan shall not exceed 10% of (i) the issued share capital of the Company from time to time or
(ii) the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of adopting the Plan, whichever is the lower.

All options granted and accepted under the Plan can be exercised in whole or in part within 5 years from the date
of grant. During the six months ended 30 June 2008, no options were granted, cancelled or lapsed. A summary of
the movements of the share options during the six months ended 30 June 2008 is as follows:

A. Directors of the Company

number of share options

exercised during percentage of

exercise price  balance as at the 6 months balance as at issued share

name of director date of grant HK$ 01.01.08 ended 30.06.08 30.06.08 capital %
Larry Yung Chi Kin 05.12.05 20.50 100,000,000 - 100,000,000

. {Note 1)

16.10.07 47.32 2,000,000 - 2,000,000

102,000,000 4.649
Peter Lee Chung Hing 01.11.04 19.90 1,000,000 - 1,000,000
20.06.06 22.10 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
16.10.07 47.32 1,200,000 - 1,200,000

3,400,000 0.155
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number of share options

exercised during percentage of

exercise price  balance as at the 6 months  balance as at issued share

name of director date of grant HK$ 01.01.08 ended 30.06.08 30.06.08 capital %
Carl Yung Ming Jie 01.11.04 19.90 500,000 - 500,000
20.06.06 22.10 600,000 - 600,000
16.10.07 47.32 800,000 - 800,000

1,900,000 0.087
Leslie Chang Li Hsien 01.11.04 18.90 350,000 - 350,000
20.06.06 2210 800,000 - 800,000
16.10.07 47.32 800,000 - 800,000

1,950,000 0.089
Vernon Francis Moore 01.11.04 19.90 1,000,000 - 1,000,000
20.06.06 22.10 700,000 - 700,000
16.10.07 47.32 600,000 - 600,000

2,300,000 0.105

Li Shilin 16.10.07 47.32 500,000 - 500,000 0.023
Liu Jifu 20.06.06 22.10 700,000 - 700,000
16.10.07 47.32 700,000 - 700,000

1,400,000 0.064
Chau Chi Yin 01.11.04 19.90 500,000 - 500,000
20.06.06 22.10 800,000 - 800,000
16.10.07 47.32 800,000 - 800,000

2,100,000 0.086
Milton Law Ming To 01.11.04 19.90 334,000 - 334,000
20.06.06 22.10 800,000 - 800,000
16.10.07 47.32 800,000 - 800,000

1,934,000 0.088
Wang Ande 20.06.06 22.10 500,000 150,000 350,000

{Note 2)

16.10.07 47.32 800,000 - 800,000

1,150,000 0.052

Kwok Man Leung 16.10.07 47.32 600,000 - 600,000 0.027

{Note 3)
Chang Zhenming 16.10.07 47.32 500,000 - 500,000 0.023
Note:

1. These share options were granted by CITIC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company, and can be
exercised during the period from 5 December 2008 to 4 December 2010.

2. The weighted average closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised was

HK$35.40.

3. Mr Kwok Man Leung was appointed as director of the Company on 1 April 2008. Thus, this is in respect of the balance as of 1 April 2008,
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B. Employees of the Company working under continuous contracts (as defined in the Employment Ordinance),

other than the Directors

exercise price

number of share options

balance as at

exercised during

the 6 months balance as at

date of grant HK$ 01.01.08 ended 30.06.08 30.06.08
1 November 2004 19.90 1,030,000 - 1,030,000
20 June 2006 22.10 2,239,000 193,000 2,046,000
{Note 4)
16 October 2007 : 47.32 6,750,000 - 6,750,000
Note :
4. The weighted average closing price of the shares of tha Company immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised was
HK$36.62,
C. Others
number of share options
exercised during
exercise price balance as at the 6 months balance as at
date of grant HK$ 01.01.08 ended 30.06.08 30.06.08
1 November 2004 19.90 200,000 - 200,000
{Note 5)
16 October 2007 47.32 50,000 - 50,000
{Note 5)
Note:

5. These are in respect of aptions granted to former employees undar continucus contracts, who have subsequently retired or resigned.
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Share Qption Plans adopted by Subsidiaries of the Company

CITIC 1616 Holdings Limited (‘CITIC 1616")

CITIC 1616 adopted a share option plan (‘CITIC 1616 Share Option Plan’) on 17 May 2007. On 23 May 2007,
options to subscribe for a total of 18,720,000 shares in CITIC 1616, representing approximately 1% of the issued
share capital, at the exercise price of HK$3.26 per share, were granted under the CITIC 1616 Share Option Plan

and all were accepted. All options granted can be exercised in whole or in part within 5 years from the date of grant.

None of the above options were exercised or canceiled but options for 2,445,000 shares of CITIC 1616 have lapsed
during the six months ended 30 June 2008. No further options were granted during the six months ended 30 June
2008. The grantees were certain directors or employees of CITIC 1616 working under continuous contracts (as
defined in the Employment Ordinance). None were granted to the directors, chief executives or substantial
shareholders of the Company.

Dah Chong Hong Holdings Limited (‘vcH Holdings’)
Pre-1po Share Option Scheme
pcH Holdings adopted the Pre-1po Share Option Scheme (‘Pre-1po Scheme’) on 28 September 2007.

pcH Holdings has granted 18,000,000 options under the Pre-1ro Scheme before the listing of pcu Holdings at the
exercise price of HK$5.88 per share. No options will be offered or granted under the Pre-1p0 Scheme after ncu
Holdings’ listing. All options granted and accepted fully vested on the date of grant but have a lock-up period

of 6 months from the listing of pcH Holdings and are then exercisable in whole or in part within 5 years from the
date of grant.

None of the options granted under the Pre-1po Scheme were exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the six months
ended 30 June 2008. The grantees were certain directors or employees of the pcH Holdings group working under
continuous contracts (as defined in the Employment Ordinance). None were granted to the directors, chief
executives or substantial shareholders of the Company.

Post-1po Share Option Scheme
pcH Holdings adopted the Post-1po Share Option Scheme (*Post-1po Scheme’) on 28 September 2007.
pcH Holdings has not granted any options under the Post-1po Scheme since its adoption.

Directors’ Interests in Securities

The interests of the Directors in shares of the Company or any associated corporation {within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (‘sro’)) as at 30 June 2008 as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 352 of the sro were as follows:
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1. Shares in the Company and associated corporations

nummber of shares

personal interasts unless

percentage to the

- issued share capital

name of director otherwise stated %

CITIC Pacific Limited

Larry Yung Chi Kin 416,495,000 18.982
{Note 1)

Henry Fan Hung Ling 50,640,000 2.308
(Note 2)

Peter Lee Chung Hing 1,000,000 0.046

Carl Yung Ming Jie 300,000 0.014

Leslie Chang Li Hsien 480,000 0.022

Vernon Francis Moore 4,200,000 0191
(Note 3)

Li Shilin 300,000 0.014

Liu Jifu 840,000 0.038

Chau Chi Yin 536,000 0.024

Wang Ande 400,000 0.018

Hansen Loh Chung Hon 1,550,000 0.071
{Note 4)

André Desmarais 10,145,000 0.462
(Note 5)

Peter Kruyt (alternate director to Mr André Desmarais) 34,100 0.002

CITIC 1616 Holdings Limited

Vernon Francis Moocre 200,000 0.010
(Note 3)

Chau Chi Yin 26,750 0.001

Dah Chong Hong Holdings Limited

Li Shilin 12,000 0.001

Liu Jifu 33,600 0.002
(Note 6)

Chau Chi Yin 21,000 0.001

Hansen Loh Chung Hon 62,000 0.003
(Note 7)

Note:
1. Corporate interest

. Corporate interest in respect of 5,640,000 shares and trust interest in respect of 45,000,000 shares

2
3. Trust inferest
4

. Personal interest in respect of 1,050,000 shares; corporate interest in respect of 500,000 shares and family interest in respect of 500,000

shares which duplicate each other

n

6. Family interest

. Corporate interest in respect of 10,800,000 shares and farnily interest in respect of 145,000 shares

7. Corporate interest in respect of 20,000 shares and concert party interest in respect of 42,000 shares
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2. Share Options in the Company
The interests of the Directors in the share options (being regarded as unlisted physically settled equity derivatives)
of the Company are stated in detail in the preceding section of Share Option Plan.

3. Share Options in an associated corporation, CITIC Capital Holdings Limited

number of share options

lapsed / cancelled /

balance granted during exercised during balance  percentage of

as at the 6 months the 6 months as at issued share

name of director date of grant 01.01.08  ended 30.06.08 ended 30.06.08 30.06.08 capital %
Peter Lee Chung Hing 02.03.05 15,000 - - 15,000
04.04.06 10,00C - - 10,000
11.12.07 10,000 - - 10,000

35,000 0.125
Leslie Chang Li Hsien 02.03.05 15,000 - - 15,000
04.04.06 10,000 - - 10,000
11.12.07 10,000 - - 10,000

35,000 0.125
Vernon Francis Moore 02.03.05 15,000 - - 15,000
04.04.06 10,000 - - 10,000
11.12.07 10,000 - - 10,000

35,000 0.125

Chang Zhenming 11.12.07 125,000 - - 125,000 0.446

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2008, none of the Directors of the Company had nor were they taken to or
deemed to have, under Part XV of the sFo, any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations or any interests which are required to be entered into the
register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the sFo or any interests which are required to be notified
to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies in the Listing Rules.
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Substantial Sharehoiders

As at 30 June 2008, the interests of the substantial shareholders, other than the Directors of the Company or their

respective associate(s), in the shares of the Company as recorded in the register of interests in shares and short

positions required to be kept under section 336 of the sro were as follows:

1, Interest in the Shares

percentage to the

number of shares issued share capital

name of the Company %
CITIC Group 643,611,285 29.333
CITIC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited (‘"CITIC HK’) 643,611,285 29.333
Heedon Corporation 496,386,285 22.623
Honpville Corporation 310,988,221 14.174
Power Corporation of Canada 156,220,000 7.120
Gelco Enterprises Ltee 156,220,000 7.120
Nordex Inc. 156,220,000 7.120
Paul G. Desmarais 156,220,000 7.120

CITIC HK is a substantial shareholder of the Company indirectly through the following wholly owned subsidiary

companies:

name of subsidiary companies

percentage to the

number of shares issued share capital

of CITIC HK of the Company %
Affluence Limited 46,089,000 2.101
Winton Corp. 30,718,000 1.400
Westminster Investment Inc. 101,960,000 4.647
Jetway Corp. 20,462,000 0.933
Cordia Corporation 32,258,064 1.470
Honpville Corperation 310,988,221 14.174
Hainsworth Limited 91,136,000 4.154
Southpoint Enterprises Inc. 10,000,000 0.456
Raymondford Company Limited 2,823,000 0.129

r

Each of Affluence Limited, Winton Corp., Westminster Investment Inc., Jetway Corp., Cordia Corporation,

Honpville Corporation, Hainsworth Limited, Southpoint Enterprises Inc. and Raymondford Company Limited
holds the shares of the Company beneficially. Accordingly, Honpville Corporation is a substantial shareholder of

the Company.
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CITIC Group is the direct holding company of CITIC HK. CITIC HK is the direct holding company of Heedon
Corporation, Hainsworth Limited, Affluence Limited and Barnsley Investments Limited. Heedon Corporaticn is
the direct holding company of Winton Corp., Westminster Investment Inc., Jetway Corp., Kotron Company Ltd.
and Honpville Corporation and Kotron Company Ltd. is the direct holding company of Cordia Corporation.
Affluence Limited is the direct holding company of Man Yick Corporation which is the direct holding company

of Raymondford Company Limited. Barnsley Investments Limited is the direct holding company of Southpoint
Enterprises inc. Accordingly, the interests of CITIC Group in the Company duplicate the interests of CITIC HK in
the Company. The interests of CITIC Hx in the Company duplicate the interests in the Company of all its direct and
indirect subsidiary companies as described above. The interests of Heedon Corporation in the Company duplicate
the interests in the Company of all its direct and indirect subsidiary companies as described above. The interests
of Affluence Limited in the Company duplicate the interests in the Company of its direct subsidiary company as
described above. The interests of Man Yick Corporation in the Company duplicate the interests in the Company

of its direct subsidiary company as described above. The interests of Barnsley investments Limited in the Company
duplicate the interests in the Company of its direct subsidiary company as described above and the interests of
Kotron Company Ltd. in the Company duplicate the interests in the Company of its direct subsidiary company

as described above.

Power Corporation of Canada is a company 53.83% controlled by Gelco Enterprises Ltee which in turn is 94.95%
controlled by Nordex Inc. and the remainder by Mr Paul G. Desmarais. Nordex Inc. in turn is 689% controlled
directly by Mr Paul G. Desmarais and indirectly as to 32% by the latter. Thus, the aforesaid interests of Power
Corporation of Canada, Gelco Enterprises Ltee, Nordex Inc. and Mr Paul G. Desmarais in the Company duplicate
each other.

2. Short Position in the Shares

percentage to the

number of shares issued share capital
name of the Company %
CITIC Graup 100,000,000 4.558
CITIC HK 100,000,000 4.558

These are in respect of options granted by CITIC Hk to Mr Larry Yung Chi Kin, the Chairman of the Company.

Share Capital

During the six months ended 30 June 2008, the Company made the following repurchases of its own shares on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange for purpose of enhancing its earnings per share:

price per share

number of shares aggregate
month / year repurchased highest (HK$) lowest (HK$) price paid {(HK$)
January 2008 15,484,000 37.90 32.25 545,205,150
June 2008 2,837,000 30.40 28.50 83,689,450
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These repurchased shares were cancelled upon repurchase and accordingly the issued share capital of the Company

was reduced by the nominal value of these shares. The premium payable on repurchase was charged against

retained profit. An amount equivalent to the nominal value of the shares cancelled of approximately HK$7.3

million was transferred from retained profit to capital redemption reserve.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiary companies has purchased or sold any of the

Company’s shares during the six months ended 30 June 2008 and the Company has not redeemed any of its shares

during the six months ended 30 june 2008.

Continuing Disclosure Requirements under Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules

The Company has included a proforma combined balance sheet of the relevant affiliated companies as required

therein under Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules. Affiliated companies include associated companies and jointly

controlled entities.

Proforma combined balance sheet of affiliated comparies

Group’s attributable interest

in HKS miilion as at 30 June 2008
Fixed Assets 7,559
Jointly Controlled Entities 422
Intangible Assets 1,826
Pension Assets 29
Other Non Current Assets 1,950
Net Current Assets 1,806
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities 13,592
Long Term Borrowings (3,281)
Deferred Tax Liabilities (173)
Derivative Financial Instruments (1,151)
Loan from Shareholders (5,224)

3,763
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Corporate Governance

CITIC Pacific is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate governance and first class business practices.
The Board believes that good corporate governance practices are increasingly important for maintaining and
promoting investor conftdence. Details of our corporate governance practices can be found on page 49 of the 2007
annual report and the Company’s website www.citicpacific.com.

Throughout the six months ended 30 June 2008, CITIC Pacific has complied with all code provisions in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The Audit Committee of the Board, consisting of three non-executive
directors of whom two are independent, has reviewed the Interim Report with management and the Company’s
internal and external auditors and recommended its adoption by the Board.

The Interim Accounts, which are prepared in accordance with Hk s 34 ‘Interim Financial Reporting’, have been
reviewed by the Company’s independent auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers in accordance with the Hong Kong
Standard on Review Engagements 2410, ‘Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent
Auditor of the Entity’.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (‘Model
Code’) contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry, all Directors have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the six months ended 30 June 2008.
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definition
of terms

Terms

Capital employed

Cash contributed from all businesses

Total debt
Net debt
Total capital
EBITDA

Contribution

Ratios

Earnings per share

Shareholders’ funds per share

Leverage

Cashflow per share

Interest cover

Shareholders’ funds + total debt

Cash inflow to CITIC Pacific Ltd. from its subsidiary companies,
jointly controlled entities, associated companies and other investments,

including proceeds from sale of businesses and dividend declared
Short term and long term loans, notes and bonds

Total debt less cash and bank deposits

Shareholders’ funds + net debt

Net profit less interest expense, taxation, depreciation and amortisation

A business’s after tax profit that contributes to unallocated central

interest, overhead and goodwill

Profit attributable to shareholders

Weighted average number of shares (by days) in issue for the year

Shareholders’ funds

Total issued and fully paid shares at end of the year

Net debt

Total capital

Cash contributed from all businesses

Total issued and fully paid shares at end of the year

EBITDA

Interest expense
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corporate
information

Headquarters and Registered Office
32nd Floor, CITIC Tower, 1 Tim Mei Avenue,
Central, Hong Kong

Telephone: +852 2820 2111 Fax: +852 2877 2771

Website

www.citicpacific.com contains a description

of CITIC Pacific’s business, copies of both the full
and summary financial reports to shareholders,

announcements, press releases and other information.

Stock Codes

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong: 0267
Bloomberg: 267 HK

Reuters: 0267.HK

American Depositary Receipts: CTPCY
CUSIP Reference No: 17304K102

Share Registrars

Shareholders should contact our Registrars,
Tricor Tengis Limited, 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre,
28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong at

+852 2980 1333, or by fax: +852 2810 8185, on matters

such as transfer of shares, change of name or address,
or loss of share certificates.

Investor Relations

Investors, shareholders and research analysts may
contact the Investor Relations Department by
telephone at +852 2820 2004, by fax: +852 2522 5259
or at investor.relations@citicpacific.com.

Financial Calendar

Closure of Register: 16 September 2008 to
22 September 2008
Interim Dividend payable: 26 September 2008

The Interim Report is printed in English and Chinese language and is available on our website

at www.citicpacific.com under the ‘Investor Information’ section.

Shareholders may choose to receive the Interim Report in printed form in either the English or

Chinese language or both or by electronic means. Shareholders may at any time change their

choice on these matters by writing to the Company’s Share Registrars.

Sharehoiders having difficulty in gaining access to the Interim Report will promptly be sent

printed copies free of charge upon request to the Company’s Share Registrars.

Non-shareholders are requested to write to the Company Secretary, CITIC Pacific Limited,
32nd Floor, CITIC Tower, 1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong, or by fax: +852 2877 2771

or by email: contact@citicpacific.com.
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CITIC PACIFIC
CITIC Pacific Limited

A R H A BRA )

(lncarporated in Hong Kong with limited linbility)

(Stock Code: 267)

12 September 2008
Dear Shareholders,

CITIC PACIFIC LIMITED
2008 INTERIM REPORT

We are pleaset| to enclose the 2008 Interim Report. The 2008 interim Report has been prepared in English
and Chinese. Please note that both the English and the Chinese versions of the above docunent are also
available on the Company’s website at hip://aww.eiticpacific.com.

H vou have chosen to rely on the version of the above document posted on the Company’s website in licu of
the printed copies and for any reason vou have difficulty in receiving or gaining access to the same or
wishes to receive a printed copy; or il you have received the above document in either English or Chinese
only and would like to receive a printed copy in the other language or in hoth languages, please complete
Part A of the enclosed request slip and send it to the Company’s share registrars, Tricor Tengis Limited ar
26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road Easi, Wanchai, Hong Kong, using the postage prepaid
envelope provided.

You have the right at any time by reasonable notice in writing 10 the Company’s share registrars 10 change
the choice of language and mneans of receipt of the Corporate Communication®. I vou would like to change
the choice of language and means of receipt of future Corporate Communication in the Tuture, please
complete Part B of the enclosed request slip and send it to the Company’s share registrars using the postage
prepai¢l envelope provided.

* “Corporate Conmnunicatton”™ inclndes anv document issued or 10 be issued by the Company for

vour information or action, including but not limired 10—

{a)  the directors® report, its annual accounts together with a copy of the auditors® report and,
where applicable, its sinmary financial repor;

(b)  the interim report and, where applicable, sununary interim report;
(c) o notice of meeting;
(d)  a lisung document;
(e)  acircular; and
(N a proxy form,
If you have any ¢queries relating to this letter, please call our hodine at (852) 2980 1333.
Yours faithfully,
For and on hehalf of
CITIC Pacific Limited

Stella Chan Chui Sheung
Company Secretary

CITIC Pacific Ltd. 32nd Floor, CITIC Tower, 1 Tim Met Avenue, Central, Hong Kong.
Tel: 28202111  Fax: 2877 2771  Email: conact@eciticpacific.com  Website: www.citicpacific.com
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CHANGE OF ELECTION OF LANGUAGE AND MEANS OF
RECEIPT OF CORPORATE COMMUNICATION
REQUEST SLIP

To:  CITIC Pacific Limited
¢/o Tricor Tengis Limited
20th Floor, Tesbury Centre
28 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai, Hong Kong

PART A — TO RECEIVE PRINTED VERSION OF THE 2008 INTERIM REFORT
Please tick anly: one bour.

(a) [ I/We have already received the Chinese version of the 2008 Interim Report but 1 would now
like 10 receive an English version; OR

m O E'We have already received the English version of the 2008 Interim Report but [ would now
like to receive a Chinese version; OR

«y O4d [/We have chosen o rely on the 2008 [merim Report posted on the Company’s website but
would like 10 receive a printed copy of the 2008 lnreriin Report in English / Chinese / both
English and Chinese*.

* Please delete winchever is inapproprinte

PART B — TO CHANGE THE ELECTION OF LANGUAGE AND MEANS OF RECEIPT OF FUTURE
CORPORATE COMMUNICATION

Please tick only one box.

() [ 1/We would like 10 receive the printed English version only of the Corporate Comnnmication;
OR

by O I/We would like 10 receive the prined Chinese version only of the Corporate Coremmicarion;
OR

¢y O I[/We would like to receive both the printed English and the printed Chinese versions of

the Corporate Conmmunication; OR

o O3 I/We would like 1o rely on the Corporate Communication posted on the Company’s website

in lien of printed versions and (0 receive email notification to my/our email address at.
(Note 5) of the publication of the Corporare
Communication on the Company’s website.




Please note that:

I. “Corporate Communication” includes any document issued or to be (ssued by the Company for your information
or action, including but not limited to:~
{a) the directors” report, its annual accounts tagether with a copy of the auditors’ report and, where

applicable, its summary financial report;
(b the interim report and, where applicable, summary interim report;
() a notice of meeting;
{d) a listing document;
{e) a circular: and
i a proxy form.

2, The above instruction will apply to all Corporate Communication to be sent to our shareholders not less than
10 business days after the date hereof until you inform us otherise.

3. Both the English and the Chinese versions of all Corporate Communication will be available from the Company
or its share registrars on request.

4. If your shares are held in joint names, all joint holders OR the joint holder whose name stands first on our
Register of Members should sign on this request slip in order to be calid.

3. If you do not provide your email address, you will NOT be notified as and when the Corporate Communication
is published on the Comparty’s website.

6. You have the right at any time by reasonable notice in writing to the Companys share registrars to change the
choice of language and means of receipt of the Corporate Communication.

7 If you choose to rely on the version of the Corporate Communication posted on the Company’s website in lieu of
the printed versions, and for any reason you have difficulty in receiving or gaining access to the same, you will
promptly upon request be sent the Corporate Communication in printed form free of charge.

S. If you have any queries relating to this form, please call our hotline at (§852) 2950 1333.

Name: Signature:

Contact relephone number: Dites:

Folio number: (Please refer to your share certificate(s))

Address:




WAHEL:
1 [LTERI BTGB GHELAFE LIt BFEEFLFRTH 2L QREETRE:

(a) — HEHGHE RFELREEFEYARER (WER) RUBHERE
(o)  HRIEER (ER) PR E

fc) FREE
{d) Nalii g
(e} R
i HREEFH -
2 FREEREERERRAET DR HBEFEABEIMEE AT N GREZFAAREN-RE BTFS
frEmELasit-

3. KO A BRI BIEF SRR R BT 4 AR #HE MR

4, W BTZROBGEHFH FHREFATABRLREERAHE G (17 BEFHNREFF H T
Hi-

5. MTEREEE HT2UEML BTHTORELTENERATEREREN-
6. MTHBBBEELAZEGRF SERE S S BINTAE RS AR B RERF o

7. i BT REREAREL RS2 0 FET RO R R PME R B TR
B A AR AR L AR R I BT ERFRHHL TERZ R %

S  f B FHEAEGEA LR FHTEHRE(552) 2950 1333 «

M BE:
e A LR H#:
B 5t (FEHE BTRR)

Mgk -




FARBNRAGSEAZHEERERFR

B iR E
. PEREFRAAE
e EEERFRAN
Fi BT
B RER285
SHEE 0208

- WR-ZPENFDHEEZARNE

HERRP—EERAEL /)

(@) O
(b} O
() O

AN/ EETHRN RS2 Z BB/ TR Y HH AR RIS X
AN/ BHC AR AZ ZFF A PR S {H B ORI U B

FA/ESCREHER AAFMHNERY ZETAFEPRERSE BRI HX
B RPIEELZ ZFF /R R EER A

“ FMEAERE

B EREEAEERATARZEEEERSR

BERRE—EERAE L /5

() O
(b) O
() O

AN/ BFEAROBOREI R A Z 2w R A2 5

AN/ EEE RS RXRA Z 4 A R E R A 5 B
EA/BEREREXR PN A 2w BRI 5

EA/BEREER BARNARERZ ATEH URBARA FUEA BFFZEH

Hi 4t (a5 WBRAR BRAF
REERAREM ARG 2 EHEA-




o
RECTIVED
MBIP 2y P oo:ig
':f!.‘i.' CELTEY oy

o N

>

CITIC PACYFIC
CITIC Pacific Limited

P EBEARAA

OAFEEEEMBAIIEIRAE)D
(R R5%E - 267)

KT AREHRER D ERAFRRNATEARREYEER
SITRENALEERRENRGRRBLS - Kekikdk
BRAFRHMERERROEVIEAH -

E&HALTS: 000708 BREEHR:. XBEH NEIRE. 2008-016

RIGF BRI 40 F P2 ]
FHEEFSBENRSWRYAF

XN ARAEHLL AR ARIER SHBNENEE. RAPE, BF8
BieR. RIPMHBREXER

KYRIS BN AT R A A A8 FLR T IS B IR A ICT 2008 5E 8 A 12 HEA
W AEEE T IRE R s, T 2008 %E 8 A 22 HU@RA B, &)
MEEL 11 4, TRTEH 14, SWFE (AT (ARER) KR RME.
ZAA R, BT T TR

—., WA T (AT 2008 FEAREEMNE LHRE)

ZINERRER, FEEE, FNE. RUENOF.




—. HUGEI T (ST EE 2008 A H E RBEAE B iR ER D

BAMZAER (5F1E3 2008 5 HEXBERZH ML ED.

W TEERAATENE, FEERNRETERFSH I FUMESH I
WER, RRTEEMMLER.

Wl RM R R, ERAATEER R, FNEE, DHRSEA . BRIBEL
e e, THESERERR, HBRER: BRE T KR FR
ThHOE,

ZWMEERT AR FRBRERESHBUAL.

= HUUEIE T CETRTaR MR 7R RSB o A 7 B e ) ER AR (L
(EEC DY

B RRRER, ASENE, FNE. REENOE.

i Ad.

KRR R 4 IR A 7
i
2008 48 H 22 H



CaEEe
KGR AR M R 2]
KTPEERBARRES SHAARR SN EEHE

B—& BN

F—% I KABHNRNHERAT (UFHRFRARD SRR X
BE5 2 A (0 AR 3k, @by R R AR BB T A R B KL,
RS RIRAR RRB T AR R ETANRE, REARBRLE, 45
ATRIR RIS, I8 (ATE. (BRI ERSRTRELTAH
FR B AERD CFE TR LT AT 5XBREAERE LT AR SMERE
TR gAY SRR (A RER) FE, FEEHFE.

& AEEFRRESAARAEERSSINELERRESA. 2
WA N, RIEERRA RSB RTRM, fE. HEEHRERER
IR S YA A LB RE N, RN R &
MY, R R, TESRAMME Y, RERBRR RSB EER%T
YIS, AR EERERGAEREARRKB TN S, AR
9 R ST ARRE (R TR T TR AR BB, ABTE R T M AN DT S x4t Do T 2Bt
iR AR KRBT R R .

Bo4 ARWE. ATHBAEEARMNEF AR REREHTEENS.

BB PRRRE KRBT & AR SR

W& AT SHRRA R RAENEE LR SAKT, B3R
ERATY S, ARAREUBT T, #F. R, AESRA, TUTREKSE
ek, WA, VIRV A B A R R R RORB T B, AR
AR A AR B AR S

B4 AFAELUT A7 R Y & B UMb SR A R AR BRI
R

1. LB R IR A 20 ) Ve & R IR IR AR B SR BT (AT

2. 3 AR AT BRAEARAT S RV ) SR BT R EFEREK




3. TR R B R AT R BTG B

4. AERRAERKBETTFFRBAE HER 5T TR IR

5. ISR AR R K BT BB 5155+

6+ P ENE W A8 I 3LAR J5 2o

WA AR SEBRAR KR KA R 5 I 1% R G
A8 B TR EE LTI, (A RREZS EEINE) #ATRICMEH.

$-tgk AT FRRERX MR AR ERR AR R RENE R, A
ZMBRLHEELRE, RORRKESHEL.

BAEK ATBEENSHIRISAEAAREERSSIMEHTH T
fhrp, N IRIE AR S H N, XA RAFAE SRR B AR B Sy o5 T B et O
EEHN, ATRRAXHERETRBEELS.

H=H PHERRRERXERT SARSNRERFRE

BAL TR LR R RO (AR A S TR AT, AL
B A3 AR R R B SR T ARG B W o TR B AR L

M4 ATWH. BHE. BEEHRARNRE (ARRE). (QFRBRFR
STEHINY . (4 R TEE SN (2 D IFL IR, (27 ALK
FANY SMEWWEITIE, SFATRLIUTHEE.

F+—& AT RUBIEERI R KT SR TAGT /ML, BHES
KAFAK, BAT, L&HTERAK, REBPHES, HiHERA L.
/N S B T R R B SRR o B AT O R B LA

o4& ARNERES.GEBERRIRF A R SIERBRKKETS
g SRBRAT 5 e

B4 LA SRRRAERFETRTRIZS, HAEH AU
12, DARFERIIT B SN I IH E, FEERIELENEE
A EAPiER

$E ATSRBREALERTTFRERM. B, FHELE XU
SRR, LASEHELNESERMAKER. BTFHHEE, BUEFCEEN
SRATERITH, HEARARE, 2E5RTNEGERRERE, FhEHe%
SRIB B R .

A% AFMSEEANAT SERRAR R KRBT &R RET

4




WA, DR EER, Bkt R RIR R KRR R E M S A e IR .
NTEEWRMSRRE, ez aRIME, #HEE.

BAARE AFRBEVIEE RS AR KXo w5 iEk
REKHE S ARSEREITHE, AR RS SAERERE , Bl
Z—IRGIEE . HRAERIE, TREEY S AMIER AR ERERE LR
e EAER. TREEENRETE, HARRHERIUTIE,

Bt-bgk AFREE. BWFE. HEEBAREXRE AT RERERIRE LK
BARAAESREATMAMIATS ATPIEY. WHRNTHLR TR
BRI R LRET S BEAR S, AR RENGER, MRS
B, BHERE A R A A RN .

P\ AiVHEEIRIIED . Zih, SR RBA RN, ST EE RN
R BRI T BT R I ARG U, xR AR P I RS, $R A
MEHER, HRARNEFLENREETNATRE. HrNRE.

WA IE B RAERIR R RRBT S &, 2 B RIS KT
£, RREEX, UEPARRRENFE. RN, REESITRENLE.

Bo& ARNBEESRIERBRERS AR, NAREHEEE X2
Mo 7R A I TR G SR, BB AT S MY & . R AR AT LUE T
St REES. DURIERG. UIBHRGTE A, SR, E “LUBHRG 1
Vi e R A ML B R

Bo+—% ARRERRRERREFRE QTR REF LA 0 KR
BEWEN, AT RIE R, HRHEN, 5L RBR KRBT 1R
o, ERICEER G, SRR ERBTERMER, &R EHEN R X
AR I 7R B R B SR TR

HE PHEERRAERRET SARENREER AT

P+ T4 AFIE., WY BEAEBMAR, ERE, WK FRAEE
ROER 595 R 2R B R BT RO R e CE SR IR, 3B A HIBEIUE, 48 2 AlIERBUK
(g, AR TE. ERERBRE, AFNEERTE. &R
B]VF, HEXBITERRTR, KA. HERE.

PS4 AT, BT RGN 6 R A R A e




R P 2R B SR I T 4B R A A IRURS , X A Ok 448 OR P A A0 SR MRV AR B I
i,

BoI0% ARSRRBERLRBET RERLENL S HEE. SRIE R
B, SATRRAFEBIRKN, 25 RITAARXITEAL TATEL S RS 4T
b, ERGFATIER, BRAMREANERIE.

F-+Hg AR WE. SREHRALNDEY. AFERRERRRTT
BEAF RN, ATNUBEVRENEEREAL TR, HREEXFEHA
RTURAIRE, HEBXREYREBRRIRT,

BHE M

BHNEG BEERENEN, ERE REEERNME: HHRERE
RN EARHCARET, DR SCE e L vl

Bot4& AHERARNEHEFLSATINE.

B NAE RHELTELSH T2 BRLH.

* %k %k % % % X%
ey

5E

o, —“FF)/FNAATTHA

BALHEAN, FEEFRITIHHRQERE AL (TH). EBEEL. FHRRLL,
BGAILE, RN, HHPAL, FLHEL, FBEEL. BEELL.
B FRMEE RS TR HIERITETGIERRIIILL BEHEL.
HIRGISEEREHY - FHHSCA (BREFHLLBEHID, RPEEFHLFRITE
FUFETERF L BEHEL . BHEAL R ITEHIEL.



QETE!U;:
m
PSP 2y g

S P

hYE -

C} r(‘ VTes (*‘l' .
I e

CITIC PACIFIC

CITIC Pacific Limited
GECE - AR

(REHEEMRIAARAR)
(R ST : 267)

TRk (AR BB ¥ A RFEMRRYIEHR
B RNVELBERTRE _REGRRBAE - KERIRMRLS
RRAFARTEREARAFNBAR -

WE#{EEB: 000708 BRERMR. KRB NEmRS, 2008-017

RISIFBRMR 4 A FR 4 7]
BHERBFSE _RSWHRNUAE

ALFRANBL LR ARIEFREBARNELEL. BRASE B58
iR, RPUEHRRRNEXRR.

RIBFFHME O A RAR B A BMIRE R4 TF 20084 8 A 22 HLLE
mTﬁB%,Euﬁﬁﬁ$4A LB 4 N, SIS (O « (AT
FIE) WHERME. 240N R, BT TUFRIL

~~$uﬁﬂ7«ﬁim%¢#¢§m¢&ﬁ%¥»-

HWHLWA: AF) 2008 FEEIRE B A EE R FE BiE R SRE
EZRAT 5 BTN RE PSR, TS0, HER. Se8EN0RBR 4 2008 4EFEHFMATE




ol

B 4 2B ERI . LBV H BRETFRHFEHGERE., BHNAREREL
BT A E
ENRRRE R, AET4E, FRE. REYTEHOE,
o HIGEIE T (T Bk 2008 A HE RBAE B TRT IR
BN BERRER, RIRE4E, ANE. REEROE.
= HBGEE T CRTFHERR AR KRB G RAR RS HEEIRE) .
ZINER PR, REEIT, FNE. R33N 0%,
Frt A S,

KISFF AN 1) 48 PR 4y &)
W Hm £
200848 A 22 H

* %k ok %k k % *k
e

JT

wHE, “FZENEAHA-FEH

RELMGEH, FEEFRTHTCERIGEAL (TR . BBESSEE, TR ML, |
RYBICL FLBAL RFWIL, FLHAL, FIUGALE, B EEL,

L TLR LR IRTESL: PITR B FRITH I QIERR LA BT,

HIH LRGBS - RIS (BIGTLL BEFI) . BAEETRYERTE
HBFAEHIL . BRI B R T4,



RECEIVED
| SEP 2u P o

b3

CITIC PACIFIC
CITIC Pacific Limited
FiEREARA A

(BRI ATIRAT))
R (0% - 267)

B TI R G a0 PR R B OR 3 A RICH B R Y8 273 & BT
RBE &k 2008 SEE H HRBRZ SRR A S KGN ERERGERL
ARTEEREARAFANME A,

UE${KES: 000708 REBRTE AR KR4 NEES. 2008-018

NIRRT ERA A
RTBIH 2008 55 H ¥ KRB B A KA S

ARBEREEBS LA AKREERRBENSHES. EHNRE, 9E6E
RicH. RSMFAEAKEXRR.

R QRYRESHZ 5 FREE LAY B XME, A7 4 51F 2008 463 A 13 H,
20084F 4 18 HBHRIBIEMHESHE —+ = R UUR 2007 F4EER R K S ¥ i@
T AT 2008 FEHH KB H it Rl MR A STIHAE 200843 A 15H.4 A 19 BACF
EESARY . (EFRIIR). ( LARFSRIR) R E B R INM L.

BT SELSRIEMAL, GEIRMN R AW Lk, YHEETK, BT da Bakalik s,
B eSS m, SBE XL SNEFNMm. WENE, FitEEFREAT S
2RI AR R I AR IT R A B R 5 & B0 8L A 5] 2007 #ERER R K4 EftbHE
HLREH, FET 2008 F HH KB SR, #ENT:

—. BHUE RS B ERER S T AR




A 008 4 . s

REE | Bidhal T | oosdemampnre | ST | WBELS]
oH | FEES | KT | sem | em o | o000 | DEER Tem
- gid) Har ¥ G 71 e (%) (A7)

kil Rk 25, 000 45, 461 21, 621

k] - Revga 10,000 | 35, 613--39, 888 31, 363

JRCES] ot 64, 103 118,339 10,27 49,965 | 136,475.00
FM | Bk PR 16, 619--21, 9! 1 0.98 13, 424
B | o Fitk 68,376 | 48, 865--61, 670 31, 972

J5 B 1, 823--3, 647 1,823

HREE ) FbhE 12, 588 12, 147 14. 17 6,073 | 53, 169.00

JEE Rt AT RO 6, 427 0. 33 1,911

R Bia 32, 000 40, 835 17, 753

IR P 1,538 22, 153 11, 153
- Tk e 5, 556 5, 611 2,811
1wy | PRESD B 4, 809 4, 632 12.39 2,332 63, 322

bS] it 1,375 1, 764 884

s HiLeE 2,991 2, 648 7.48 1, 348 4, 280

Jii A4k A 374 0.63 37 0
i g Rkl 286 262 38. 60 132 283
% | jarsrs FiiLhe 392 508 74. 88 258 389
Fi %4
Wk | EEF% FaH 300 639 10. 52 319 297

. RECH M HAKECR R

1. REEHFN B

(DEFF: B FR A R AR

HEEREA TN

EMPEA: 33,983 HER

ZHEHM: 2004410 B 15 H

BNy RR, FIE ST

FELEWSEEMIED: EreyEREE. a4 R EFRAR 8L 5B AR
BOREREHNTIN S MP0akk. £RBEENT. SIE. . Wk, HN5. BRBEY
WREM. B, ERERHEH. PR SCRDSRSIE SR, (IR (REER S
FBR =) S gL,

(45 Wb PR H LR R R A

EEARA: TN

FEMETAR: 13, 30007250

ML HM. 200656 H16H

AV RB: SR aE




FELEVSIEHES: B9, ABRREXEIER CREFHFITIELEEN
m) BAER BE BEMENT., FRERKRA: LITEME (AEFIMFITEL
BRI TAED RR&HIEN LS 245,

(DBFR: LA BN TP PR A =]

HEEAVERN TN

VEMPEA: 30,96377% T

AR EHA: 19944511 H23H

AP RA. PSS BEEE

FREETEH: A=, I HEEA. BASBEME LM

OHAFNELVFRAF

ERAERAN BRE

TEMYEA. 31, 096, 067 7T

AL H B 200855 H6H

SRTCH: R LRSS FHEANIRBEEE . S, K8 RHAbS
i A BATAEF M RRMEE RS . BREBRIME RS RSN RN
P BERAEEEBRMEARNSE SO (E s R O RS AR
56 .

2. RERRFR. BRI G REBEIBAGE S 47

BAEFIRMAR AT RA A ERBER, Wit 545 B 5685 R AEFIFE73, 545
JT A 277, 82077 T2 18],

WP RT R A B 54 A R 2 F —SsiREp A LS, Firs A3 84 %
BRAL By K A BAE67, 75577 L2 82, 38477 T2 il

R PP B R A B SR A T Z R — et AL, BS54 7 38t
5 BAERRAE16, 619J7 2L, 911 )7 T2 16,

HAFRNELERAFABRRENSEA R, A207THDEERAIBIE % R
HEH, Flit 50 5] B KB 5 K A 5IN6, 801 7 7,

LRATEFHEMEERE R, BAGGHEE, FABAMAL TR,

= EMEERNE NI

L AOFR SR REMBS TP SR AR, %, EEER. AF4 58
TR AT

2. RN BREGENMZEREMINGT, BEEEENREIETT ST




BAEMHNMHBSE, CLERRRAN S —E IR &g, s tLeRem T REs
20%.

9. 2KELAE 5 B AN 5% 4 & (MR

I, BLF HRETHATHIHE XKL S, BWARGTELERTE, LR
EH =k .

2. REAZBEMHHEN AR, AFHiT, BRTRES BN S RERRA
RH, FRELE MR EFRAER.

3. KRB G AWM AR M MER, BEREFAFTRREMFE.

h. AUFRR

I, AFBEHBERESBNRSNT 2008 8 H 22 HHUUAL T (L TF1&2 2008
R RS BRI E), KEHEEEEMEAEA ., BN EL. TRIBLE. AIIBA
getk. SCRsed . ERMAAEREERR, HAbh 5 BEHF—BRIEZNE.

2. MU EHRERE RS, BEEEE, WELE. BRECEHHNATRYLE,
FlES AW RETHEHSHF N, HMIERRMITERL: AFX 2008 4 H ¥ KB 5
WS, FESBTREAEL. SRR ANE LR AR A S e e, SEH
WREL S MBI KBRS X7 IEH b 5 BT b @, ARIE T XU
LERREMNELN . SR AET ZEHRM . RAEFZHLE, HRITTHHH
AR, EFTLARERENFE. IEXSEHFEEFFREMH., EMEK,

3v W ERFRAEB AR, 5L S TR ERRM LB R
RRE EHRAN

7 KEEAE B h i B E IR

RAFGREITERZ S 4028, 7 9%E CRE RS0 (EMELLEHB0. (%
HEMEEZE0. (BH. PR ELEEO. CEEMK. B S0, 7. (F
AHFTEUO. CERRELUMLY, ERAEXRBT S-S, il 2008 F1 A1
HZ 2008 45 12 A 31 H.

. FEIH

by CRRIEESEEMIO . CFRELEEHI0. CRAMEELMB0. CFHR. W %L
TR CHEEAK. By SO, S F 0. CRAFEZID. (FEBREZHI;

2+ M IFRT AW EH R ICEE B BT EE S S0 B E

3. NRIBAREFLSBINRES WG

4. ARAHBRFLE KSR




RIGFF NIRRT A H
s # &
200848 H 22 H

%k Kk ok k ok ok
siy

7.

&, —ETNEAA-TEB

PELMGER, P EEFRITIINCAEREGES CLIT), Bty FHESEE. RYH
S RUTAL, BHHEAL, FLHAEL, FEHEL. BSEEL FEEAL. TX
TS RFRFTAL: JHER N RITE N QIERELSEL, IEBE L, RS R -
FEHRHSEL (BEEGSELZ BN BYATR T H L RATIH QR IAAEA FHEA
4 PEEHSE LR TSt L '




The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited takes no responsibility for the contents of this
announcement, makes no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this announcement.
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(Stock Code: 267)

POST-COMPLETION CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

AGENCY AGREEMENT

Reference is made to the DCH Announcement dated 26 August 2008 regarding the Acquisition
of Silver Precious which holds Guangdong Victory by Regent Link (a wholly owned
subsidiary of DCH and, in turn, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company) from Anping.

Upon completion of the Acquisition, Guangdong Victory, the only operating subsidiary of
Silver Precious, will become a wholly owned subsidiary of DCH and Anping (an associate of a
director of Guangdong Victory) will become a connected person of DCH. Therefore, the
pre-existing Agency Agreement between Anping and Guangdong Victory (pursuant to which
Anping will act as the selling agent for Guangdong Victory for a term of 6 months commencing
from the date of the Agency Agreement) will become a continuing connected transaction for
DCH. As DCH is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, the Agency Agreement will
also constitute a continuing connected transaction for the Company upon completion of the
Acquisition.

Since the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the Agency Agreement are less than 2.5%,
the above continuing connected transaction is subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but is exempted from independent shareholders' approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

BACKGROUND

Reference is made to the DCH Announcement dated 26 August 2008 regarding the Acquisition
of Silver Precious which holds Guangdong Victory by Regent Link (a wholly owned
subsidiary of DCH and, in turn, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company) from Anping.




As announced in the DCH Announcement, on 26 August 2008 Regent Link entered into an
agreement for the Acquisition and upon completion of the Acquisition, the following
post-completion continuing connected transaction will arise. Such transaction will also
constitute a continuing connected transaction for the Company.

POST-COMPLETION CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Prior to the Acquisition, Anping entered into the Agency Agreement with Guangdong Victory
on | August 2008 pursuant to which Anping agreed to act as the selling agent for Guangdong
Victory for a term of 6 months commencing from the date of the Agency Agreement. Under
the Agency Agreement, goods of Guangdong Victory will be sold to Anping with a credit term
of 60 days at such prices as may be mutually agreed by the parties provided that such prices
shall not be lower than the prevailing market prices or, if there are no such market prices, those
prices that are offered by Guangdong Victory to other third parties.

As at 15 August 2008, an amount of RMB15,432,738 was owed by Anping to Guangdong
Victory pursuant to the Agency Agreement.

It is expected that the maximum annual caps for the period from 29 August 2008 to 31
December 2008 and the period from | January 2009 to 31 January 2009 will not exceed
HK$90,000,000 and HK$20,000,000 respectively.

REASONS FOR AGENCY AGREEMENT

The Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors, consider that such
transactions will facilitate the selling of goods of Guangdong Victory, and that the terms of the
Agency Agreement are on normal commercial terms, and are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

GENERAL

The Group is engaged in a diversified range of business, including manufacturing of special
steel, iron ore mining, property development and investment, basic infrastructure (such as
power generation, aviation, tunnels and communications) and marketing and distribution.

Guangdong Victory is principally engaged in the manufacturing of small electrical appliances
in the PRC, focusing in producing electrical kettle and non-stick kitchenware for worldwide
brands covering Europe, North America, Australia and New Zealand markets.

Anping is engaged in investment holding and trading of small electrical appliances.
LISTING RULES IMPLICATIONS

Upon completion of the Acquisition, Guangdong Victory will become a wholly owned
subsidiary of DCH and, therefore, Anping (being an associate of a director of Guangdong
Victory) will become a connected person of DCH. As DCH is a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company (which holds approximately 56.67% in the issued share capital of DCH),
Anping will become a connected person of the Company and transactions contemplated under



the Agency Agreement will therefore become continuing connected transactions for the
Company upon completion of the Acquisition.

Since the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the Agency Agreement are less than 2.5%,
the above continuing connected transaction is subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but is exempted from independent shareholders' approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DEFINITIONS

In this announcement, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms have the

following meanings:

“Acquisition”

“Agency Agreement”

“Anping”

“associates”’

“Company”

“connected person”

“DCH”

“DCH Announcement”

“Directors” or “Board”

tIGroup!!

“Guangdeng Victory”

the acquisition of Silver Precious by Regent Link (as
purchaser) from Anping (as seller), completion of which shall
take place on 29 August 2008 or such other date as Regent
Link and Anping may agree

the agency agreement dated 1 August 2008 entered into
between Anping and Guangdong Victory

Anping Holdings Inc., a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liability

has the meaning ascribed to it by the Listing Rules

CITIC Pacific Limited (J{EFEHWR/F), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, the shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange

has the meaning ascribed to it by the Listing Rules

Dah Chong Hong Holdings Limited, a company incorporated
in Hong Kong with limited liability, the shares of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange

the announcement of DCH dated 26 August 2008 in relation
to the Acquisition

the directors of the Company

the Company and its subsidiaries, or, where the context so
requires, any of them (as defined under the Listing Rules)

BHREEMESNEFHRLF (Guangdong Victory
Electrical Appliances Manufacturing Co., Ltd.), a wholly
owned foreign enterprise incorporated in the PRC and the
only operating subsidiary of Silver Precious




“HK$” Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

“Hong Kong” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange

“PRC” the People’s Republic of China

“Regent Link” Regent Link Enterprises Corp., a company incorporated in the

British Virgin Islands with limited liability and a wholly
owned subsidiary of DCH and, in turn, a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company

“RMB” Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
“Sharcholders” the holders of the shares of the Company
“Silver Precious” Silver Precious International Limited, a company

incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited hability

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

By order of the board
CITIC Pacific Limited
Stella Chan Chui Sheung
Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 26 August 2008

As at the date of this announcement, the executive directors of the Company are Messrs Larry
Yung Chi Kin (Chairman), Henry Fan Hung Ling, Peter Lee Chung Hing, Carl Yung Ming Jie,
Leslie Chang Li Hsien, Vernon Francis Moore, Li Shilin, Liu Jifu, Chau Chi Yin, Milton Law
Ming To, Wang Ande and Kwok Man Leung; the non-executive directors of the Company are
Messrs Willie Chang, André Desmarais, Chang Zhenming and Peter Kruyt (alternate director
to Mr. André Desmarais); and the independent non-executive directors of the Company are
Messrs Hamilton Ho Hau Hay, Alexander Reid Hamilton, Hansen Loh Chung Hon and
Norman Ho Hau Chong.




The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited takes no responsibility for the contents of this announcement,

makes no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaims any liability

whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the c%:éjem
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DISCLOSEABLE AND DISCLOSEABLE AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTION CONNECTED TRANSACTION

ACQUISITION OF
A 49% INTEREST IN FAW TOYOTA 48 COMPANY AND
A 50% INTEREST IN LEXUS 4S COMPANY
AND THE RELATED SHAREHOLDERS' LOANS

SUMMARY

On 26 August 2008, DSE (a wholly-owned subsidiary of DCH Holdings) and DCH
Holdings entered into the Sale and Purchase Agrecment with DIL and Mr. Mak,
pursuant to which DSE (or its nominee) agreed to purchase and DIL agreed to sell 49%
and 50% equity interests in FAW Toyota 45 Company and Lexus 4S5 Company,
respectively, and the related shareholders' loans for a total consideration of
HK$143,716,000. Upon Completion, DSE will have a 50% economiic interest in each
of the Target Companies (i.e. FAW Toyota 45 Company and Lexus 4S Company).

The Target Companies are DIL's holding vehicles for its interests in the businesses
relating to the provision of vehicles sales, spare parts, maintenance services and
customer survey services in respect of the “FAW Toyota” brand in Guangzhou and
Foshan, the PRC and “Lexus” brand in Guangzhou, the PRC.

DCH Directors consider that the Target Group, as managed and operated by Mr. Mak,
has a competitive edge over its competitors in the relevant brands due to its long
established history of over 10 years, its financial track record and Mr. Mak's standing
in this industry in the PRC and Hong Kong. Of the Target Group, to the best knowledge
of the DCH Directors, Guangzhou Guangbao was a top 10 dealership in “FAW Toyota”
brand in terms of sales in the PRC for the year 2007 and Guangzhou Junjia was named
the top 3 outstanding dealerships in the “Lexus” brand in the PRC for the year 2007. In
April 2008, DCH Holdings and Mr. Mak formed two joint venture companies 10




provide services relating to vehicles sales, spare parts, maintenance services and
customer survey services in respect of the “Lexus” brand in Shanghai and Ningbo, the
PRC.

The transactions contemplated under the Sale and Purchase Agreement do not only
allow DCH Group to acquire the Target Group (including Guangzhou Guangbao,
Guangzhou Junjia and a newly completed dealership, Foshan Junan). They aiso
provide an opportunity for DCH Group to share in the interests of two additional
dealerships in respect of the “FAW Toyota” brand in the PRC to be established or
acquired. They also further enhance the strategic partnership with Mr. Mak, provide a
good opportunity to strengthen DCH Group's multi-brand portfolio and allow DCH
Group to further develop motor vehicle dealing business in the PRC. Furthermore,
DCH Directors belicve that there is an increasing demand for high-end and luxurious
products in the PRC and leveraging on the famous and established brand-names, “FAW
Toyota” and “Lexus”, the transactions contemplated under the Sale and Purchase
Agreement also enable the DCH Group to benefit from this increasing demand in the
PRC automobile industry. :

LISTING RULES IMPLICATIONS

As the relevant percentage ratios under the Listing Rules in respect of the Acquisition
and the Financial Assistance are more than 5% but less than 25% for DCH Holdings,
the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance constitute discloseable transactions for
DCH Holdings. As DIL is a substantial shareholder and Mr. Mak 1s a director of
various subsidiaries of DCH Holdings, DIL and Mr. Mak are connected persons of
DCH Holdings. The Acquisition and the Financial Assistance, therefore, also
constitute connected transactions for DCH Holdings. The Acquisition and the
Financial Assistance are subject to the reporting, announcement and DCH Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As DCH Holdings is a 56.67%-owned subsidiary of CITIC Pacific, the Acquisition and
the Financial Assistance also constitute connected transactions for CITIC Pacific. As
the relevant percentage ratios under the Listing Rules in respect of the Acquisition and
the Financial Assistance are more than 5% but less than 25% for CITIC Pacific, the
Acquisition and the Financial Assistance also constitute discloseable transactions for
CITIC Pacific. The Acquisition and the Financial Assistance are subject to the
reporting, announcement and CITIC Pacific Independent Shareholders' approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Each of DCH Holdings and CITIC Pacific will make an application to the Stock
Exchange for a waiver from strict compliance with the requirement to hold a
shareholders' meeting to approve the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance on the
basis of a written independent shareholders' approval given in accordance with Rule
14A.43 of the Listing Rules.

An independent financial adviser will be appointed by DCH Holdings to advise the
independent board committee of DCH Holdings and DCH Independent Shareholders
in relation to the terms of the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance. A circular
containing, among other things, further details of the Acquisition and the Financial
Assistance, the recommendations of the independent board committee of DCH

2




Holdings and the advice from the independent financial adviser will be dispatched to
the DCH Shareholders as soon as practicable.

An independent financial adviser will be appointed by CITIC Pacific to advise the
independent board committee of CITIC Pacific and CITIC Pacific Independent
Shareholders in relation to the terms of the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance. A
circular containing, among other things, further details of the Acquisition and the
Financial Assistance, the recommendations of the independent board committee of
CITIC Pacific and the advice from the independent financial adviser will be dispatched
to the CITIC Pacific Shareholders as soon as practicable.

1. THE SALE AND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

Date: 26 August 2008

Parties:
(1)} Purchaser: DSE (a wholly-owned subsidiary of DCH Holdings)
(2} Seller: DIL

(3) Purchaser's Guarantor: DCH Holdings
(4) Seller's Guarantor: Mr. Mak Hing Lung
Assets to be acquired:

49 FAW Toyota 4S Shares, representing 49% of the entire issued share capital of FAW
Toyota 4S Company and 50 Lexus 48 Shares, representing 50% of the entire issued
share capital of Lexus 48 Company and the related shareholders’ loans. Upon
Completion, DSE will have a 50% economic interest in each of the Target Companies
based on the understanding that they will each be a joint venture company.

The Target Companies are DIL's holding vehicles for its interests in the businesses
relating to the provision of vehicles sales, spare parts, maintenance services and
customer survey services in respect of the “FAW Toyota” brand in Guangzhou and
Foshan, the PRC and “Lexus” brand in Guangzhou, the PRC.

The major assets of FAW Toyota 4S Company are its 100% interests in each of
Guangzhou Guangbao (which is held through the Contractual Arrangements (as
described below)) and Foshan Junan (which may be held through the Contractual
Arrangements), and are engaged in the provision of the above services in respect of the
“FAW Toyota” brand. Foshan Junan was established on 7 August 2007 and only
commenced its operations since December 2007. DIL and Mr. Mak have undertaken to
procure the establishment or acquisition at reasonable cost of two additional
dealerships in respect of the “FAW Toyota” brand in the PRC by Guangzhou Guangbao
(or such other entities as the parties may agree) by 31 December 2010. Guangzhou




Guangbao is already in the process of acquiring interests in one of such additional
dealership.

The major asset of Lexus 4§ Company is its 55% interests in Guangzhou Junjia, which
is held through the Contractual Arrangements and is engaged in the provision of the
above services in respect of the “Lexus” brand.

Consideration:
The Consideration is in the amount of HK$143,716,000.

The Consideration was determined after arm’s length negotiation between the parties
having regard to the (i) financial track record of the Established Group; (i) net asset
value of the Established Group as at Completion of not less than HK$63,786,420; (i11)
set up costs and future prospects of a newly completed dealership, Foshan Junan; (iv)
establishment or acquisition of two additional dealerships in respect of the “FAW
Toyota” brand in the PRC as undertaken by DIL and Mr. Mak; and (v) goodwill and
future prospects of the Target Group, taking into account the possibility of the Target
Group to expand and to acquire additional dealerships in the future, and
HK$102,676,000 was attributed to (i) and (ii) above and HK$41,040,000 was
attributed to (iii), (iv) and (v) above.

The Consideration will be funded from internal resources of DCH Holdings.
Payment Terms:
The Consideration will be payable by DSE in the following manner:

(a) a deposit of HK$42,750,000 upon signing of the Sale and Purchase
Agreement;

(b) an amount equal to the Consideration minus (i) any outstanding
receivables due to the Target Group from DIL, Mr. Mak and/or their
respective associates as at Completion (if any) and (ii) the deposit, will
be payable in cash upon Completion; and

(c) the amount equal to the outstanding receivables mentioned in (b) above
(if any) will be payable to DIL to satisfy such receivables due to the
Target Group.

The outstanding receivables amounted to  approximately
HK$30,000,000 as at 31 July 2008.

If Completion does not take place for any reason and the Sale and Purchase Agreement
is terminated, the deposit (together with accrued interest on it) will be refunded by DIL
to DSE within 30 days after the termination.




Conditions:
Completion is conditional on:

(a) all necessary consents or approvals required of the holding company of DCH
Holdings (i.e. CITIC Pacific), if any, under the Listing Rules for the Sale and
Purchase Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder having been
obtained;

(b) all necessary consents or approvals required of the holding company of DSE (i.e.
DCH Holdings), if any, under the Listing Rules for the Sale and Purchase
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder having been obtained;

(c)  any regulatory approval and third party consents (including but not limited to the
consent of relevant automobile manufacturers) required of DIL for the
Acquisition having been obtained;

(d) the completion of the reorganisation of the Target Group (including, amongst
others, the entering into of the Contractual Arrangements Agreements);

(¢)  DSE undertaking a financial due diligence review of the Target Group and being
reasonably satisfied with such review in all material aspects;

(f)  there being no material adverse change or development (including a prospective
change or development), in the position or condition, financial or otherwise, of
the Target Group Companies or any of them, or in their or its earnings, business,
assets or prospects prior to Completion; and

(g) the warranties given as at the date of the Sale and Purchase Agreement and
immediately prior to Completion remaining true, accurate and not misleading in
all material respects.

In the event that any of the conditions has been not satisfied (or waived) on or before 30
September 2008 or such other later date as may be agreed by the parties, the Sale and
Purchase Agreement will immediately terminate and the deposit (together with
accrued interest on it) will be refunded to DSE.

Completion:

Completion shall take place on the fifth business day after all the conditions being
satisfied or waived.

Upon Completion, DSE will hold 49% and 50% of the entire issued share capitals of
FAW Toyota 4S Company and Lexus 4S Company, respectively, and a 50% economic
interest in each of the Target Companies. As DSE will have an overriding casting vote
which could be exercised by DSE at the meetings of the board of directors of the Target
Companies, the Target Group is expected to be accounted for as subsidiaries of DCH
Holdings and CITIC Pacific upon Completion.




Other Terms:

Upon Completion, the parties shall enter into a shareholders' agreement for each of the
Target Companies. The board of directors of each of the Target Companies shall
consist of equal nominated members, of which DSE shall have a casting vote.

DIL and Mr. Mak have guaranteed that the net profits for the Established Group shall
be no less than RMB12.9 million (approximately HK$14.7 million) for the period from
1 August 2008 to 31 December 2008 and no less than RMB31.0 million
(approximately HK$35.3 million) for each of the two financial years ending 31
December 2010. 50% of any such shortfall shall be indemnified by DIL and Mr. Mak to
DSE on a dollar-to-dollar basis in cash. During these periods, it was agreed that Mr.
Mak will remain as the responsible person for the management and operation of the
Target Group.

The Target Companies, amongst others, shall have a right of first refusal to invest at
cost in respect of any new investment opportunity offered to Mr. Mak and his affiliates
to invest in any business engaged in the provision of vehicles sales, spare parts,
maintenance services and customer survey services to manufacturers or suppliers in
respect of the “Lexus” and “FAW Toyota” brands in the PRC, and for any other brands
in the PRC, DIL and Mr. Mak will notify DSE prior to such investments being made, as
fong as DSE remains a shareholder of either Target Company. DSE shall have a right of
first refusal to acquire any disposal of other existing businesses already owned and
operated by Mr. Mak or DIL in the PRC, at a reasonable price to be offered by DIL or
Mr. Mak. Such price shall be equal to or lower than the price to be offered by DIL or Mr.
Mak to a prospective purchaser if DSE refuses to acquire such existing businesses.

DIL and Mr. Mak have undertaken to DSE, and DSE and DCH Holdings have
undertaken to DIL, that they shall not, amongst others, carry on or have an interest in
businesses engaged in the provision of vehicles sales, spare parts, maintenance
services and customer survey services in respect of the “FAW Toyota” brand in
Guangzhou and Foshan, the PRC and “Lexus” brand in Guangzhou, the PRC or any
other business as may be carried on by the Target Group from time to time, during a
term of three years from the date of which DIL and DSE (as the case may be) ceases to
be a shareholder of the relevant Target Company.

The existing guarantees in favour of the Target Companies shall be replaced by
replacement guarantees to be provided by DSE and DIL after Completion. It 1s
expected that such replacement guarantees will not exceed HK$80 million. Each of
DIL and DSE shall contribute to additional funding needs of the Target Companies by
way of equity or loan in proportion to their existing interests in the Target Companies
for working capital purpose (including the establishment or acquisition of two
additional dealerships in respect of the “FAW Toyota” brand in the PRC). It is expected
that these additional funding to be contributed by DSE will not exceed HK3$100
million.



Structure charts of the Target Groups upon Completion:

FAW Tovota 45 Group

DSE (or its nominec) DIL
49% 51%
FAW Toyota 4S8 Company

100%

BVI incorporated company

100%

Sunny Linker

100% {through
Contractual Arrangements)

Guangzhou Guangbao

100% (Note)

Foshan Junan

Note: Up to a 6.66% interest in Foshan Junan will be held by Guangzhou Guangbao either through its
wholly-owned subsidiary or through the Contractual Arrangements. Please refer to the section headed

"2, CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS - Foshan Junan” for details.




Lexus 4S Group

DSE (or its nominee) DIL
50% 50%
Lexus 45 Company
100%
BVI incorporated company
100%
Profit Paradise
55% (through

Contractual Arrangements)

Guangzhou Junjia




2. CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Guangzhou Guangbao

Upon Completion, Guangzhou Guangbao, one of the major assets of FAW Toyota 48
Company, is to be held as to 51% by Mr. Mak and 49% by a wholly-owned subsidiary
of DCH Holdings in the PRC ("DCH Subsidiary"} for the benefits of FAW Toyota 45
Group through a series of Contractual Arrangements implemented by FAW Toyota 45
Group prior to the conversion of Guangzhou Guangbao into a wholly-owned foreign
enterprise, the conversion of which is expected to take a certain period of time. Such
Contractual Arrangements are fundamental to the legal structure and business
operations of the FAW Toyota 48 Group and are specifically designed for the purpose
of allowing FAW Toyota 4S Group (a) to enjoy all the economic benefits of
Guangzhou Guangbao, to exercise management control over the operations of
Guangzhou Guangbao and to prevent leakages of assets and values to the registered
owners of Guangzhou Guangbao; and (b) to acquire, if and when permitted by PRC
law, the equity interests in Guangzhou Guangbao at the minimum transfer price
permitted under the relevant PRC laws and regulations. Guangzhou Guangbao is in the
process of converting into a company which can be wholly owned by foreign
enterprises and upon completion of such conversion, the Contractual Arrangements for
Guangzhou Guangbao will be converted into direct equity interests to be directly
owned by Sunny Linker, the immediate holding company of Guangzhou Guangbao.

Brief summary of the Contractual Arrangements Agreements for Guangzhou
Guangbao are as follows:

(i) Shareholding

Each of Mr. Mak and DCH Subsidiary will be registered as the legal
shareholders of Guangzhou Guangbao.

(i1) Management

Each of Mr. Mak and DCH Subsidiary shall consult and follow the
instructions of Sunny Linker, when he/it is involved in the management
and exercise of its right as the shareholder of Guangzhou Guangbao,
such rights shall include and without limitation to voting at the
shareholders or board meetings (through their respective nominated
director), appointing directors and making decisions in respect of the
operation and financial issues of Guangzhou Guangbao.

(i)  Dividends

All the dividends, capital bonus or any other assets distributed to Mr.
Mak or DCH Subsidiary by Guangzhou Guangbao shall be transferred
to Sunny Linker or any other party nominated by Sunny Linker at nil
consideration within three working days after such distribution.




(iv)

(vi)

Option to purchase

Sunny Linker shall have an option to purchase (or nominate a third
party to purchase), all the interests of Mr. Mak and DCH Subsidiary in
Guangzhou Guangbao at the minimum transfer price permitted under
the relevant PRC laws and regulations. Where the PRC laws or
regulations require the consideration for such transfer to be at the
market value, the said consideration shall be transferred to Sunny
Linker (or any third party nominated by Sunny Linker) at nil
consideration within three business days after Mr. Mak or DCH
Subsidiary (as the case may be) received such payment. Upon
exercising such option, DCH Holdings and CITIC Pacific shall comply
with the Listing Rules as appropriate.

Option to pledge

Sunny Linker shall have an option to request Mr. Mak and DCH
Subsidiary to pledge all their respective shareholding in Guangzhou
Guangbao to Sunny Linker or any other party nominated by Sunny
Linker, so as to guarantee the performance of obligations of Mr. Mak or
DCH Subsidiary (as the case may be) and Guangzhou Guangbao and
the performance of obligations under any other agreements which may
be entered into between Mr. Mak or DCH Subsidiary (as the case may
be), Guangzhou Guangbao and Sunny Linker or any other party
nominated by Sunny Linker. In the event that Sunny Linker exercises
such rights, Mr. Mak or DCH Subsidiary (as the case may be) and/or
Guangzhou Guangbao shall assist unconditionally and enter into a
relevant share pledge agreement with Sunny Linker or any other party
nominated by Sunny Linker.

Option to enter into management, consultancy agreements

Sunny Linker shall have an option to request Mr. Mak and DCH
Subsidiary to instruct Guangzhou Guangbao to enter into any exclusive
service or consultancy agreement with Sunny Linker or any other party
nominated by Sunny Linker in respect of management, technical or
other types of services, and Sunny Linker or any other party nominated
by Sunny Linker shall provide the relevant service to Guangzhou
Guangbao. The relevant service fees shall be paid by Guangzhou
Guangbao, the amount of which shall be solely determined by Sunny
Linker or any other party nominated by Sunny Linker and may be
adjusted from time to time.

Upon entering into of such management or consultancy agreement,

DCH Holdings and CITIC Pacific shall comply with the Listing Rules
as appropriate.
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Foshan Junan

As at the date of this announcement, a 93.34% interest in Foshan Junan is directly held
by Guangzhou Guangbao and the remaining 6.66% interest is held by an individual
(the "Individual") who is an independent third party. Such 6.66% interest will be
transferred to Guangzhou Guangbao and/or its wholly-owned subsidiary before
Completion. If the said transfer cannot be completed before Completion due to the
restrictions of the local PRC laws and regulations, Guangzhou Guangbao will acquire
the maximum equity interests in Foshan Junan permitted under the local PRC laws and
regulations and the remaining interests in Foshan Junan will either continue to be held
by the Individual or to be transferred to a wholly-owned subsidiary of DCH Holdings
in the PRC (the "Subsidiary"). In any event, the remaining interests will be held by the
Individual or the Subsidiary for the benefits of FAW Toyota 4S Group through a series
of Contractual Arrangements implemented by FAW Toyota 4S Group.

Such Contractual Arrangements are fundamental to the legal structure and business
operations of the FAW Toyota 4S Group and are specifically designed for the purpose
of allowing FAW Toyota 4S Group (a) to enjoy all the economic benefits of Foshan
Junan, to exercise management contro! over the operations of Foshan Junan and to
prevent leakages of assets and values to the registered owner of Foshan Junan; and (b)
to acquire, if and when permitted by PRC law, the equity interests in Foshan Junan at
the minimum transfer price permitted under the relevant PRC laws and regulations.

Brief summary of the Contractual Arrangements Agreements for Foshan Junan are as
follows:

(i) Shareholding

The Individual or the Subsidiary will be registered as the legal
shareholder of Foshan Junan.

(i1) Management

The Individual or the Subsidiary (as the case may be) shall consult and
follow the instructions of Guangzhou Guangbao, when she/it is
involved in the management and exercise of her/its right as the
shareholder of Foshan Junan, such rights shall include and without
limitation to voting at the shareholders or board meetings (through their
respective nominated director), appointing directors and making
decisions in respect of the operation and financial issues of Foshan
Junan.

(i)  Dividends

All the dividends, capital bonus or any other assets distributed to the
Individual or the Subsidiary (as the case may be) by Foshan Junan shall
be transferred to Guangzhou Guangbao or any other party nominated by
Guangzhou Guangbao at nil consideration within three working days
after such distribution.
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(iv)

)

(vi)

Option to purchase

Guangzhou Guangbao shall have an option to purchase (or nominate a
third party to purchase), all the interests of the Individual or the
Subsidiary (as the case may be) in Foshan Junan at the minimum
transfer price permitted under the relevant PRC laws and regulations.
Where the PRC laws or regulations require the consideration for such
transfer to be at the market value, the said consideration shall be
transferred to Guangzhou Guangbao (or any third party nominated by
Guangzhou Guangbao) at nil consideration within three business days
after the Individual or the Subsidiary (as the case may be) received such
payment. Upon exercising such option, DCH Holdings and CITIC
Pacific shall comply with the Listing Rules as appropriate.

Option to pledge

Guangzhou Guangbao shall have an option to request the Individual or
the Subsidiary (as the case may be) to pledge all her/its shareholding in
Foshan Junan to Guangzhou Guangbao or any other party nominated by
Guangzhou Guangbao, so as to guarantee the performance of
obligations of the Individual or the Subsidiary (as the case may be) and
Foshan Junan and the performance of obligations under any other
agreements which may be entered into between the Individual or the
Subsidiary (as the case may be), Foshan Junan and Guangzhou
Guangbao or any other party nominated by Guangzhou Guangbao. In
the event that Guangzhou Guangbao exercises such nghts, the
Individual or the Subsidiary (as the case may be) and/or Foshan Junan
shall assist unconditionally and enter into a relevant share pledge
agreement with Guangzhou Guangbao or any other party nominated by
Guangzhou Guangbao.

Option to enter into management, consultancy agreements

Guangzhou Guangbao shall have an option to request the Individual or
the Subsidiary (as the case may be) to instruct Foshan Junan to enter
into any exclusive service or consultancy agreement with Guangzhou
Guangbao or any other party nominated by Guangzhou Guangbao in
respect of management, technical or other types of services, and
Guangzhou Guangbao or any other party nominated by Guangzhou
Guangbao shall provide the relevant service to Foshan Junan. The
relevant service fees shall be paid by Foshan Junan, the amount of
which shall be solely determined by Guangzhou Guangbao, or any
other party nominated by Guangzhou Guangbao and may be adjusted
from time to time.

Upon entering into of such management or consultancy agreement,
DCH Holdings and CITIC Pacific shall comply with the Listing Rules
as appropriate.
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Guangzhou Junjia

Guangzhou Junjia, the major asset of Lexus 4S Company, is also held by Mr. Mak for
the benefits of Lexus 4S8 Group through the Contractual Arrangements. Such
Contractual Arrangements are fundamental to the legal structure and business
operations of the Lexus 4S Group and are specifically designed for the purpose of
allowing Lexus 48 Group (a) to enjoy all the economic benefits of Guangzhou Junjia,
to exercise management control over the operations of Guangzhou Junjia and to
prevent leakages of assets and values to the registered owner of Guangzhou Junjia (i.e.
Mr. Mak); and (b) to acquire, if and when permitted by PRC law, the equity interests in
Guangzhou Junjia at the minimum transfer price permitted under the relevant PRC
laws and regulations. It is intended that Guangzhou Junjia will be converted mto a
sino-foreign equity joint venture company which is expected to take a certain period of
time and upon completion of such conversion, the Contractual Arrangements for
Guangzhou Junjia will be converted into direct equity interests to be directly owned by
Profit Paradise, the immediate holding company of Guangzhou Junjia.

Brief summary of the Contractual Arrangements Agreements for Mr. Mak's 55%
interest in Guangzhou Junjia are as follows:

G)  Shareholding

Mr. Mak will be registered as the legal shareholder of Guangzhou
Junjia.

(m)  Management

Mr. Mak shall consult and follow the instructions of Profit Paradise,
when he is involved in the management and exercise of his right as the
shareholder of Guangzhou Junjia, such rights shall include and without
limitation to voting at the shareholders or board meetings (through his
nominated director), appointing directors and making decisions in
respect of the operation and financial issues of Guangzhou Junjia.

(i)  Dividends

All the dividends, capital bonus or any other assets distributed to Mr.
Mak by Guangzhou Junjia shall be transferred to Profit Paradise or any
other party nominated by Profit Paradise at nil consideration within
three working days after such distribution.
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(iv)

)

(vi)

Option to purchase

Profit Paradise shall have an option to purchase (or nominate a third
party to purchase), all the interests of Mr. Mak in Guangzhou Junjia at
the minimum transfer price permitted under the relevant PRC laws and
regulations. Where the PRC laws or regulations require the
consideration for such transfer to be at the market value, the said
consideration shall be transferred to Profit Paradise (or any third party
nominated by Profit Paradise) at nil consideration within three business
days after Mr. Mak received such payment. Upon exercising such
option, DCH Holdings and CITIC Pacific shall comply with the Listing
Rules as appropriate.

Option to pledge

Profit Paradise shall have an option to request Mr. Mak to pledge all his
shareholding in Guangzhou Junjia to Profit Paradise or any other party
nominated by Profit Paradise, so as to guarantee the performance of
obligations of Mr. Mak and Guangzhou Junjia and the performance of
obligations under any other agreements which may be entered into
between Mr. Mak, Guangzhou Junjia and Profit Paradise or any other
party nominated by Profit Paradise. In the event that Profit Paradise
exercises such rights, Mr. Mak and/or Guangzhou Junjia shall assist
unconditionally and enter into a relevant share pledge agreement with
Profit Paradise or any other party nominated by Profit Paradise.

Option to enter into management, consultancy agreements

Profit Paradise shall have an option to request Mr. Mak to instruct
Guangzhou Junjia to enter into any exclusive service or consultancy
agreement with Profit Paradise or any other party nominated by Profit
Paradise in respect of management, technical or other types of services,
and Profit Paradise or any other party nominated by Profit Paradise
shall provide the relevant service to Guangzhou Junjia. The relevant
service fees shall be paid by Guangzhou Junjia, the amount of which
shall be solely determined by Profit Paradise or any other party
nominated by Profit Paradise and may be adjusted from time to time.

Upon entering into of such management or consultancy agreement,

DCH Holdings and CITIC Pacific shall comply with the Listing Rules
as appropnate.
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(vit)  Compensation

In the event of any breach of the Contractual Arrangements Agreement
for Guangzhou Junjia by Mr. Mak, Mr. Mak shall pay a compensation
to Profit Paradise. The amount of the compensation shall be the higher
of (i) 55% of the net asset value of Guangzhou Junjia at the time of the
breach or the fair market value of 55% of the registered capital in
Guangzhou Junjia (whichever is higher), which shall be determined by
an independent third party valuer appointed by Profit Paradise; and (i}
any actual loss incurred by Profit Paradise.

3. INFORMATION ABOUT THE TARGET GROUP

As at 31 July 2008, the unaudited net asset value attributable to Guangzhou Guangbao,
Foshan Junan and Guangzhou Junjia was approximately HK$36.5 million, HK$7.4
million and HK$89.4 million, respectively. Foshan Junan commenced its operations
since December 2007.

For the financial years ended 31 December 2006 and 2007, the audited net profits (both
before and after taxation and extraordinary items) attributable to Guangzhou
Guangbao, Foshan Junan and Guangzhou Junjia were approximately as follows:

Audited net profits (loss) Audited net profits (loss)
before taxation after taxation
and extraordinary items and extraordinary items
(HKS million) (HK$ million)
2006 2007 2006 2007
Guangzhou Guangbao 33 9.5 0.6 4.2
Foshan Junan - (0.3) - 0.3)
(operations commenced since
December 2007)
Guangzhou Junjia 30.7 75.9 19.0 51.7

The investment amount of Guangzhou Guangbao, Foshan Junan and Guangzhou
Junjia as at 31 July 2008 by DIL and Mr. Mak was approximately HK$87 million,
comprising (i) the total amount of the registered capitals of Guangzhou Guangbao,
Foshan Junan and Guangzhou Junjia; and (ii) the shareholders loans to these
companies as at 31 July 2008.
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4., REASONS FOR AND BENEFITS OF THE ACQUISITION AND THE
FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

DCH Directors consider that the Target Group, as managed and operated by Mr. Mak,
has a competitive edge over its competitors in the relevant brands due to its long
established history of over 10 years, its financial track record and Mr. Mak's standing
in this industry in the PRC and Hong Kong. Of the Target Group, to the best knowledge
of the DCH Directors, Guangzhou Guangbao was a top 10 dealership in “FAW Toyota”
brand in terms of sales in the PRC for the year 2007 and Guangzhou Junjia was named
the top 3 outstanding dealerships in the “Lexus” brand in the PRC for the year 2007. In
April 2008, DCH Holdings and Mr. Mak formed two joint venture companies to
provide services relating to vehicles sales, spare parts, maintenance services and

customer survey services in respect of the “Lexus” brand in Shanghai and Ningbo, the
PRC.

The transactions contemplated under the Sale and Purchase Agreement do not only
allow DCH Group to acquire the Target Group (including Guangzhou Guangbao,
Guangzhou Junjia and a newly completed dealership, Foshan Junan). They also
provide an opportunity for DCH Group to share in the interests of two additional
dealerships in respect of the “FAW Toyota” brand in the PRC to be established or
acquired. They also further enhance the strategic partnership with Mr. Mak, provide a
good opportunity to strengthen DCH Group's multi-brand portfolio and allow DCH
Group to further develop motor vehicle dealing business in the PRC. Furthermore,
DCH Directors believe that there is an increasing demand for high-end and luxurious
products in the PRC and leveraging on the famous and established brand-names, “FAW
Toyota” and “Lexus”, the transactions contemplated under the Sale and Purchase
Agreement also enable the DCH Group to benefit from this increasing demand in the
PRC automobile industry.

DCH Directors (other than the independent non-executive directors of DCH Holdings)
consider that the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance are on normal commercial
terms, in the ordinary and usual course of business, fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the DCH Shareholders as a whole.

Noting and considering the reasons above, the CITIC Pacific Directors take the view
that the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance, which are beneficial to a subsidiary
of CITIC Pacific (i.e. DCH Holdings), will also be beneficial to CITIC Pacific and
increase CITIC Pacific Group's development and competitiveness in general. CITIC
Pacific Directors (other than the independent non-executive directors of CITIC Pacific)
consider that the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance are on normal commercial
terms, in the ordinary and usual course of business, fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the CITIC Pacific Shareholders as a whole.
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5. GENERAL

DCH Group is a diversified business conglomerate in motor vehicles sales, motor
vehicle related business and services, sales of food and consumer products, as well as
logistics services, supported by integrated distribution platforms and a well-established
base and network in the PRC, Hong Kong and Macao.

CITIC Pacific Group is engaged in a diversified range of business, including
manufacturing of special steel, iron ore mining, property development and investment,
basic infrastructure (such as power generation, aviation, tunnels and communications)
and marketing and distribution.

DIL, founded by Mr. Mak in 1992, is one of the companies operated by Mr. Mak and
which is engaged in motor business, including businesses relating to the provision of

vehicles sales, spare parts, maintenance services and customer survey services in the
PRC.

6. LISTING RULES IMPLICATIONS FOR DCH HOLDINGS

As the relevant percentage ratios under the Listing Rules in respect of the Acquisition
and the Financial Assistance are more than 5% but less than 25% for DCH Holdings,
the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance constitute discloseable transactions for
DCH Holdings. As DIL is a substantial shareholder and Mr. Mak is a director of
various subsidiaries of DCH Holdings, DIL and Mr. Mak are connected persons of
DCH Holdings. The Acquisition and the Financial Assistance, therefore, also
constitute connected transactions for DCH Holdings. The Acquisition and the
Financial Assistance are subject to the reporting, announcement and DCH Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

An application will be made to the Stock Exchange for a waiver from strict compliance
with the requirement to hold a shareholders’ meeting to approve the Acquisition and
the Financial Assistance on the basis of a written independent shareholders' approval
given in accordance with Rule 14A.43 of the Listing Rules.

Each of DIL and Mr. Mak has confirmed that it/he has no interest in any share of DCH
Holdings giving the right to attend and vote at general meetings of DCH Holdings.

To the best knowledge of the DCH Directors, none of the DCH Sharehelders is
required to abstain from voting on the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance.

Nine wholly-owned subsidiaries of CITIC Pacific, a closely allied group of DCH
Shareholders, together beneficially interested in 1,018,800,000 shares representing
approximately 56.67% of the issued share capital of DCH Holdings, have indicated
that they approve the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance and the transactions
contemplated thereunder. DCH Holdings will procure the signing of a writien
shareholders' approval in accordance with Rule 14A.43, failing which a sharcholder's
meeting for DCH Holdings will be convened for approving the Acquisition and the
Financial Assistance.




An independent financial adviser will be appointed by DCH Holdings to advise the
independent board committee of DCH Holdings and the DCH Independent
Shareholders in relation to the terms of the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance.

A circular containing, among other things, further details of the Acquisition and the
Financial Assistance, the recommendations of the independent board committee of
DCH Holdings and the advice from the independent financial adviser will be
dispatched to the DCH Shareholders as soon as practicable.

7. LISTING RULES IMPLICATIONS FOR CITIC PACIFIC

As DCH Holdings is a 56.67%-owned subsidiary of CITIC Pacific, the Acquisition and
the Financial Assistance also constitute connected transactions for CITIC Pacific. As
the relevant percentage ratios under the Listing Rules in respect of the Acquisition and
the Financial Assistance are more than 5% but less than 25% for CITIC Pacific, the
Acquisition and the Financial Assistance also constitute discloseable transactions for
CITIC Pacific. The Acquisition and the Financial Assistance are subject to the
reporting, announcement and CITIC Pacific Independent Shareholders' approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

An application will be made to the Stock Exchange for a waiver from strict compliance
with the requirement to hold a shareholders’ meeting to approve the Acquisition and
the Financial Assistance on the basis of a written independent shareholders' approval
given in accordance with Rule 14A.43 of the Listing Rules.

Each of DIL and Mr. Mak has confirmed that it'he has no interest in any share of CITIC
Pacific giving the right to attend and vote at general meetings of CITIC Pacific.

To the best knowledge of CITIC Pacific Directors, none of the CITIC Pacific
Shareholders is required to abstain from voting on the Acquisition and the Financial
Assistance.

The following persons, who are closely allied group of CITIC Pacific Shareholders and
together beneficially interested in 1,110,746,285 shares representing approximately
50.62% of the issued share capital of CITIC Pacific, have indicated that they approve
the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance and the transactions contemplated
thereunder. CITIC Pacific will procure the signing of a written shareholders' approval
in accordance with Rule 14A.43, failing which a shareholder's meeting for CITIC
Pacific will be convened for approving the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance:
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Name of beneficial No. of ordinary shares Percentage of total issued

shareholder beneficially interested share capital of CITIC
Pacific as of the date
hereof

CITIC Hong Kong 643,611,285 29.33%

(Holdings) Limited
(through its wholly-owned
subsidiaries)

The Chairman and the 467,135,000 21.29%
Managing Director of

CITIC Pacific having an

interest in the shares of

CITIC Pacific

TOTAL 1,110,746,285 50.62%

An independent financial adviser will be appointed by CITIC Pacific to advise the
independent board committee of CITIC Pacific and the CITIC Pacific Independent
Shareholders in relation to the terms of the Acquisition and the Financial Assistance.

A circular containing, among other things, further details of the Acquisition and the
Financial Assistance, the recommendations of the independent board committee of
CITIC Pacific and the advice from the independent financial adviser will be dispatched
to the CITIC Pacific Shareholders as soon as practicable.

8. DEFINITIONS

In this announcement, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms have
the following meanings:

“Acquisition” the acquisition of the Sale Shares and the related
shareholders' loans by DSE from DIL pursuant to the terms
of the Sale and Purchase Agreement (including the
Contractual Arrangements);

“associate” has the meaning given to it by the Listing Rules;
“BVI” the British Virgin Islands;
“CITIC Pacific” CITIC Pacific Limited ({P{EREF TR/ T]), a company

incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, the shares
of which are listed on the Stock Exchange;

“CITIC Pacific the directors of CITIC Pacific;
Directors”
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“CITIC Pacific Group” CITIC Pacific and its subsidianies (including DCH

“CITIC Pacific
Independent
Shareholders”

“CITIC Pacific
Shareholders”

“Completion”
“connected person”
“Consideration”

“Contractual
Arrangements”

“Contractual
Arrangements
Agreements”

“DCH Directors”

“DCH Group”

“DCH Holdings”

“DCH Independent
Shareholders”

“DCH Shareholders”

K‘DSE”

"CONTRACTUAL

Holdings), or, where the context so requires, any of them (as
defined under the Listing Rules);

the independent sharcholders of CITIC Pacific, i.e. the
CITIC Pacific Shareholders;

holders of the ordinary shares of CITIC Pacific;

completion of the Acquisition;
has the meaning given to it by the Listing Rules;
the consideration for the Acquisition;

contractual arrangements with the registered owners of
Guangzhou Guangbao, Guangzhou Junjia and Foshan
Junan (if applicable) that are implemented by the DCH
Group, the details of which are set out in the section headed
“2. CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS” of this
announcement;

the agreements for the Contractual Arrangements, the
details of which are set out in the section headed “2.
ARRANGEMENTS” of this

announcement;
the directors of DCH Holdings;

DCH Holdings and its subsidiaries, or, where the context so
requires, any of them (as defined under the Listing Rules);

Dah Chong Hong Holdings Limited X E{TEEEIAE MR F],
a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability, the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange, and is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of CITIC
Pacific;

the independent sharcholders of DCH Holdings, i.e. the
DCH Shareholders;

holders of the ordinary shares of DCH Holdings;
Delight Star Enterprises Limited fy 2B FRAOE, a

company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability
and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of DCH Holdings;
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“DIL” Denker Investment Limited B2 £ I& EHF R L T, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limted hability;

“Established Group”  Guangzhou Guangbao and Guangzhou Junjia (excluding
any of their respective subsidiaries and investments);

“FAW Toyota 4S Strong Step Holdings Limited fH & LR FRAF, a
Company” company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability,
“FAW Toyota 48 FAW Toyota 45 Company and its subsidiaries;

Group”
“FAW Toyota 45 issued ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each in the share capital
Shares” of FAW Toyota 45 Company;

“Financial Assistance” (i) the granting of replacement guarantees after Completion
in a sum of not more than HK$80 million and (ii) the
provision of additional funding by DSE in a sum not to
exceed HK$100 million, the details of which are set out in
the section headed “1. THE SALE AND PURCHASE
AGREEMENT- other terms” of this announcement;

“Foshan Junan” B L M HEHEEEREERAE (Foshan Junan

Toyota Motors Sale and Service Limited), a company
established in the PRC with limited liability and is an
indirect 100%-owned subsidiary of FAW Toyota 48
Company,

“Guangzhou Guangbao” [E M E R ¥ H R ERERBE AR 7 (Guangzhou

Guangbao Toyota Motors Sale and Service Limited), a
company established in the PRC with limited liability and is
an indirect 100%-owned subsidiary of FAW Toyota 45
Company,

“Guangzhou Junjia”  FEMIEE B EREHERB GRS F (Guangzhou
Junjia Lexus Motors Sale and Service Limited), a company
established in the PRC with limited liability. and is an
indirect 55%-owned subsidiary of Lexus 45 Company (the
remaining 45% interests are directly held by an independent

third party);
“HK$” Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong;

“Hong Kong” or “HK”  the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC;

“Lexus 4S Company”  Star Partner Holdings Limited 2 i H KA H], a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited hability;
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“Lexus 4S Group”

“Lexus 4S Shares”

“Listing Rules”

“Mr. Mak”
“PRC!!

“Profit Paradise”

SﬁRM B,!

“Sale and Purchase
Agreement”

“Sale Shares”
“SFOT!

“Stock Exchange”
“substantial
shareholder”

“Sunny Linker”

“Target Companies”

“Target Group”

“0/0”

Lexus 4S Company and its subsidiaries;

issued ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each in the share capital
of Lexus 4S5 Company;

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange;

Mr. Mak Hing Lung;
the People’s Republic of China;

Profit Paradise Investments Limited F2 4 1 H MR/ ), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability;

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC;

the sale and purchase agreement dated 26 August 2008
entered into between DSE, DIL, DCH Holdings and Mr.
Mak in relation to the Acquisition;

49 FAW Toyota 4S Shares and 50 Lexus 4S Shares;

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the laws of
Hong Kong),

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,

has the meaning given to it by the Listing Rules;

Sunny Linker Development Limited {EEE3fEHFR/NF], a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability;

collectively FAW Toyota 4S Company and Lexus 4S
Company;

collectively the FAW Toyota 4S Group and Lexus 48 Group
and “Target Group Company” and “Target Group

Companies “’shall be construed accordingly; and

per cent.
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For illustration purpose in this announcement, the conversion rate of RMB1.00 = HK$!.14 was

adopted.
By order of the board By order of the board
Dah Chong Hong Holdings Limited CITIC Pacific Limited
Tso Mun Wai Stella Chan Chui Sheung
Company Secretary Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 26 August 2008

As at the date of this announcement, the directors of DCH Holdings are:

Executive directors: Hui Ying Bun (Chairman), Chu Hon Fai, Yip Moon Tong, Mak Kwing Tim,
Lau Sei Keung, Tsoi Tai Kwan, Arthur and Glenn Robert Sturrock Smith
Non-executive directors: Ho Hau Hay, Hamilton, Chau Chi Yin, Chan Chui Sheung, Stella and
Kwok Man Leung
Independent non-executive directors: Cheung Kin Piu, Valiant, Hsu Hsung, Adolf and Yeung
Yue Man

As at the date of this announcement, the directors of CITIC Pacific are:

Executive directors: Larry Yung Chi Kin (Chairman), Henry Fan Hung Ling, Peter Lee Chung
Hing, Carl Yung Ming Jie, Leslie Chang Li Hsien, Vernon Francis Moore,
Li Shilin, Liu Jifu, Chau Chi Yin, Milton Law Ming To, Wang Ande and
Kwok Man Leung

Non-executive directors: Willie Chang, André Desmarais, Chang Zhenming and Peter Kruyt
(alternate director to André Desmarais)

Independent non-executive directors. Hamilton Ho Hau Hay, Alexander Reid Hamilton,
Hansen Loh Chung Hon and Norman Ho Hau Chong
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The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited takes no responsibility for the contents of this
announcement, makes no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this announcement.
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CITIC Pacific Limited
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(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 267)

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

CAPITAL INCREASE IN TONGLING XIN YAXING

The Directors announce that, on 27 August 2008, Joy Talent (a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company) entered into the Capital Increase Agreement with Tongling Industrial, pursuant to
which (i) the registered capital of Tongling Xin Yaxing will be increased from US$50.0
million (HK$390 million) to US$99.8 million (approximately HK$778.4 million), and (i) the
total investment amount of Tongling Xin Yaxing will be increased from US$99.8 million
(approximately HK$778.4 million) to US$199.6 million (approximately HK$1,556.9 million).
Tongling Industrial and Joy Talent also entered into amendment agreements to the joint
venture contract and company articles of Tongling Xin Yaxing to reflect the Capital Increase.
Joy Talent will solely contribute the full amount of the said increase in registered capital, being
US$49.8 million (approximately HK$388.4 million), in stages.

Upon completion of the Capital Increase, Tongling Industrial’s equity interest in Tongling Xin
Yaxing will be diluted from 15% to approximately 7.515%, and Joy Talent’s equity interest in
Tongling Xin Yaxing will increase from 85% to approximately 92.485%.

Tongling Xin Yaxing is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. As Tongling
Industrial is a substantial sharcholder of Tongling Xin Yaxing before completion of the Capital
Increase, it is a connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the Capital Increase
constitutes a connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Since the applicable percentage ratios calculated with reference to the Capital Increase are
more than 0.1% but less than 2.5%, the Capital Increase is only subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements, but is exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.




THE CAPITAL INCREASE AGREEMENT

Date: 27 August 2008

Parties:

n Tongling Industrial

(2) Joy Talent (a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company)

Before the Capital Increase, Tongling Industrial and Joy Talent hold 15% and 85% of equity
interests in Tongling Xin Yaxing respectively.

Subject matter

Pursuant to the Capital Increase Agreement, (i) the registered capital of Tongling Xin Yaxing
will be increased from US$50.0 million (HK$390 million) to US$99.8 million (approximately
HK$778.4 million); and (ii) the total investment amount of Tongling Xin Yaxing will be
increased from US$99.8 million (approximately HK$778.4 million) to US$199.6 million
(approximately HK$1,556.9 million). Tongling Industrial and Joy Talent also entered into
amendment agreements to the joint venture contract and company articles of Tongling Xin
Yaxing to reflect the Capital Increase.

Joy Talent will solely contribute the full amount of the said increase in registered capital, being
US$49.8 million (approximately HK$388.4 million) in cash, of which 20% will be injected
within one month after the relevant governmental approval is obtained with the balance to be
injected within two years after the said governmental approval is obtained. The funding will be
injected in stages according to the project fund demand, and the Company’s interim equity
interest will be determined by its actual capital contribution. The amount of the Capital
Increase was determined by the additional fund demand of Tongling Xin Yaxing to meet the
investment of new facilities. Such contribution will be funded by internal resources of the
Company.

Upon completion of the Capital Increase, Tongling Industrial’s equity interest in Tongling Xin
Yaxing will be diluted from 15% to approximately 7.515%, and Joy Talent’s equity interest n
Tongling Xin Yaxing will increase from 85% to approximately 92.485%.

Information on Tongling Xin Yaxing
Tongling Xin Yaxing is a sino-foreign equity joint venture company established in the PRC on
7 April 2008, which is constructing and will operate a coking project to provide coking coal

and chemical by-products.

As at 30 June 2008, the unaudited net asset value of Tongling Xin Yaxing was RMB349.4
million (approximately HK$384.3 million).




REASONS FOR AND BENEFITS OF THE CAPITAL INCREASE

The Capital Increase reflects the additional funds required to finance the construction of new
facilities and it will help Tongling Xin Yaxing to improve product quality and enhance
profitability, energy efficiency and environmental protection standard of the project.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) consider that the Capital
Increase is on normal commercial terms, fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

INFORMATION ON THE GROUP AND TONGLING INDUSTRIAL

Tongling Industrial is an investment holding company wholly owned by Tongling municipal
government.

The Group is engaged in a diversified range of business, including manufacturing of special
steel, iron ore mining, property development and investment, basic infrastructure (such as
power generation, aviation, tunnels and communications) and marketing and distribution.

LISTING RULES IMPLICATIONS

Tongling Xin Yaxing is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. As Tongling
Industrial is a substantial shareholder of Tongling Xin Yaxing before completion of the Capital
Increase, it is a connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the Capital Increase
constitutes a connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Since the applicable percentage ratios calculated with reference to the Capital Increase are
more than 0.1% but less than 2.5%, the Capital Increase is only subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements, but is exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DEFINITIONS

In this announcement, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms have the
following meanings:

“Board” the board of Directors

“Capital Increase” (i) the increase in the registered capital of Tongling Xin Yaxing from
US$50.0 million (HK$390 million) to US$99.8 million
(approximately HK$778.4 million); and (ii) the increase in the total
investment amount of Tongling Xin Yaxing from US$99.8 million
(approximately - HK$778.4 million) to US$199.6 million
(approximately HK$1,556.9 million), as contemplated under the
Capital Increase Agreement and the amendment agreements to the
joint venture contract and company articles of Tongling Xin Yaxing




“Capital Increase
Agreement”

“Company”

“connected person(s)”

“Directors”

“Group”

HH KS”
“Hong Kong”

“Joy Talent”

“Listing Rules”
“percentage ratio(s)”
“PRC”

“RMB”

“Stock Exchange”

“substantial
shareholder”

“Tongling Industrial”

“Tongling Xin
Yaxing”

the capital increase agreement in relation to Tongling Xin Yaxing
dated 27 August 2008 entered into between Tongling Industrial and
Joy Talent

CITIC Pacific Limited (F{E& E R/ &), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, the shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange

has the lheaning given to it by the Listing Rules

the directors of the Company

the Company and its subsidiaries, or, where the context so requires,
any of them (as defined under the Listing Rules)

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

Joy Talent Holdings Limited (B EIERFR/AF]), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and is a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
has the meaning given to it by the Listing Rules

the People’s Republic of China

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

has the meaning given to it by the Listing Rules;
FETFTEREEAERERMR AT (Tongling Industrial
Stated-owned Assets Operation Co., Ltd.), a company established in
the PRC with limited liability

S 37 T 22 45 f B B4\ B (Tongling Xin Yaxing Coking &
Chemical Co., Ltd.), a sino-foreign equity joint venture company

established in the PRC with limited liability and is a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company




“US$” United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of
America

“%” per cent

For the purpose of illustration only, the amounts in US$ are translated to HK$ at the rate of
US$1.00 = HK$7.8 and the amounts in RMB are translated to HKS$ at the rate of RMB1.00
=HKS$1.1. No representation is made that any amount in US$ and RMB have been or could be
converted at the above rates or at any other rates or at all.

By order of the Board
CITIC Pacific Limited
Stella Chan Chui Sheung
Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 27 August 2008

As at the date of this announcement, the executive directors of the Company are Messrs Larry
Yung Chi Kin (Chairman), Henry Fan Hung Ling, Peter Lee Chung Hing, Car! Yung Ming Jie,
Leslie Chang Li Hsien, Vernon Francis Moore, Li Shilin, Liu Jifu, Chau Chi Yin, Milton Law
Ming To, Wang Ande and Kwok Man Leung; the non-executive directors of the Company are
Messrs Willie Chang, André Desmarais, Chang Zhenming and Peter Kruyt (alternate director
to Mr. André Desmarais); and the independent non-executive directors of the Company are
Messrs Hamilton Ho Hau Hay, Alexander Reid Hamilton, Hansen Loh Chung Hon and
Norman Ho Hau Chong.
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CITIC PACIFIC Tees AT L
CITIC Pacific Limited

hEFEEHEFR A

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 267)

ANNOUNCEMENT OF INTERIM RESULTS
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

CHAIRMAN’S LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

Whilst net profit for the first six months of 2008 was HK$4,377 million, a decrease of 12%
compared with the same period last year, recurrent earnings grew 8% from a year ago
nevertheless. The board has recommended paying an interim dividend of HK$0.30 per share.

During the first half of 2008, we continued the strategy of developing our three core businesses:
special steel manufacturing, iron ore mining and property development. In the next two to three
years, with the completion of new projects, we expect the benefits from these investments to be
realized, with recurrent profit growing significantly.

Special Steel Manufacturing

CITIC Pacific’s special steel business maintained its solid momentum and has become a main
driver of growth in recurrent earnings. Profit contribution reached HK$1,839 million for the first
half of this year, an increase of 64% from a record a year ago.

During the period, despite the challenges of macro economic control in mainland China,
weakness in the economies of major industrialized countries, and a significant rise in price of raw
materials such as iron ore and coke, CITIC Pacific Special Steel overcame difficulties to achieve
excellent results. Our three manufacturing bases: Jiangyin Xingcheng Special Steel, Hubei Xin
Yegang and Shijiazhuang Steel increased their production and sold an expanded range of
products. At the same time, the three plants continue to implement synergies, resulting in
improved efficiency in purchasing, transportation, production and sales.

CITIC Pacific recently acquired a coking coal project in Tongling, Anhui Province. When our
iron ore mine in Australia begins production, the business will have secure, stable and long-term
supplies of both major raw materials. These strategically important investments will greatly
enhance our competitive edge and overall profitabihity.
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The strategy for CITIC Pacific Special Steel going forward is to further enhance its leading
position in the domestic and international markets for special steel bars. It is actively expanding
its special tube production capability to increase market share in tube products. At the same time,
we are also developing medium and heavy special steel plates with the goal of building CITIC
Pacific Special Steel into a world class special steel company of the highest standard, with a wide
range of products and excellent management.

Iron Ore Mining

During the first half of the year, progress was made at our iron ore mine in Western Australia
which has a production capacity of 27.6 million tonnes per annum. Construction of infrastructure
such as power, desalination plants, land transportation as well as port and transshipment facilities
are well underway. In recent years the price of iron ore has risen significantly due to tight supply
in the international market. The strategic importance of this project is therefore clear. CITIC
Pacific still holds options to mine another four billion tonnes of iron ore on the same mine site,
which if exercised, will further expand our mining capacity.

Property Development

Property development in mainland China is one of our core businesses. Our development
properties are centered around Shanghai and its neighboring cities, as well as Hainan Island, a
holiday destination. With the rapid development of the Chinese economy and the improvement
of living standards, market demand for quality properties will remain strong.

Construction of Phase One of our Shanghai Lu Jia Zui New Financial District Project is
progressing well. Foundation work has been completed and basement construction will finish by
the end of the year as planned. Phase One completion 1s expected in 2010. Preparation work for
Phase Two and Three is ongoing.

Our large residential and commercial developments in the Qingpu, J iading and Hongkou districts
in Shanghai and in the cities of Wuxi, Jiangyin, Yangzhou in Jiangsu Province are being built in
phases as planned. Units pre-sold in the first half of this year achieved a higher unit sale price
compared with those sold last year.

The superstructure of CITIC Square, located in the city of Ningbo in Zhejiang Province, has been
completed, and work on sale and leasing is taking place. Preparation work for our development
project above the Sichuan Beilu Metro Station in the Hongkou District of Shanghai is
progressing. Construction is expected to commence at the end of the year.

Our development project on the Shenzhou Peninsula in Wanning City in Hainan Province is
progressing well. Work on the four hotels in Phase One has begun, and they are expected to be
open in 2010 and thereafter. Shenzhou Peninsula project will, in the near future, become a
quality community.



Our investment properties in Shanghai and Hong Kong continue to maintain high occupancy and
their profit contribution increased more than 30% compared to the same period last year.

Other Businesses
Faced with significant increases in the price of oil and coal, our aviation and power generation

businesses incurred losses. The operating environment for these two businesses remains
challenging in the second half of the year. CITIC 1616 and Dah Chong Hong, the two companies

listed last year, performed well with double digit profit growth for the first six months of the year.

Hong Kong’s Eastern and Western harbour tunnels operated smoothly with increased profit
compared to last year.

Looking to the Future

Even though there are macro economic uncertainties, I am confident in the future prospects of
CITIC Pacific. With hard work in the past few years, our special steel business is becoming
strong and our iron ore mining and property businesses are gradually becoming more mature,
establishing these three as our core businesses. Going forward, we will continue to seek
investment opportunities in these areas to further increase our recurrent earnings, and to achieve
higher returns for our sharcholders.

On behalf of all the directors, I would like to express my sincere thanks to everyone at CITIC
Pacific for their hard work and dedication.

Larry Yung Chi Kin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 August 2008



FOR 1HE SIA MONLITHS ENDED 30 JUNE - UNAUDITLED

in HKS million

Turnover

Cost of Sales

Distribution and Selling Expenses

Other Operating Expenses

Net Gain from Sale of Other Financial
Assets

Change in Fair Value of Investment
Properties

Profit from Consolidated Activities
Share of Results of
Jointly Controlled Entities

Associated Companies

Finance Charges
Finance Income

Net Finance Income/(Charges)
Profit before Taxation
Taxation

Profit for the Period

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
Minority Interests

Dividends
Dividend Proposed

Earnings per Share for Profit attributable to
Shareholders of the Company during the

Period (HK3$)
Basic

Diluted
Dividend per Share (HK$)
Intenim

Special

Note

2008 2007
28,318 19,618
(22,942) (13,973)
(512) (438)
(1,441) (1,433)
843 ;
410 355
4,676 4,129
641 652

43 708
(189) (126)
272 119
83 (7)
5,443 5,482
(496) (174)
4,947 5,308
4,377 4,968
570 340
4,947 5,308
(658) (1,325)
1.99 2.25
1.99 2.25
0.30 0.40
- 0.20
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in HK3 million
Non-Current Assets

Fixed Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Properties under development
Leasehold land

Jointly controlled entities
Associated companies

Other financial assets
Intangible assets

Deferred tax assets

Derivative financial instruments
Non-current deposits

Current Assets

Properties held for sale
Assets held for sale
Inventories

Debtors, accounts receivable, deposits and

prepayments
Cash and bank deposits

Current Liabilities

Bank loans, other loans and overdrafis

Secured
Unsecured

Creditors, accounts payable, deposits and

accruals
Liabilities held for sale
Provision for taxation

Net Current Assets

Total Assets Less Current Liabilities

Unaudited As Restated
30 June 31 December

Note 2008 2007
17,125 12,154

11,670 10,895

6,925 4,288

1,718 1,641

37,438 28,978

21,338 17,446

17,515 17,941

4,045 7,502

5,871 5,109

9 100

225 150

7,641 5,723

94,164 82,949

430 440

192 1,127

6,843 5,982

8 11,895 8,292
10,695 8,045

30,055 23,886

398 328

4,467 3,326

8 12,376 10,727
- 2

674 590

17,912 14,973

12,143 8,913

106,307 91,862
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in HK$ million
Non-Current Liabilities
Long term borrowings

Deferred tax liabilities
Dertvative financial instruments

Net Assets

EQUITY
Share capital
Reserves

Proposed dividend

Equity attributable to Shareholders of
the Company

Minority Interests

Total Equity

Note

Unaudited As Restated
30 June 31 December
2008 2007
37,044 25,000
2,216 2,094
310 69
39,570 27,163
66,737 64,699
878 885
59,524 57,138
658 1,770
61,060 59,793
5,677 4,906
66,737 64,699




NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

1

Significant accounting policies

These condensed unaudited consolidated interim accounts (“the Accounts™) are prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard (“HKAS”) 34 “Interim Financial
Reporting” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The accounting policies used in preparation of the Accounts are consistent with those
adopted in the annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2007 and with the
adoption of certain new or revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, (“HKFRS”)
and HKAS in 2008 among which the following will have below impact to the Group:

® HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 *Service Concession Arrangements’

In accordance with HK(IFRIC)-Int 12, the vehicular tunnel is regarded as a service
concession arrangement. As such, the Group has recognised the vehicular tunnel as an
intangible asset instead of property, plant and equipment under fixed assets with
retrospective effect from 1 January 2007. The carrying amount as at 1 January 2007 of
HK$1,102 million has also been restated.

The adoption of the above accounting standard has no effect on the Group’s results
reported for the period ended 30 June 2008.
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2 Turnover and segment information (continued)

An analysis of the Group’s turnover by geographical area is as follows:

in HK3 million

By geographical area
Hong Kong
Mainland China
Overseas

3 Profit from consolidated activities

Six months ended

30 June
2008 2007
6,052 6,326
21,177 12,410
1,089 882
28,318 19,618

The profit from consolidated activities is arrived at after crediting and charging:

|
in HK$ million

Crediting

Dividend income from other financial assets
Profit on disposal of subsidiary company
Profit on disposal of jointly controlled entity

Charging

Cost of inventories sold

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Amortisation of leasehold land

Impairment losses on other financial assets
Impairment losses on fixed assets

-10 -

Six months ended

30 June
As Restated
2008 2007
93 29
170 1,928
403 -
20,738 12,803
432 500 .
51 49
25 24
21 1
14 72




Net finance (income)/charges

Six months ended

30 June
in HK$ million 2008 2007
Finance charges
Interest expenses 709 421
Amount capitalized (388) (262)
Fair value gains on derivative financial instruments (130) (66)
Exchange (gain)/loss 30) 10
Other finance charges 28 23
189 126
Finance income
Interest income (272) (119)
(83) 7

Taxation

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2007: 17.5%) on the estimated
assessable profit for the period. Overseas taxation is calculated on the estimated
assessable profit for the period at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates. Tax provisions are reviewed regularly to take into account
changes in legislation, practice and status of negotiations. Details as follows:

Six months ended

30 June

in HK$ million 2008 2007
Current taxation

Hong Kong profits tax 114 104

Overseas taxation 367 207
Deferred taxation

Changes in fair value of investment properties 76 55

Origination and reversal of other temporary

differences (29) (15)
Effect on tax rate change 32) (177

496 174

-11-




8.1

Dividends
Six months ended
30 June
in HK$ million 2008 2007
2007 Final dividend paid: HK$0.80 (2006: HK$0.80)
per share 1,757 1,767
2007 Special dividend paid: Nil (2006: HK$0.30) per
share - 662
1,757 2,429
2008 Interim dividend proposed: HK$0.30 (2007:
HK$0.40) per share 658 883
2008 Special dividend proposed: Nil (2007: HK$0.20)
per share - 442
658 1,325

Earnings per share

The calculation of earnings per share is based on profit attributable to shareholders of

HK$4,377 million (2007: HK$4,968 million).

The basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of
2,198,430,092 shares in issue during the period (2007: 2,203,437,210 shares in issue).
The diluted earnings per share is based on 2,203,728,977 shares (2007: 2,208,527,391
shares) which is the weighted average number of shares in issue during the period
plus the weighted average number of 5,298,885 shares (2007: 5,090,181 shares)
deemed to be issued at no consideration if all outstanding options had been exercised.

Debtors, accounts receivable, deposits and prepayments

30 June 31 December

in HK$ million 2008

Trade debtors and bills receivable

Within 1 year 5,811
Over | year 54

5,865
Accounts receivable, deposits and prepayments 6,030

11,895

-12-

2007

4,248
42

4,290
4,002

8,292



1) Trade debtors are net of provision and the ageing is classified based on invoice
date.

it) Each business unit has a defined credit policy appropriate to its circumstances.

iii) The carrying amounts of debtors, accounts receivable, deposits and
prepayments approximate their fair value.

iv) Accounts receivable, deposits and prepayments include derivative financial
assets of HK$580 million (2007: HK$251 million), amounts due from jointly
controlled entities of HK$143 million (2007: HK$138 million), which are
unsecured, interest free and recoverabie on demand, except for an amount of
HK$5 million (2007: HK$1 million) which is interest bearing, and amounts
due from associated companies of HK$200 million (2007: HK$90 million)
which are unsecured, interest free and recoverable on demand.

Creditors, accounts payable, deposits and accruals
30 June 31 December

in HK$ million 2008 2007

Trade creditors and bills payable

Within 1 year 4,803 4,532
Over 1 year 587 329
5,390 4,861
Accounts payable, deposits and accruals 6,986 5,866
12,376 10,727
Note:
1) Accounts payable, deposits and accruals included derivative financial

liabilities of HK$29 million (2007: HK$66 million).

1) The carrying amounts of creditors, accounts payable, deposits and accruals
approximate their fair value.

-13 -



FINANCIAL REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

Group Debt and Liquidity

The financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2008, as compared to 31 December 2007 and 30

June 2007, i1s summarised as follows:

HKS$ million 30 June 2008 31 December 2007 30 June 2007
Total debt 41,906 28,654 21,975
Cash and bank deposits 10,695 8,045 4,135
Net debt 31,211 20,609 17,840
Leverage 34% 26% 26%

(Net debt to Total capital)

The denomination of the Group’s borrowings as well as cash and deposit balances by currency as at

30 June 2008 is summarised as follows:

Denomination
HK$ million equivalent HKS US$ RMB Yen  Other Total
Total debt in original currency 9,411 23,955 7,198 1,231 111 41,906
Total debt after hedging 16,806 16,982 7,198 809 111 41,906
Cash and bank deposits 1,357 3,042 5,539 135 622 10,695
Net debt / (cash) after hedging 15,449 13,940 1,659 674 (511) 31,211

As at 30 June 2008, assets of HK$525 million (31 December 2007: HK$423 million) were pledged
to secure banking facilities, mainly related to Dah Chong Hong’s business overseas and a property
subsidiary in mainland China. In addition, assets of the Iron Ore Mining project were pledged under

the project finance arrangement.

Maturity Profile of Qutstanding Debt

The Group actively manages its debt portfolio and aims to extend the debt maturity profile such that
the maturing debt each year will not exceed the anticipated cash flow and the Group’s ability to

refinance the debt in that year.

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 and Total  Percentage
HKE million Beyond
Parent Company 3 2966' 2917 5174 7,550 11,5967 30,206 72%
Subsidiaries 2,044 1314 2393 3592 543 1814 11,700 28%
Total Maturing Debt 2,047 4280 5310 8,766 8,093 13410 41,906 100%
Percentage 5% 10% 13% 21% 19% 32% 100%
Available Committed 1,000 2,701 500 2,970 - 12,315 19,486
Facilities

-14-




1 Includes a US$270 million short term bridging loan in connection with the Iron Ore Mining
project which will be replaced by long term project loan.

2 Includes a US$450 million global bond due in 2011 which was issued by a wholly owned
special purposes vehicle.

3 Includes a JPY8.1 billion floating rate note due in 2035 which was issued by a wholly owned
special purposes vehicle.

Available Sources of Financing

In addition to cash and deposits balance of HK$10.7 billion as at 30 June 2008, the Group had
available loan and trade facilities totaling HK$21.8 billion and HK$2.9 billion respectively.
Borrowings by source of financing as at 30 June 2008 are summarised as follows:

HK$ million Total Facilities QOutstandings Available Facilities
Committed Facilities

Short Term Loan * 4,290 2,106 2,184
Term Loans 51,015 33,713 17,302
Global Bonds 3,510 3,510 0
Private Placement 422 422 0
Total Committed 59,237 39,751 19,486
Uncommitted Facilities

Money Market Lines 4,457 2,136 2,321
and Short Term Facilities

Trade Facilities 4414 1,523 2,891

* This is a USD short term bridging loan to support the funding requirement of the Iron Ore Mining
project Phase 11.

In addition to the above facilities, the Company has established Cooperative Agreements with major
PRC banks. Under these Cooperative Agreements, CITIC Pacific's PRC projects can apply for
credit facilities subject to the banks’ approval on a project-by-project basis in accordance with PRC
banking regulations.

Risk Management

The Group employs a combination of financial instruments, including derivative products, to
manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest and currency rates. Derivative transactions are only
used for interest rate and currency hedging purposes; speculative trading activity is prohibited.
Counterparties’ credit risks are carefully reviewed, and the Group only deals with financial
institutions with investment grade credit ratings. The amount of counterparties’ lending exposure to
the Group is also an important consideration as a means to control credit risk.
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Foreign Currency Exposure

CITIC Pacific conducts business mainly in Hong Kong, mainland China and Australia, therefore it
is subject to the market risk of foreign exchange rates in HK Dollar, US Dollar, Renminbi and
Australia Dollar. To minimise currency exposure, non HK Dollar assets are usually financed in the
same currency as the asset or cash flow from it, either by borrowing or using foreign exchange
contracts. Due to limitations in financial markets and regulatory constraints in mainland China,
CITIC Pacific has an increasing exposure to the Renminbi. As at 30 June 2008, the Group had net
RMB exposure of approximately HK$59 billion (31 December 2007: HK$46 billion) as
investments in mainland China are expanding.

The functional currency for the Australian Iron Ore Mining project is deemed to be USD as future
revenue and cash flow will be denominated in USD. As such, CITIC Pacific funded the Iron Ore
Mining project development costs and the acquisition of vessels related to the mining operations by
USD loans to match the future USD cash flows derived from these assets. A portion of the Iron Ore
Mining project development costs as well as certain pre-completion expenditures, required paying
in non-USD currencies. Foreign exchange forward contracts and structured forward instruments are
employed to hedge or minimise these currency exposures. As at 30 June 2008, outstanding foreign
exchange forward contracts and structured forward instruments amounted to HK$3.9 billion (31
December 2007: HK$3.5 billion).

In addition, foreign exchange forward contracts are employed to minimise currency exposure for
the outstanding USD debts and a Yen bond. As at 30 June 2008, such contracts outstanding
amounted to HK$7,913 million (31 December 2007: HK$5,853 million).

Foreign exchange forward contracts and structured forward instruments were also employed by our
trading subsidiary to hedge currency fluctuations. As at 30 June 2008, such contracts outstanding
amounted to HK$804 million (31 December 2007: HK$968 million).

Interest Rate Exposure

The Group aims to maintain a suitable mixture of fixed and floating rate borrowing in order to
stabilise interest costs against rate fluctuations. The interest rate hedging ratio is determined after
taking consideration of factors including general market trends, the Group’s cash flow pattern and
interest coverage ratio.

The Group uses interest rate swaps, forward rate agreements, interest rate option contracts and other
instruments to hedge exposures or to modify the interest rate characteristics of its borrowings. As at
30 June 2008, CITIC Pacific had interest rate swap or swaption contracts with a notional amount of
HK$29.1 billion, of which forward starting IRS contracts amounted to HK$16.7 billion.

The weighted average all-in cost of borrowing for the Group (including fees and hedging costs) for

the six months ended 30 June 2008 was about 4.8%, compared with 5.4% for the same period last
year.

Capital Commitment and Contingent Liabilities

As at 30 June 2008, the Group’s contracted capital commitment was approximately HK$27 billion
and the Group’s contingent liabilities had not changed significantly from the last year end.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

As at the end of June 2008, the total number of employees at CITIC Pacific reached another
new high of 25,177 (2007 : 23,989) as the Group continued its development and investment
in mainland China and Australia. Employees working in Hong Kong increased to 4,135
(2007 : 3,932). Mainland China has the largest number of employees and it has increased
steadily to 20,491 (2007 : 19,720). The other 551 (2007 : 337) are employed in subsidiaries in
Japan, Singapore, Canada and Australia.

To ensure that overall remuneration policy is externally competitive and internally equitable
to attract, retain, motivate and reward a competent work force, the Group continuously
conducts reviews of cash compensation and benefit programs. As the Group remains largely
compatible with other similar large companies in the market, no major changes to the human
resources management policy have been made in the last six months. In line with established
policy, some interim salary adjustments were awarded on a selective basis to recognize
performance and catch up with market changes.

CITIC Pacific actively promotes a culture of open communication in which staff can report
concerns and share ideas with management. The Group is also committed to providing a
healthy organizational environment that is conducive to each individual’s development.
Employees are encouraged to improve themselves through further studies and are supported
with financial sponsorship from the Group. In-house training for different levels of
employees is organized on a regular basis to provide product knowledge and skill
development. Moreover, with growing cross-territory business activitics, across Hong Kong,
mainland China and Australia, the Group continues to strengthen business integration,
knowledge sharing and skill transfer among staff at these locations.

CITIC Pacific fully supports investing in the training and development of our younger
generation. The Group has implemented various management trainee and apprentice training
programs. It also provides training opportunities to young school leavers and college students
by participating in the Youth Pre-employment Training Programme held by the Labour
Department and internship programmes of universities.

CITIC Pacific and its employees continue 1o support charitable works and the promotion of
education, environmental protection, sports, culture and the arts by sponsorship and
participation in related activities. In addition, to provide financial assistance to the victims of
Sichuan Earthquake, the Group and its employees also donated generously to the relief fund.
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CITIC Pacific is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate governance and first class
business practices. The Board believes that good corporate governance practices are
increasingly important for maintaining and promoting investor confidence. Details of our
corporate governance practices can be found on page 49 of the 2007 annual report and the
Company’s website www.citicpacific.com.

Throughout the six months ended 30 June 2008, CITIC Pacific has complied with all code
provisions in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices contained in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
The Audit Committee of the Board, consisting of three non-executive directors of whom two
are independent, has reviewed the Interim Report with management and the Company’s
internal and external auditors and recommended its adoption by the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
|
|
|
i

The Interim Accounts, which are prepared in accordance with HKAS 34 “Interim Financial
Reporting”, have been reviewed by the Company’s independent auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers in accordance with the Hong Kong Standard on Review
Engagements 2410, “Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent
Auditor of the Entity”.

DIVIDEND AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER

! The Directors have declared an interim dividend of HK$0.30 per share (2007: interim dividend

! of HK$0.40 per share and a special dividend of HK$0.20 per share) for the year ending 31
December 2008 payable on Friday, 26 September 2008 to shareholders whose names appear on
the Register of Members of the Company on Monday, 22 September 2008. The Register of
Members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 16 September 2008 to Monday, 22
September 2008, both days inclusive, during which period no share transfer will be effected. In
order to qualify for the interim dividend, all transfers, accompanied by the relevant share
certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s Share Registrars, Tricor Tengis Limited, at
26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 12 September 2008.

| SHARE CAPITAL

, During the six months ended 30 June 2008, the Company made the following repurchases of its
| own shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for purpose of enhancing its eamings per share:

Price Per Share

|
‘ Number of Shares Aggregate
‘ Month/Year Repurchased Highest (HK$) Lowest (HK$) Price Paid
(HK$)
January 2008 15,484,000 37.90 32.25 545.205,150
June 2008 2,837,000 30.40 28.50 83,689,450
- 18 -
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These repurchased shares were cancelled upon repurchase and accordingly the issued share
capital of the Company was reduced by the nominal value of these shares. The premium
payable on repurchase was charged against retained profit. An amount equivalent to the
nominal value of the shares cancelled of approximately HK$7.3 million was transferred from
retained profit to capital redemption reserve.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiary companies has
purchased or sold any of the Company’s shares during the six months ended 30 June 2008 and
the Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the six months ended 30 June 2008.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This announcement contains certain forward looking statements with respect to the financial
condition, results of operations and business of the Group. These forward looking statements
represent the Company’s expectations or beliefs concerning future events and involve known
and unknown risks and uncertainty that could cause actual results, performance or events to
differ materially from those expressed or implied in such statements.

INTERIM REPORT AND FURTHER INFORMATION

A copy of the announcement will be found on the Company’s website (www.citicpacific.com)
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkex.com.hk). The additional
information including a full financial analysis will be posted on the Company’s website as soon
as possible and the full Interim Report will be made available on the website of the Company
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange around 8 September 2008.

By Order of the Board
Stella Chan Chui Sheung
Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 28 August 2008

As at the date of this announcement, the executive directors of the Company are Messrs Larry
Yung Chi Kin (Chairman), Henry Fan Hung Ling, Peter Lee Chung Hing, Carl Yung Ming
Jie, Leslie Chang Li Hsien, Vernon Francis Moore, Li Shilin, Liu Jifu, Chau Chi Yin, Milton
Law Ming To, Wang Ande and Kwok Man Leung; the non-executive directors of the
Company are Messrs Willie Chang, André Desmarais, Chang Zhenming and Peter Kruyt
(alternate director to Mr. André Desmarais); and the independent non-executive directors of
the Company are Messrs Hamilton Ho Hau Hay, Alexander Reid Hamilton, Hansen Loh
Chung Hon and Norman Ho Hau Chong.
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CITIC PACIFIC
} CITIC Pacific Limited

HEEEHRAA

(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 267)

! CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

Tuesday, 16 September 2008 to Monday, 22 September 2008, both days inclusive, for the
purpose of ascertaining entitlement to the interim dividend. To qualify for the interim
dividend, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s Share Registrars, Tricor Tengis Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre,
28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Friday, 12 September 2008.

Notice is hereby given that the Register of Members of the Company will be closed from

By Order of the Board
CITIC Pacific Limited
Stella Chan Chui Sheung
Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 28 August 2008

As at the date of this announcement, the executive directors of the Company are Messrs
Larry Yung Chi Kin (Chairman), Henry Fan Hung Ling, Peter Lee Chung Hing, Carl
Yung Ming Jie, Leslie Chang Li Hsien, Vernon Francis Moore, Li Shilin, Liu Jifu, Chau
Chi Yin, Milton Law Ming To, Wang Ande and Kwok Man Leung; the non-executive
directors of the Company are Messrs Willie Chang, André Desmarais, Chang Zhenming
and Peter Kruyt (alternate director to Mr. André Desmarais); and the independent
non-executive directors of the Company are Messrs Hamilton Ho Hau Hay, Alexander
Reid Hamilion, Hansen Loh Chung Hon and Norman Ho Hau Chong.
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Monthly Return On Movement of Listed Equity Securities
For the month ended (dd/mm/yyyy) : 31 August, 2008

To : Information Services Department of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Ltd (Fa)é 2521 7072)
For enquiries: Evan Chan (Te!: 2840 3058) Tu Chi Ho (Tel: 2840 3099)

Company Code/Name 267 CITIC Pacific Limited

Representative Name Ms Stella Chan Chui Sheung

Contact Person Ms Stella Chan

Contact No. 28202184 Submit Date September 2, 2008

A. Information on Types of Listed Equity Securities

O Ordinary shares O Preference shares
O Equity warrants Other Classes of shares : Shares

B. Movement in Authorised Share Capital

1. Ordinary Shares

(1) Stock Code : 267 Description : N/A

No. of Osdinary  Par Value Authorised Share

Shares (HKS$) Capital (HKD)
Balance at close of preceding month 3,000,000,000 0.40 1,200,000,000
Increase/(Decrease)
(EGM approval date) - -
( )
Balance at close of the month 3,000,000,000 0.40 1,200,000,000
(2) Stock Code : Description :

No. of Ordinary ~ Par Value Authorised Share
Shares (HKS$) Capital (HKD)

Balance at close of preceding month

Increase/(Decrease)
(EGM approval date)

( )

Balance at close of the month

-

)



2. Preference Shares

Stock Code : Description :

No. of Preference  Par Value Authorised Share
Shares {(HK$) Capital (HKD)

Balance at close of preceding month

Increase/(Decrease)
(EGM approval date)

( )

Balance at close of the month

3. Other Classes of Shares

Stock Code : Description :

No. of Other Par Value Authorised Share
Classes of Shares (HK$) Capital (HKD)

Balance at close of preceding month

Increase/(Decrease)
(EGM approval date)

( )

Balance at close of the month

Total Authorised Share Capital at the end of the Month (HKD) : 1,200,000,000

C. Movement in Issued Share Capital

No. of Ordinary Shares No of Preference  No. of Other
(1) (2) Shares Classes of Shares

Balance at close of
preceding month 2,194,149,160 - - -

Increase/ (Decrease)
during the month - . - -

Balance at close of the
month 2,194,149,160 - - -




D. Details of Movement

Share Options
Total No. of . Total No.of  No. of New
Options at close of Movement During the Month Options at close Shares Arising
Preceding Month Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed of the month Therefrom
29,810,000 - - - 50,000 29,760,000 -

Total Exercised Money During the Month (HKD) -

Equity Warrants : N/A

Currency of Nominal Value  Exercised Nominal Value WNo. of New

Description of Warrants Nominal at Close of during the  at close of the Shares Arising
{Date of Expiry - dd/mm/yyyy) Value  Preceding Month  month month Therefrom
1.
( )
Stock code

Subscription price

Stock code
Subscription price

Stock code
Subscription price

Stock code
Subscription price

Convertibles : N/A

Currency of Amcunt at Close  Converted Amountat  No. of New
Amount of Preceding during the close ofthe Shares Arising
Class QOutstanding Month month month Therefrom
1.
Stock code
Subscription price
2.
Stock code
Subscription price
3.

Stock code
Subscription price




Other Issues of Shares

No. of New Shares

Type of [ssue Arising Therefrom

Issue and allotment date :

1. Right Issue At Price:  HKD (dd/mm/yyyy) ( ) -
Issue and allotment date :

2. Placing AtPrice: HKD (dd/mm/yyyy) { ) -
Issue and allotment date :

3. Bonus Issue (dd/mm/yyyy) ( ) -
Issue and allotment date :

4.  Scrip Dividend AtPrice: HKD {(dd/mm/yyyy) ( ) -
Cancellation date :

5. Repurchase of share (dd/mm/yyyy) ( ) -
Redemption date :

6. Redemption of share (dd/mm/yyyy) { ) -
Issue and allotment date :

7. Consideration Issue At Price: HKD (dd/mm/yyyy) ( } -

Issue and allotment date :
8. Other AtPrice: HKD (dd/mm/yyyy) ( ) -

(Please specify)

Remarks:

Authorised signature: %/\Q/U\-‘L——"

Name: Stella Chan Chui Sheung

Title: Company Secretary

Note : All information contained in this form may be reproduced and provided to other information
vendors or users of market data at the sole discretion of the Stock Exchange without prior notification to
the company/issuer.
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Form of Share Buyback Report to The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“the Exchange”)

Form G

To: The Head of the Listing Division
The Listing Division
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 5 Seplember 2008
Dear Sir,
Name of Company: CITIC Pacific Limited
Description of Securities:  Ordinary Shares

A, Purchase Report

We hereby report the following purchases by our company of the above securities.

Price per
Number of Share or Lowest
Securities Method of Highest Price Price Total
Trading Day/Date Purchased Purchase* Paid $ Paid § Paid $
5 September 2008 1,000,000 On the 25.55 24.90 25,236,050
Exchange
Total 1,000,000 25,236,050
* Either on the Exchange, on another stock exchange (stating the name of the exchange), by private
arrangement or by general offer.
B. Additional Information for company’s whose primary listing is on the Exchange

1. Number of such securities purchased on the Exchange
in the year to date (since ordinary resolution) {a) 3,837,000

2. % of issued share capital at time ordinary resclution
passed acquired on the Exchange since date of resolution

( (a) x 100 )

issued share capital 0.175 %




We hereby confirm that the purchases set out in A above which were made on the Exchange were made in
accordance with the listing rules of the Exchange entilled “Rules Governing the Listing of Securities” and that
there have been no material changes to the particulars contained in the Explanatory Statemenl dated
14 April 2008 which has been filed with the Exchange. We also confirm that any purchases set out in A above
which were made on another stock exchange were made in accordance with the domestic rules applying to
purchases made on that other exchange.

Yours faithfully,

Stella Chan Chui Sheung
Company Secretary

for and on behalf of
CITIC Pacific Limited




(3 Note 5)

(& Note 3)

A | Bt R its Own Shares
Companies Registry (AT 49G(1)E) R E
{Companies Ordinance s. 49%1))
S 5
HE®HIE Important Notes v "C cr . »
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® Please read the accompanying notes before completing this form.

Please print in black ink.

1 2 R4 Company Name

‘-*lv.
Ly

L .

D Form SCZ

4> € i§ 3 Company Number

145656

CITIC Pacific Limited
b EREBRAHT

2 AFRE (AT F 498 REENKRE

Shares Purchased by the Company under section 49B of the Companies

Ordinance
RERAIAN  RERMEAY
::2vig = pill B E FERNEE | BOXSLBEGEE I3 4 REHE
Class of Shares | Number of | Nominal Value Date on which Maximum Minimum
Shares of Each Sharet (the Shares were Delivered| Price Paid for Price Paid for
to the Company Each Sharef Each Sharet
(B DD/ B MM/ 4E YYYY) (2 Note 5) (3% Note 5)
Shares 1,000,000 HKDO.40 09/09/2008 HKD25.55 HKD24.90
t AHEEYEHEA(PIW: BT - £51)
Please specify the currency (e.g. HKD, USD)
HWE v ik ]
Currency Amount
3 AT EL a4 By 3T RO R s
The Aggregate Amount Paid by the Company HKD 25,236,050
for the above Shares
% B Signed : A g.(/b\.n.\
#% % Name - Chan Chui Sheung, Stella H # Date . 17/08/2008
HDD / BMM / ZEYYYY
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# ¥ AR Presentor’s Reference

& 8 Name: CITIC Secretaries Limited S{EREERALT

i #iF Address: 32nd Floor, CITIC Tower, 1 Tim Mei Avenue,
Central, Hong Kong
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1 8% Reference:
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The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited takes no responsibility for the contents of this
announcemenlt, makes no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this announcement.

~ CITHC PACIFIC
A & i &£ @ A B oo 9 ITIC Paci s i
DAH CHONG HONG HopNes ivrep A LG Pacific Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liabifity} ':IJ {nét % ﬁ ﬁ ﬁ é\\ a

(Stock Code: 01828) (incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 00267)

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTION

LONG-TERM MAINTENANCE SERVICES ON ULD
BY DAS NORDISK TO CX CONTINUING CONNECTED

REVISION OF ANNUAL CAPS TRANSACTIONS

OF CONTINUING CONNECTED {1} LONG-TERM MAINTENANCE SERVICES ON ULD
BY DAS NORDISK TO CX .

TRANSACTIONS -
(2) OUTSOURCING OF ULD MAINTENANCE =3
(1) OUTSOURCING OF ULD MAINTENANCE SERVICES BY DAS NORDISK TO DAS =5
SERVICES BY DAS NORDISK TO DAS Feom:
.
{2) PURCHASES OF ULD SPARE PARTS N
FROM NORDISK ASIA PACIFIC LIMITED e B
BY DAS NORDISK "

P

The directors of DCH Holdings and CITIC Pacific jointly announce that“on._17
September 2008, CX and DAS Nordisk entered into the ULD Maintenance Services
Agreement to appoint DAS Nordisk to provide ULD maintenance and repair services
for a term of three years from 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2011. The annual cap for each of
the financial years ending 31 December 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011 is expected not to
exceed HK$60.0 million.

The directors of DCH Holdings and CITIC Pacific also jointly announce that on 17
September 2008, DAS Nordisk and DAS entered into the Supplemental Outsourcing
Master Agreement for the purpose of setting the expected annual caps for the financial
years ending 31 December 2008 and 2009 to be HK$41.0 million and HK$58.0 million

respectively.

Further, the directors of DCH Holdings announce that on 17 September 2008, Nordisk
Asia Pacific Limited and DAS Nordisk entered into the Supplemental Sale and
Purchase Master Agreement for the purpose of revising the expected annual caps for
the financial years ending 31 December 2008 and 2009 to be HK$16.0 million and
HK$21.0 million respectively.




The transactions contemplated under (i) the ULD Maintenance Services Agreement;
(11) the Orniginal Qutsourcing Master Agreement and the Supplemental Outsourcing
Master Agreement; and (i11) the Original Sale and Purchase Master Agreement and the
Supplemental Sale and Purchase Master Agreement, constitute continuing connected
transactions for DCH Holdings and CITIC Pacific under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

In respect of DCH Holdings, since the applicable percentage ratios calculated with
reference to the above continuing connected transactions and the annual caps are on an
annual basis less than 2.5%, the above continuing connected transactions are only
subject to the reporting and announcement requirements, but are exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

In respect of CITIC Pacific, since the applicable percentage ratios calculated with
reference to the continuing connected transactions and the annual caps in relation to (i)
the ULD Maintenance Services Agreement; and (ii) the Original Outsourcing Master
Agreement and the Supplemental Outsourcing Master Agreement, are on an annual
basis less than 2.5%, the above continuing connected transactions are only subject to
the reporting and announcement requirements, but are exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules. In respect of CITIC
Pacific, since the applicable percentage rattos calculated with reference to the
continuing connected transaction and the annual caps in relation to the Original Sale
and Purchase Master Agreement and the Supplemental Sale and Purchase Master
Agreement are on an annual basis less than 0.1%, the above continuing connected
transaction is exempt from the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

1. INTRODUCTION

The directors of DCH Holdings and CITIC Pacific jointly announce that on 17
September 2008, (i) CX and DAS Nordisk entered into the ULD Maintenance Services
Agreement to appoint DAS Nordisk to provide ULD maintenance and repair services;
and (i1) DAS Nordisk and DAS entered into the Supplemental Outsourcing Master
Agreement for the purpose of setting the expected annual caps for the financial years
ending 31 December 2008 and 2009.

Further, the directors of DCH Holdings announce that on 17 September 2008, Nordisk
Asia Pacific Limited and DAS Nordisk entered into the Supplemental Sale and
Purchase Master Agreement, for the purpose of revising the expected annual caps for
the financial years ending 31 December 2008 and 2009.




2. LONG-TERM MAINTENANCE SERVICES ON ULD BY DAS NORDISK
TO CX

The ULD Maintenance Services Agreement

Date: 17 September 2008

Parties:
(1) CX
(2) DAS Nordisk (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of both DCH Holdings and

CITIC Pacific)
Background and general terms

DAS Nordisk and CX entered into the contracts for ULD maintenance and repair dated
1 July 2002 (with a term expired on 30 June 2005) and 1 July 2005 (with a term expired
on 30 June 2008) respectively, under which DAS Nordisk agreed to carry out
maintenance and repair services at a service fee payable to DAS Nordisk. The details
of the above contracts are particularly set out in the section headed “Connected
Transactions — A. Non-exempt continuing connected transactions — 3. Long-term
maintenance services on ULD by DAS Nordisk to CX” in the DCH Prospectus.

For the purpose of renewing the arrangements contemplated under the above contract,
on 17 September 2008, CX and DAS Nordisk entered into the ULD Maintenance
Services Agreement, under which CX agreed to appoint DAS Nordisk to provide ULD
maintenance and repair services for a term of three years from | July 2008 to 30 June
2011.

Pricing principles and annual caps

The pricing for such maintenance services is determined with reference to the relevant
costs associated with the estimated maintenance hours and the frequency of visit of the
relevant type of ULD. The total amount of maintenance fees paid by CX to DAS
Nordisk under the above contracts for the financial years ended 31 December 2005,
2006 and 2007 were approximately HK$18.8 million, HK$19.0 million and HK$21.3
million respectively. The amount of maintenance fees for the financial year ending 31
December 2008 was originally subject to an expected annual cap of HK$24.7 million.
Pursuant to the ULD Maintenance Services Agreement, the amount of maintenance
fees payable by CX to DAS Nordisk is now expected to be subject to an annual cap of
HK$60.0 million for each of the financial years ending 31 December 2008, 2009, 2010
and 2011,




The above annual caps, being the expected maximum annual transaction amount, have
been determined on normal commercial terms, at rates no less favourable than the rates
charged to independent third party customers of DAS Nordisk, and on the basis of
estimated volume of services rendered by DAS Nordisk with reference to historical
transaction volumes with CX, the shift of the ULD maintenance services previously
requested by KA which will be taken up by CX, the estimated potential cargo growth,
and the expected price increase, particularly due to the expected appreciation in
Norway against Hong Kong currency exchange rate that partly leads to increase in
material costs.

Reasons for the transactions

DAS Nordisk has entered into the transactions contemplated under the ULD
Maintenance Services Agreement as CX is one of DAS Nordisk’s customers in their
ordinary course of business who is willing to offer competitive market price for the
services rendered by DAS Nordisk.

The directors of DCH Holdings (including the independent non-executive directors of
DCH Holdings) consider that the above transactions and annual caps are on normal
commercial terms, fair and reasonable and n the interests of the shareholders of DCH
Holdings as a whole.

The directors of CITIC Pacific (including the independent non-executive directors of
CITIC Pacific) consider that the above transactions and annual caps are on normal
commercial terms, fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of CITIC
Pacific as a whole.

3. OUTSOURCING OF ULD MAINTENANCE SERVICES BY DAS
NORDISK TO DAS

Background and general terms

On 17 September 2008, DAS Nordisk and DAS entered into the Supplemental
Outsourcing Master Agreement to supplement and amend certain provisions of the
Original Outsourcing Master Agreement for the purpose of setting the annual caps for
the financial years ending 31 December 2008 and 2009.

Revision of annual caps of the transaction

The total amounts of outsourcing fees payable by DAS Nordisk to DAS for the
financial years ended 31 December 2005, 2006 and 2007 were approximately
HK$20.0 million, HK$21.0 million and HK$20.6 million respectively. Under the
Orniginal Outsourcing Master Agreement, the amounts of outsourcing fees payable for
the financial years ending 31 December 2008 and 2009 were originally subject to
annual caps of HK$25.4 million and HK$27.9 million respectively.

Pursuant to the Supplemental Qutsourcing Master Agreement, the annual caps for the
financial years ending 31 December 2008 and 2009 are now expected to be HK$41.0
million and HK$58.0 million respectively.




The above annual caps, being the expected maximum annual transaction amount, have
been determined on the basis of estimated volume of services required by DAS
Nordisk with reference to historical transaction values with DAS at market price, the
estimated potential cargo growth, the expected increase in business volume,
particularly in view of the renewal of the transactions pursuant to the ULD
Maintenance Services Agreement, and the expected increase in labour cost.

The directors of DCH Holdings (including the independent non-executive directors of
DCH Holdings) consider that the above transactions and the revised annual caps are on
normal commercial terms, fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders
of DCH Holdings as a whole.

The directors of CITIC Pacific (including the independent non-executive directors of
CITIC Pacific) consider that the above transactions and annual caps are on normal
commercial terms, fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of CITIC
Pacific as a whole.

4. PURCHASE OF ULD SPARE PARTS FROM NORDISK ASIA PACIFIC
LIMITED BY DAS NORDISK

Background and general terms

On 17 September 2008, Nordisk Asia Pacific Limited and DAS Nordisk entered into
the Supplemental Sale and Purchase Master Agreement to supplement and amend
certain provisions of the Original Sale and Purchase Master Agreement for the purpose
of revising the annual caps for the financial years ending 31 December 2008 and 2009.

Revision of annual caps of the transaction

The total amounts payable by DAS Nordisk to the Nordisk Asia Pacific Group for
ULD spare parts for the financial years ended 31 December 2005, 2006 and 2007 were
approximately HK$4.5 million, HK$5.4 million and HK$5.8 million respectively.
Under the Original Sale and Purchase Master Agreement, the amounts payable by
DAS Nordisk to the Nordisk Asia Pacific Group for the financial years ending 3!
December 2008 and 2009 were originally subject to annual caps of HK$6.3 million and
HK$6.5 million respectively.

Pursuant to the Supplemental Sale and Purchase Master Agreement, the annual caps
for the financial years ending 31 December 2008 and 2009 are now expected to be
HK$16.0 million and HK$21.0 million respectively.

The above annual caps, being the expected maximum transaction amount, have been
determined with reference to historical transaction values with the Nordisk Asia
Pacific Group at market price, the expected increase in ULD maintenance volume,
particularly in view of the renewal of the transactions pursuant to the ULD
Maintenance Services Agreement, and the expected appreciation in Norway against
Hong Kong currency exchange rate that partly leads to increase in material costs.




The directors of DCH Holdings (including the independent non-executive directors of
DCH Holdings) consider that the above transactions and the revised annual caps are on
normal commercial terms, fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders
of DCH Holdings as a whole.

5. GENERAL

Based on the information from the HKExnews website, the principal business activity
of CX is the operation of scheduled airline services, airline catering, aircraft handling
and engineering.

The DCH Group is a diversified business conglomerate in motor vehicles sales, motor
vehicle related business and services, sales of food and consumer products, as well as
logistics services, supported by integrated distribution platforms and a well-established
base and network in the PRC, Hong Kong and Macao.

The CITIC Pacific Group is engaged in a diversified range of business, including
manufacturing of special steel, iron ore mining, property development and investment,
basic infrastructure (such as power generation, aviation, tunnels and communications)
and marketing and distribution.

6. LISTING RULES IMPLICATIONS FOR DCH HOLDINGS AND CITIC
PACIFIC

General

As DAS, DSL and DAS Nordisk are subsidiaries of DCH Holdings, and DCH
Holdings is a subsidiary of CITIC Pacific, which holds approximately 56.67% in the
issued share capital of DCH Holdings, DAS, DSL and DAS Nordisk are also
subsidiaries of CITIC Pacific.

Long-term maintenance services on ULD by DAS Nordisk to CX

KA is a substantial shareholder of certain subsidiaries of DCH Holdings and CITIC
Pacific, namely DAS and DSL. KA is therefore a connected person of DCH Holdings
and CITIC Pacific. As CX is the holding company of KA, CX is a connected person of
DCH Holdings and CITIC Pacific. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under
the ULD Maintenance Services Agreement constitute a continuing connected
transaction for DCH Holdings and CITIC Pacific under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

In respect of each of DCH Holdings and CITIC Pacific, since the applicable percentage
ratios calculated with reference to the above continuing connected transaction and the
annual caps are on an annual basis less than 2.5%, the above continuing connected
transaction is only subject to the reporting and announcement requirements, but is
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules.




Outsourcing of ULD maintenance services by DAS Nordisk to DAS

As mentioned above, KA is a connected person of DCH Holdings and CITIC Pacific.
As DAS is owned as to 30% by KA, it is an associate of KA and therefore a connected
person of DCH Holdings and CITIC Pacific. Accordingly, the transactions
contemplated under the Original Outsourcing Master Agreement and the Supplemental
Outsourcing Master Agreement constitute a continuing connected transaction for DCH
Holdings and CITIC Pacific under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

In respect of each of DCH Holdings and CITIC Pacific, since the applicable percentage
ratios calculated with reference to the above continuing connected transaction and the
annual caps are on an annual basis less than 2.5%, the above continuing connected
transaction is only subject to the reporting and announcement requirements, but is
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules.

Purchases of ULD spare parts from Nordisk Asia Pacific Limited by DAS Nordisk

NAP is a substantial shareholder of DAS Nordisk, which is a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of DCH Holdings and CITIC Pacific. As Nordisk Asia Pacific Limited is a

fellow subsidiary of NAP, it is a connected person of DCH Holdings and CITIC Pacific.

Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the Original Sale and Purchase
Master Agreement and the Supplemental Sale and Purchase Master Agreement
constitute a continuing connected transaction for DCH Holdings and CITIC Pacific
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

In respect of DCH Holdings, since the applicable percentage ratios calculated with
reference to the above continuing connected transaction and the revised annual caps
are on an annual basis less than 2.5%, the above continuing connected transaction is
only subject to the reporting and announcement requirements, but is exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval rcqunrements under the Listing Rules. In respect
of CITIC Pacific, since the applicable percentage ratios calculated with reference to the
above continuing connected transaction and the annual caps are on an annual basis less
than 0.1%, the above continuing connected transaction is exempt from the reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules.

7. DEFINITIONS

In this announcement, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms have
the following meanings:

“CITIC Pacific” CITIC Pacific Limited ((R{ER EBE/E]), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, the shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange;

“CITIC Pacific CITIC Pacific and its subsidiaries (including DCH Holdings),
Group” or, where the context so requires, any of them (as defined
under the Listing Rules),



“connected person”

“Cx”

“DAS”

“DAS Nordisk”

“DCH Group”

“DCH Holdings”

“DCH Prospectus”

(‘DSL”

SSH Ks”
“Hong Kong”

“l( Q ”»

“Listing Rules”

“NAP”

“Nordisk Asia
Pacific Group”

has the meaning given to it by the Listing Rules;

Cathay Pacific Airways Limited, a company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability, the shares of which are listed
on the Stock Exchange;

Dah Chong Hong — Dragonair Airport GSE Service Limited
RE - RSB ERRMIRIEFIRAF, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and 1s a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of both DCH Holdings and
CITIC Pacific;

DAS Nordisk Limited X B - BRERHEHHEERAHA , a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and
is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of both DCH Holdings and
CITIC Pacific;

DCH Holdings and its subsidiaries, or, where the context so
requires, any of them (as defined under the Listing Rules);

Dah Chong Hong Holdings Limited X 2{THEHERAHE, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, the
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, and is a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of CITIC Pacific;

the prospectus of DCH Holdings dated 4 October 2007;

DAS Aviation Support Limited X B — #5E0iM IREFRA
|, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability and is a non-wholly subsidiary of both DCH Holdings
and CITIC Pacific;

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong;
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC;

Hong Kong Dragon Airlines Limited #FEMZEHENF], a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability;

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange;

Nordisk Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd., a company incorporated in
Singapore with limited liability;

Nordisk Asta Pacific Limited, its subsidiaries, associates and
holding companies (including NAP);




“QOriginal
Outsourcing Master
Agreement”

“Original Sale and
Purchase Master
Agreement”

“percentage ratio(s)”
‘iPRC”
“Stock Exchange”

“substantial
shareholder”

“Supplemental
QOutsourcing Master
Agreement”

“Supplemental Sale

and Purchase
Master Agreement”

“U LD?’

“ULD Maintenance
Services Agreement”

the outsourcing master agreement dated 28 September 2007
entered into between DAS Nordisk and DAS, the details of
which are particularly set out in the section headed “Connected
Transactions — A. Non-exempt continuing connected
transactions — 4. Qutsourcing of ULD maintenance services by
DAS Nordisk to DAS” in the DCH Prospectus;

the sale and purchase master agreement dated 24 September
2007 entered into between Nordisk Asia Pacific Limited and
DAS Nordisk, the details of which are particularly set out in
the section headed “Connected Transactions — A. Non-exempt
continuing connected transactions — 5. Purchase of ULD spare
parts from Nordisk Asia Pacific Ltd. by DAS Nordisk” in the
DCH Prospectus;

has the meaning given to it by the Listing Rules;

the People’s Republic of China;

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited;

has the meaning given to it by the Listing Rules;

the supplemental agreement to the Original Outsourcing
Master Agreement dated 17 September 2008 entered into
between DAS Nordisk and DAS;

the supplemental agreement to the Original Sale and Purchase
Master Agreement dated 17 September 2008 entered into

between Nordisk Asia Pacific Limited and DAS Nordisk;

unit load device, which includes all unit load device types
currently being operated by CX;

the ULD maintenance and repair services agreement dated 17
September 2008 entered into between CX and DAS Nordisk
under which, among other things, CX agreed to appoint DAS
Nordisk to provide ULD maintenance and repair services; and

“%” per cent.
By order of the board By order of the board
Dah Chong Hong Holdings Limited CITIC Pacific Limited
Tso Mun Wai Stella Chan Chui Sheung
Company Secretary Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 17 September 2008




As at the date of this announcement, the directors of DCH Holdings are:

Executive directors:  Hui Ying Bun (Chairman), Chu Hon Fai, Yip Moon Tong, Mak
Kwing Tim, Lau Sei Keung, Tsoi Tai Kwan, Arthur and Glenn Robert
Sturrock Smith

Non-executive directors:  Ho Hau Hay, Hamilton, Chau Chi Yin, Chan Chui Sheung, Stella
and Kwok Man Leung

Independent non-executive directors:  Cheung Kin Piu, Valiant, Hsu Hsung, Adolf and
Yeung Yue Man

As at the date of this announcement, the directors of CITIC Pacific are:

Executive directors:  Larry Yung Chi Kin (Chairman), Henry Fan Hung Ling, Peter Lee
Chung Hing, Carl Yung Ming Jie, Leslie Chang Li Hsien, Vernon
Francis Moore, Li Shilin, Liu Jifu, Chau Chi Yin, Milton Law Ming
To, Wang Ande and Kwok Man Leung

Non-executive directors:  Willie Chang, André Desmarais, Chang Zhenming and Peter
Kruyt (alternate director to André Desmarais)

Independent non-executive directors:  Hamilton Ho Hau Hay, Alexander Reid Hamilton,
Hansen Loh Chung Hon and Norman Ho Hau
Chong
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